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This Form 10‐K may contain certain forward‐looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securi es Li ga on Reform Act of 1995. For this purpose, any statements
contained in this Form 10‐K that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward‐looking statements. Without limi ng the foregoing, words such as
“may”, “could”, “should”, “will”, “expect”, “believe”, “an cipate”, “es mate” or “con nue” or comparable terminology is intended to iden fy forward‐looking statements. It
is important to note that actual results could diﬀer materially from those an cipated from the forward‐looking statements depending on various important factors. These
important factors include our history of losses, our ability to con nue as a going concern, adverse changes in regulatory requirements related to the marke ng and use of
our products, the uncertainty of acceptance of current and new products in our markets, compe on in our markets and other factors discussed in our “Risk Factors” found
in Part I, Item 1A.
foreign manufactured products. The Rapid TOX Cup II 2G can detect the presence or
absence of 1 to 16 drugs simultaneously.
Private Label Products
We do provide a private labeled version of Rapid TOX to unaﬃliated third par es for
sale outside of the United States. As of December 31, 2018, sales of these products
were not material.
Products for the Detec on of Drugs in Oral Fluid:
We manufacture drug tests that detect the presence or absence of drugs in oral fluids.
These products are easy to use and provide test results within minutes with enhanced
sensi vity and detec on. As of the date of this report, our oral fluid drug tests are
marketed “for forensic use only”. We intend to oﬀer oral fluid drug tests for
“Employment Use Only” as a result of U.S. Food and Drug Administra on (“FDA”)
drug test exemp ons issued in July 2017; provided our consent decree is vacated (see
“Government Regula ons” for informa on on the regula ons related to the sale of
our drug tests). We currently oﬀer the following oral fluid drug tests:
OralStat®: OralStat is a patented and patent pending, innova ve drug test for the
detec on of drugs in oral fluids. Each OralStat simultaneously tests for 6 or 10 drugs in
an oral fluid specimen.
Private Label Products
We do provide a private labeled version of our OralStat product to unaﬃliated third
par es for sale outside of the United States. As of December 31, 2018, sales of these
products were not material.
Other Products
We distribute a number of other products related to the detec on of substances of
abuse. We do not manufacture these products. We do not derive a significant por on
of our revenues from the sale of these products.
Contract Manufacturing
We provide bulk test strip contract manufacturing services to non‐aﬃliated diagnos c
companies. In the year ended December 31, 2018 (“Fiscal 2018”), we manufactured a
test for the detec on of RSV (Respiratory Syncy al Virus; the most common cause of
lower respiratory tract infec ons in children worldwide) and a test to detect fetal
amnio c membrane rupture. Fiscal 2018 and the year ended December 31, 2017
(“Fiscal 2017”) only include minimal sales of the fetal amnio c rupture product as the
customer began manufacturing their own product in the early part of Fiscal 2018.
Our Markets
Rehabilita on/Drug Treatment
The Rehabilita on/Drug Treatment market includes people in both inpa ent and
outpa ent treatment for substance abuse. Drug tes ng is a posi ve aspect of
treatment as it aids in relapse preven on and encourages honesty both within the
pa ent and with outside interac ons. In addi on, being able to accurately gauge the
current drug use by pa ents enrolled in a substance abuse program is essen al so,
urine drug tes ng is an integral part of treatment programs, including physician oﬃce‐
based programs. There is typically a high frequency of tes ng in this market. We
currently sell our urine drug tests in this market primarily through our direct sales force
and also through a number of distributors.
Pain Management
Drug tes ng in pain management is one of the major tools of adherence monitoring in
the assessment of a pa ent’s predisposi on to, and pa erns of, misuse/abuse; a vital
first step towards establishing and maintaining the safe and eﬀec ve use of drugs in
the treatment of chronic pain. There are many benefits of using an ABMC drug test;
these include reducing the risk for toxicity in pa ents vulnerable to adverse drug
eﬀects, detec ng pa ent non‐compliance, reducing the risk of therapeu c failure, and
avoiding or detec ng drug‐drug interac on. Addi onally, drug tes ng enhances the
physician’s ability to use drugs eﬀec vely and minimize costs.

PART I
ITEM 1. OUR BUSINESS
Form and Year of Organiza on
American Bio Medica Corpora on (the “Company”) was incorporated on April 2, 1986
under the laws of the State of New York under the name American Micro Media, Inc.
On September 9, 1992, we filed an amendment to our Ar cles of Incorpora on and
changed our name to American Bio Medica Corpora on.
Our Business
We manufacture and sell lateral flow immunoassay tests, primarily for the immediate
detec on of drugs in urine and oral fluid. Our products are accurate, self‐contained,
cost‐eﬀec ve, user‐friendly products that are capable of accurately iden fying the
presence or absence of drugs in a sample within minutes. The products we
manufacture are made 100% in in the United States while our compe tors
manufacture their products outside the United States, primarily in China.
In addi on to the manufacture and sale of drug tes ng products, we provide bulk test
strip manufacturing services to unaﬃliated third par es on a contract basis and, we
manufacture a diagnos c product that is sold under a private label by an unaﬃliated
third party. We do not currently derive a significant por on of our revenues from the
manufacture of these addi onal products.
We also sell (via distribu on) a number of other products related to the immediate
detec on of drugs in urine and oral fluid as well as oﬀering other point of care
diagnos c products via distribu on. We do not currently derive a significant por on
of our revenues from these addi onal products.
Our Products
Products for the Detec on of Drugs in Urine
We manufacture a number of products that detect the presence or absence of drugs
in urine. We oﬀer a number of standard configura ons, custom configura ons on
special order, and diﬀerent cut‐oﬀ levels for certain drugs. Cut‐oﬀ levels are
concentra ons of drugs or metabolites that must be present in urine (or oral fluid)
specimens before a posi ve result will be obtained. Our urine drugs tests are either
510(k) cleared, CLIA Waived and/or OTC cleared (see “Government Regula ons” for
informa on on the regula ons related to the sale of our drug tests). We manufacture
the following product lines:
Rapid Drug Screen® The Rapid Drug Screen, or RDS®, is a patented rapid drug test that
detects the presence or absence of 2 to 10 drugs simultaneously in a single urine
specimen. The RDS is available as a card only, or as part of a kit that includes a
patented collec on cup.
RDS InCup®: The patented RDS InCup is a drug‐tes ng cup that detects the presence
or absence of 1 to 12 drugs in a urine specimen. The RDS InCup incorporates
collec on and tes ng of a urine sample in a single step. Each RDS InCup product
contains mul ple channels, and each channel contains a single drug‐tes ng strip that
contains the chemistry to detect a single drug.
Rapid TOX®: Rapid TOX is a cost‐eﬀec ve drug test in a casse e pla orm that
simultaneously detects the presence or absence of 2 to 10 drugs in a urine specimen.
Each Rapid TOX contains one or two channels, and each channel contains a single
drug‐tes ng strip that contains the chemistry to detect 1‐5 drugs.
Rapid TOX Cup® II: The patented Rapid TOX Cup II is another drug tes ng cup that
detects the presence or absence of 1 to 14 drugs in a urine specimen. The Rapid TOX
Cup II also incorporates collec on and tes ng of the urine sample in a single step. Each
Rapid TOX Cup II contains mul ple channels and each channel contains a single drug‐
tes ng strip that contains the chemistry to detect more than one drug.
Rapid TOX Cup II (2G): The patented Rapid TOX Cup II; second genera on or Rapid
TOX Cup II (2G), consists of a smaller cup with smaller test strips. This smaller version
results in lower material costs and allows us to be more cost compe ve against
1
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most cases the assembly of the product is done outside of the Unites States; usually in
China. Products manufactured outside of the United States are generally
manufactured outside of the requirements of quality system regula ons set forth by
FDA. In our opinion, this results in inferior, sub‐par products being oﬀered in the
market. Most of our markets require accurate detec on near the cut‐oﬀ level of the
test. Our products are manufactured to detect drug use closer to the cut‐oﬀ level of
the test. The majority of the drug tests on the market today are less “aggressive”;
meaning they are not as sensi ve and they will miss posi ve results. Missing posi ve
results can be extremely troublesome to customers from both an economic and
liability perspec ve; and in the clinical market, missing posi ves can be a threat to the
health of the individuals being tested. We do oﬀer products manufactured outside of
the United States via distribu on rela onships to those customers that do not require
accuracy near or at the cutoﬀ level in their drug tes ng programs.
Customer and technical support: Our customers o en need guidance and assistance
with certain issues, including but not limited to, test administra on, drug cross
reac vity and drug metabolism. We provide our customers with con nuous customer
and technical support on a 24/7/365 basis; staﬀed by our employees. We believe that
this support gives us a compe ve advantage since our compe tors do not oﬀer this
“employee staﬀed” extended service to their customers.
Raw Materials and Suppliers
The primary raw materials required for the manufacture of our test strips and our drug
tests consist of an bodies, an gens and other reagents, plas c molded pieces,
membranes and packaging materials. We maintain an inventory of raw materials.
Currently, most raw materials are available from several sources. We own the molds
and tooling for our plas c components that are custom and proprietary. The
ownership of these molds aﬀords us flexibility and control in managing the supply
chain for these components. We do not own the molds and tooling for plas c
components that are “stock” items.
Major Customers
One of our customers accounted for 44% of net sales in Fiscal 2018. In Fiscal 2017, two
of our customers accounted for 35.1% and 14.6% of net sales. The loss of an account in
the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2017 is the reason why there is only one major customer in
Fiscal 2018. The account lost in Fiscal 2017 is a subject of li ga on we ini ated against
a former Vice President, Sales & Marke ng/Sales Consultant (See Note D – Li ga on/
Legal Ma ers).
Patents and Trademarks/Licenses
As of December 31, 2018, we held 27 patents related to our point of collec on drug‐
tes ng products, including 13 patents issued in the United States. As of December 31,
2018, we have 5 foreign patent applica on pending. We are incurring fees related to
these patent applica ons that will be capitalized over the term of the patents.
As of December 31, 2018, we have 15 trademarks registered in the United States and,
10 trademarks registered in countries/regions such as Canada, Mexico, and the United
Kingdom.
Government Regula ons
In certain markets, the development, tes ng, manufacture and sale of our drug tests,
and possible addi onal tes ng products for other substances or condi ons, are subject
to regula on by the United States and foreign regulatory agencies. Pursuant to the
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosme c Act, and associated regula ons, the FDA regulates
the pre‐clinical and clinical tes ng, manufacture, labeling, distribu on and promo on
of medical devices. When a product is a medical device, a 510(k) marke ng applica on
must be submi ed to the FDA. A 510(k) is a premarke ng submission made to the
FDA to demonstrate that the device to be marketed is safe and eﬀec ve. Applicants
must compare their 510(k) device to one or more similar devices currently being
marketed in the United States. Most of our urine‐based products are marketed and
sold in the Clinical market (in addi on to other markets) and therefore, we have
obtained 510(k) marke ng clearance, CLIA waiver (see below) and/or Over‐The‐
Counter (OTC) marke ng clearance on our urine based products. Our oral fluid
products are not 510(k) cleared; however, we market and sell these products to the
forensic market and for export outside the United States.
In July 2017, the FDA issued a limited exemp on for certain drugs of abuse tests. More
specifically, the exemp on allows certain drug tests to be sold for the intended use in
the workplace and insurance market without requiring a 510(k) marke ng clearance.

We currently sell our urine drug tests in this market primarily through our direct sales
force and also through a number of distributors.
Other Clinical
Other Clinical markets include emergency rooms/hospitals, family physician oﬃces
and laboratories. There are a number of medical emergencies associated with adverse
reac ons, accidental drug inges ons, and misuse or abuse of prescrip on drugs and
over‐the‐counter medica ons. To address this issue, drug tes ng is performed so
healthcare professionals are able to ascertain the drug status of a pa ent before they
administer pharmaceu cals or other treatment. We currently sell our urine drug tests
in this market primarily through our direct sales force and also through a number of
distributors. We also have a long‐term rela onship with one of the world’s largest
clinical laboratories.
Government (including law enforcement and criminal jus ce)
The Government market includes federal, state, county and local agencies, including
police departments, adult and juvenile correc onal facili es, pretrial agencies,
proba on, drug courts and parole departments at the federal and state levels. A
significant number of individuals on parole or proba on, or within federal, state,
county and local correc onal facili es and jails, have one or more condi ons to their
sentence, including but not limited to, periodic drug‐tes ng and substance abuse
treatment. We sell our products in this market through our direct sales force.
Employment/Workplace
The Workplace market consists of pre‐employment tes ng of job applicants, as well as
random, cause and post‐accident tes ng of employees. Many employers recognize
the financial and safety benefits of implemen ng drug‐free workplace programs, of
which drug tes ng is an integral part. In some states, there are workers’ compensa on
and unemployment insurance premium reduc ons, tax deduc ons and other
incen ves for adop ng these programs. We sell our products in this market through
our direct sales force and through a select network of distributors.
Interna onal
The Interna onal market consists of various markets outside of the United States.
Although workplace tes ng is not as prevalent outside of the United States as within,
the interna onal Government and Clinical markets are somewhat in concert with their
United States counterparts. One market that is significantly more prevalent outside of
the United States is roadside drug tes ng. We sell in this market through a select
network of distributors.
Our Distribu on Method
We have a two‐pronged distribu on strategy that focuses on growing our business
through direct sales and distributors. Our direct sales team consists of our Vice
President of Sales & Marke ng, Director of La n America Sales, Regional Sales
Managers, sales consultants and Inside Sales Representa ves (collec vely our “Direct
Sales Team”); all of which are trained professionals that are experienced in sales of
drug tes ng products. Our distributors are unaﬃliated en es that resell our drug‐
tes ng products either as stand‐alone products or as part of a service they provide to
their customers.
Our Direct Sales Team and network of distributors sell our products to the
Rehabilita on/Drug Treatment, Pain Management, Other Clinical, Government and
Employment/Workplace markets, and we sell through a network of distributors in the
Interna onal market.
We promote our products through direct mail campaigns, selected adver sing,
par cipa on at high profile trade shows and other marke ng ac vi es.
Compe on
We compete on the following factors:
Pricing: The pricing structure in our markets is highly compe ve. We oﬀer the only
drug tes ng products that contain tes ng strips that are 100% manufactured in the US
and that is 100% assembled in the United States. Price pressure is the greatest when
comparing our pricing with pricing of products manufactured outside of the United
States.
Quality: We manufacture, assemble and package our products completely in the
United States in accordance with quality system regula ons set forth by FDA; this
includes the manufacturing of our drug test strips. Many companies in our industry
claim their products are manufactured in the United States when in fact; their
products are only assembled or packaged in the Unites States. The tes ng strips and in
2
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It is our understanding that only drug assays (tests) that have been previously cleared
are allowed to be sold in the workplace and insurance markets under this limited
exemp on. We currently have a consent decree in place with FDA related to the
marke ng and sale of oral fluid drug tests in the workplace market. This consent
decree must be li ed (or vacated) before we may commence oral fluid drug test sales
in the workplace and insurance markets (even though other companies have already
commenced sales of uncleared oral fluid drug tests in the workplace market). We are
currently in the process of working with FDA towards ge ng the consent decree
vacated.
In order to sell our products in Canada, we must comply with ISO 13485:2003, the
Interna onal Standards Organiza on’s Direc ve for Quality Systems for Medical
Devices (MDD or Medical Device Direc ve), and in order to sell our products in the
European Union, we must obtain CE marking for our products (in the European Union,
a “CE” mark is aﬃxed to the product for easy iden fica on of quality products).
Collec vely, these standards are similar to FDA regula ons, and are a reasonable
assurance to the customer that our products are manufactured in a consistent manner
to help ensure that quality defect‐free goods are produced. As of the date of this
report, we have received approval and the right to bear the CE mark on our Rapid
Drug Screen, Rapid ONE, Rapid TOX, RDS InCup, Rapid TOX Cup II, Rapid Reader and
OralStat. We are currently cer fied to I.S. EN ISO 13485:2016 with an expira on date
of July 31, 2021. We have also obtained the license to sell our RDS, Rapid ONE and
Rapid TOX products in Canada through July 31, 2019. As of the date of this report, we
do not expect to renew our applica on due to changes in the regulatory requirements
to sell our product in Canada and the cost associated with the same given the minimal
sales we have in Canada.
The Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments (CLIA) of 1988 established quality
standards for laboratory tes ng to ensure the accuracy, reliability and meliness of
pa ent test results regardless of where the test was performed. As a result, those
using CLIA waived tests are not subject to the more stringent and expensive
requirements of moderate or high complexity laboratories. We have received CLIA
waiver from the FDA related to our Rapid TOX product line and OTC clearance on our
Rapid TOX Cup II (2G) product line (The OTC clearance of the Rapid TOX Cup II product
line means they are CLIA waived products).
Due to the nature of the manufacturing of our drug tests, the products we oﬀer
through contract manufacturing and the raw materials used for both, we do not incur
any material costs associated with compliance with environmental laws, nor do we
experience any material eﬀects of compliance with environmental laws.
Research and Development (“R&D”)
Our R&D eﬀorts are con nually focused on enhancing and/or maintaining the
performance and reliability of our drug‐tes ng products, developing new product
pla orms and exploring new drug assays to oﬀer to our customers, as well as
performing development work related to contract manufacturing projects. Included in
R&D expense are FDA compliance costs or costs associated with regulatory eﬀorts
taken related to the marke ng of our products.
Our R&D expenditures were $93,000 in Fiscal 2018 and $117,000 in Fiscal 2017. None
of the costs incurred in R&D in Fiscal 2018 or Fiscal 2017 were borne by a customer.
Manufacturing and Employees
Our facility in Kinderhook, New York houses assembly and packaging of the products
we manufacture (including the products we supply on a contract manufacturing basis
and the product we supply to a third party who markets the products under their own
private label). Our warehouse, shipping department and administra ve oﬃces are
also within our New York facility.
In our Logan Township, New Jersey facility, we manufacture our drug test strips and
test strips for unaﬃliated third par es. We also perform research and development in
our New Jersey facility.
Unaﬃliated third par es manufacture the adultera on, alcohol and certain forensic
drug tes ng products we oﬀer. We con nue to primarily outsource the prin ng of the
plas c components used in our products, and we outsource the manufacture of the
plas c components used in our products.
As of December 31, 2018, we had 43 employees, of which 41 were full‐ me and 2
were part‐ me. None of our employees are covered by collec ve bargaining

agreements.
Item 1A. Risk FACTORS
The drug tes ng market is highly compe ve.
The market for drug tests used at the point of collec on is highly compe ve. Several
companies produce drug tests that compete directly with our drug test product lines;
these companies manufacture their products outside of the United States at a much
lower cost. Some of our compe tors have greater financial resources, allowing them
to devote substan ally more resources to business and product development and
marke ng eﬀorts. Our inability to successfully address any compe ve risk factors
could nega vely impact sales and our ability to achieve profitability.
Any adverse changes in our regulatory framework could nega vely impact our
business, and costs to obtain regulatory clearance are material.
Although we are unaware of any recent or upcoming changes in regulatory standards
related to the marke ng of our products, recent history supports that change in
regulatory requirements could nega vely impact our business. We became unable to
sell our oral fluid products in the Employment/Workplace market in November 2013
as a result of FDA’s change in posi on regarding Employment/Workplace drug tes ng.
Prior to this regulatory change, we typically had annual sales of $2,000,000 of oral fluid
sales in the Employment/Workplace market. In July 2017, there was another change
in marke ng regula ons. The FDA issued a limited exemp on that would allow
companies to sell certain drug tests in the Employment/Workplace market (see
“Government Regula ons”). While this change could be determined to have a posi ve
impact on our sales (as it reopens a market for ABMC), due to our consent decree with
FDA, we are unable to take advantage of the limited FDA exemp on un l such me
that we are able to get our consent decree with FDA vacated (even though other
companies are, and have been, selling oral fluids drug tests under the limited
exemp on for some me now). This lack of ability to take advantage of the limited
exemp on has nega vely impacted our ability to regain sales of oral fluid drug tests.
In addi on to the sales and marke ng restric ons regulatory changes can cause, the
cost of filing 510(k) marke ng clearances is material. Therefore, these costs can have a
nega ve impact on eﬀorts to improve our financial performance. If regulatory
standards change in the future, there can be no assurance that we will receive
marke ng clearances from FDA, if and when we apply for them.
We rely on intellectual property rights and contractual non‐disclosure obliga ons to
protect our proprietary informa on (including customer informa on). These rights
and obliga ons may not adequately protect our proprietary informa on, and an
inability to protect our proprietary informa on can harm our business.
We rely on confiden ality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our
confiden al and proprietary informa on. Confiden al and proprietary informa on
(such as components and product cos ng, customer pricing structures, customer
informa on, vendor informa on, internal financial informa on, produc on processes,
new product developments, product enhancements and other material, non‐public
informa on) is protected under non‐disclosure agreements with our personnel and
consultants. If these individuals do not comply with their obliga ons under these
agreements, we may be required to incur significant costs to protect our confiden al
informa on and the use of this informa on by the breaching individual may cause
harm to our business. In February 2017, we filed a complaint against Todd Bailey (a
former Vice President, Sales & Marke ng/Consultant of the Company) along with his
company Premier Biotech, Inc. (“Premier Biotech”), (among others), related to the use
of our confiden al and proprietary informa on to circumvent and interfere with our
ability to respond to a Request for Proposal (RFP) from a long‐standing ABMC
customer. This interference resulted in the customer awarding the contract to Premier
Biotech and their vendor thereby causing harm to our business. We did incur
increased legal fees in Fiscal 2018 and Fiscal 2017 as a result of this li ga on. This
li ga on is ongoing as of the date of this report. (See Item 3; Legal Proceedings)
We rely on a combina on of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws.
Despite our eﬀorts to protect our intellectual property rights, unauthorized par es
may a empt to copy aspects of our products, dilute our trademarks, or otherwise
infringe upon our rights. We may be required to incur significant costs to protect our
intellectual property right under laws of the United States Patent and Trademark
Oﬃce. In addi on, the laws of some foreign countries do not ensure that our means of
protec ng our proprietary rights in the United States or abroad will be adequate.
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Policing and enforcement against the unauthorized use of our intellectual property
and other confiden al proprietary informa on could entail significant expenses and
could prove diﬃcult or impossible. Such significant expenditures could have a material
adverse eﬀect on our results of opera ons.
One of our customers accounted for more than 10% of our total net sales in Fiscal
2018.
One of our customers accounted for 44% of our net sales in Fiscal 2018 and in Fiscal
2017 this same customer accounted for 35.1% of net sales. In Fiscal 2017, another
customer accounted for 14.6% of our net sales. This customer (a state agency) ceased
purchasing from us on October 1, 2017 and they were historically 10‐15% of our
annual net sales. The full impact of this loss was evident in Fiscal 2018. This customer is
the subject of a lawsuit that we filed in February 2017 against our former Vice
President, Sales & Marke ng/Consultant Todd Bailey (see Item 3; Legal Proceedings).
With the loss of the state agency contract, the other customer has become a greater
percentage of our total sales. We have not yet garnered enough new sales to oﬀset
this lost account. We currently have a contract in place with the other long‐standing
customer that does not expire in the near future. However, there can be no assurance
that this customer, or any of our current customers will con nue to place orders, or
that orders by exis ng customers will con nue at current or historical levels.
We depend on key personnel to manage our business eﬀec vely.
We are dependent on the exper se and experience of senior management for our
future success. The loss of senior management personnel could nega vely impact our
business and results of opera ons. Melissa A. Waterhouse serves as our sole execu ve
oﬃcer. She serves as Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer and Principal Financial Oﬃcer. We have
an employment agreement in place with Ms. Waterhouse, but there can be no
assurance that Ms. Waterhouse will con nue her employment. The loss of Ms.
Waterhouse could disrupt the business and have a nega ve impact on business
results. We also have a number of other individuals in senior management posi ons.
There can be no assurance that they too will con nue their employment. We do not
currently maintain key man insurance on Ms. Waterhouse.
We rely on third par es for raw materials used in our drug test products and in our
bulk test strip contract manufacturing processes.
We currently have approximately 36 suppliers that provide us with the raw materials
necessary to manufacture our drug‐tes ng strips, our drug test kits and the products
we supply third par es on a contract manufacturing basis. For most of our raw
materials, we have mul ple suppliers, but there are a few raw materials for which we
only have one supplier. The loss of one or more of these suppliers, the non‐
performance of one or more of their materials or the lack of availability of raw
materials could suspend our manufacturing process. This interrup on of the
manufacturing process could impair our ability to fill customers’ orders as they are
placed, pu ng us at a compe ve disadvantage.
We have a significant amount of raw material and “work in process” inventory on
hand that may not be used in the year ended December 31, 2019 if the expected
configura on of sales orders is not received at projected levels.
We had approximately $778,000 in raw material components for the manufacture of
our products at December 31, 2018. The non‐chemical raw material components may
be retained and used in produc on indefinitely and the chemical raw materials
components have lives in excess of 20 years. In addi on to the raw material inventory,
we had approximately $184,000 in “work in process” (manufactured tes ng strips)
inventory at December 31, 2018. The components for much of this “work in process”
inventory have lives of 12‐36 months. If sales orders received are not for products that
would u lize the raw material components, or if product developments make the raw
materials obsolete, we may be required to dispose of these unused raw materials. In
addi on, since the components for much of the “work in process” inventory have lives
of 12‐36 months, if sales orders within the next 12‐36 months are not for products that
contain the components of the “work in process” inventory, we may need to discard
this expired “work in process” inventory. We have established an allowance for
obsolete or slow moving inventory. At December 31, 2018, this allowance was
$268,000. There can be no assurance that this allowance will con nue to be adequate
for the year ending December 31, 2019 and/or that it will not have to be adjusted in
the future.

Inability to meet our opera ng plans could have a material adverse eﬀect on our
future performance.
If events and circumstances occur such that we do not meet our current opera ng
plans, if we are unable to raise suﬃcient addi onal equity or debt financing, or our
credit facili es are insuﬃcient or not available, we may be required to further reduce
expenses or take other steps which could have a material adverse eﬀect on our future
performance.
We incur costs as a result of opera ng as a public company, and our management
will be required to devote substan al me to compliance ini a ves.
We incur legal, accoun ng and other expenses as a result of our required compliance
with certain regula ons implemented by the United States Securi es and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”). Our execu ve management and other personnel devote a
substan al amount of me to these compliance requirements, including but not
limited to compliance with the Sarbanes‐Oxley Act of 2002 that requires, among other
things, that we maintain eﬀec ve internal controls over financial repor ng and
disclosure controls and procedures. Our management is required to perform system
and process evalua on and tes ng of the eﬀec veness of our internal controls over
financial repor ng, as required by Sec on 404(a) of the Sarbanes‐Oxley Act (as a
smaller repor ng company, we are exempt from the requirements of Sec on 404(b)
of the Sarbanes‐Oxley Act requiring auditor’s a esta on related to internal controls
over financial repor ng). If we are not able to comply with the requirements of Sec on
404(a), if we iden fy deficiencies in our internal controls over financial repor ng, or if
we are unable to comply with any other SEC regula ons or requirements, the market
price of our common shares could decline, and we could be subject to sanc ons or
inves ga ons by the SEC or other regulatory authori es, which would require
addi onal financial and management resources.
Inability to comply with financial covenants under our current line of credit facility
and an inability to comply with our debt obliga ons could result in our creditors
declaring all amounts owed to them due and payable with immediate eﬀect, or
result in the collec on of collateral by the creditor; both of which would have an
adverse material impact on our business and our ability to con nue opera ons.
We have a credit facility with Crestmark Bank consis ng of revolving line of credit (the
“Crestmark LOC”). The Crestmark LOC is secured by a first security interest in all of our
receivables and inventory and security interest in all other assets of the Company (in
accordance with permi ed prior encumbrances), (together the “Collateral”). So long
as any obliga ons are due to Crestmark, the Company must comply with a minimum
Tangible Net Worth (“TNW”) Covenant of $150,000 at December 31, 2018. If a
quarterly net income is reported, the TNW covenant increases by 50% of the reported
net income. If a quarterly net loss is reported, the TNW covenant remains the same as
the prior quarter’s covenant amount. TNW is defined as: Total Assets less Total
Liabili es less the sum of (i) the aggregate amount of non‐trade accounts receivables,
including accounts receivables from aﬃliated or related persons, (ii) prepaid expenses,
(iii) deposits, (iv) net lease hold improvements, (v) goodwill and (vi) any other asset that
would be treated as an intangible asset under GAAP; plus Subordinated Debt.
Subordinated Debt means any and all indebtedness presently or in the future incurred
by the Company to any creditor of the Company entering into a wri en subordina on
agreement with Crestmark. The Company has not complied with the TNW covenant
since the year ended December 31, 2017 and, most recently has not complied with
the TNW covenant for December 31, 2018. The Company has received a waiver from
Crestmark related to its non‐compliance with the TNW covenant.
In addi on to the Crestmark LOC, we have a loan and security agreement with
Cherokee Financial, LLC. (“Cherokee”) which is secured by a first security interest in our
real estate and machinery and equipment. In addi on to general economic, financial,
compe ve, regulatory, business and other factors beyond our control, our ability to
make payments to Cherokee Financial, LLC will depend primarily upon our future
opera ng performance; which was nega vely impacted in Fiscal 2018 by the loss of a
material contract in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2017. In February 2019, we entered
into a new loan facility with Cherokee in the amount of $200,000 to pay oﬀ a loan with
Cherokee from February 2018 in the amount of $150,000 and provide the Company
with $50,000 in gross proceeds; $48,000 in net proceeds a er Cherokee’s legal fees in
connec on with the financing. We used the net proceeds to pay a por on of the
$75,000 principal reduc on payment under our Mortgage Loan with Cherokee (with
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currently have 2,000,000 warrants issued and outstanding.
If outstanding stock op ons and warrants are exercised, the common shares issued
will be freely tradable, increasing the total number of common shares issued and
outstanding. As of the date of this report, our average daily trading volume is minimal
(i.e. our stock is thinly traded). If these shares are oﬀered for sale in the public market,
the sales could adversely aﬀect the prevailing market price by lowering the bid price of
our securi es. The exercise of any of these stock op ons and warrants could also
materially impair our ability to raise capital through the future sale of equity securi es
because issuance of the common shares underlying the stock op ons and warrants
would cause further dilu on of our securi es. In addi on, in the event of any change in
the outstanding shares of our common stock by reason of any recapitaliza on, stock
split, reverse stock split, stock dividend, reorganiza on consolida on, combina on or
exchange of shares, merger or any other changes in our corporate or capital structure
or our common shares, the number and class of shares covered by the stock op ons
and/or the exercise price of the stock op ons may be adjusted as set forth in their
plans.
Substan al resale of restricted securi es may depress the market price of our
securi es.
There are 9,478,001 common shares presently issued and outstanding as of the date
hereof that are “restricted securi es” as that term is defined under the Securi es Act
of 1933, as amended, (the “Securi es Act”). These securi es may be sold in
compliance with Rule 144 of the Securi es Act (“Rule 144”), or pursuant to a
registra on statement filed under the Securi es Act. Rule 144 addresses sales of
restricted securi es by aﬃliates and non‐aﬃliates of an issuer. An “aﬃliate” is a
person, such as an oﬃcer, director or large shareholder, in a rela onship of control
with the issuer. “Control” means the power to direct the management and policies of
the company in ques on, whether through the ownership of vo ng securi es, by
contract, or otherwise. If someone buys securi es from a controlling person or an
aﬃliate, they take restricted securi es, even if they were not restricted in the aﬃliate's
hands.
A person who is not an aﬃliate of the issuer (and who has not been for at least three
months) and has held the restricted securi es for at least one year can sell the
securi es without regard to restric ons. If the non‐aﬃliate had held the securi es for
at least six months but less than one year, the securi es may be sold by the
non‐aﬃliate as long as the current public informa on condi on has been met (i.e. that
the issuer has complied with the repor ng requirements of the Securi es Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)).
We are subject to repor ng requirements of the Exchange Act. Under Rule 144, if a
holder of securi es is an aﬃliate of an issuer subject to Exchange Act repor ng
requirements, the securi es must be held for at least six months. In addi on, the
number of equity securi es sold during any three‐month period cannot exceed 1% of
the outstanding shares of the same class being sold. The securi es must be sold in
unsolicited, rou ne trading transac ons and brokers may not receive more than
normal commission. Aﬃliates must also file a no ce with the SEC on Form 144 if a sale
involves more than 5,000 shares or the aggregate dollar amount is greater than
$50,000 in any three‐month period. The sale must take place within three months of
filing the Form 144 and, if the securi es have not been sold, an amended no ce must
be filed. Investors should be aware that sales under Rule 144 or pursuant to a
registra on statement filed under the Securi es Act might depress the market price of
our securi es in any market for such shares.
Our securi es are currently trading on the OTC Markets Group (under their OTC
Pink® Open Market), and are subject to SEC “penny stock,” rules, which could make
it more diﬃcult for a broker‐dealer to trade our common shares, for an investor to
acquire or dispose of our common shares in the secondary market and for us to
retain or a ract market makers.
The SEC has adopted regula ons that define a “penny stock” to be any equity security
that has a market price per share of less than $5.00, subject to certain excep ons, such
as any securi es listed on a na onal securi es exchange or securi es of an issuer in
con nuous opera on for more than three years whose net tangible assets are in
excess of $2 million, or an issuer that has average revenue of at least $6 million for the
last three years. Our common shares are currently trading on the OTC Markets Group.,
under their OTC Pink Open Market. As of Fiscal 2018, our net tangible assets did not

the remaining $27,000 being paid with cash on hand). See Note J – Subsequent Event.
A failure to comply with the Crestmark LOC TNW covenant (that is not waived by
Crestmark Bank) and/or repay any of our debt obliga ons could result in an event of
default, which, if not cured or waived, could result in the Company being required to
pay much higher costs associated with the indebtedness and/or enable our creditors
to declare all amounts owed to them due and payable with immediate eﬀect. If we
are forced to refinance our debt on less favorable terms, our results of opera ons and
financial condi on could be adversely aﬀected by increased costs and rates. As an
example, the new loan facility in February 2019 with Cherokee has an increased
annual interest rate (18% versus 12%; which was the interest rate on the prior loan
with Cherokee). We may also be forced to pursue one or more alterna ve strategies,
such as restructuring, selling assets, reducing or delaying capital expenditures or
seeking addi onal equity capital. There can be no assurances that any of these
strategies could be implemented on sa sfactory terms, if at all, or that future
borrowings or equity financing would be available for the payment of any
indebtedness we may have. In addi on, in an event of default, our creditors could
begin proceedings to collect the collateral securing the debt. This would have a
material adverse eﬀect on our ability to con nue opera ons.
We have a history of incurring net losses and as of December 31, 2018, we have a
nega ve stockholders’ equity.
Since our incep on and throughout most of our history, we have incurred net losses,
including but not limited to, a net loss of $1,028,000 incurred in Fiscal 2018. As of
December 31, 2018, we also reported nega ve stockholders’ equity of $146,000. We
incur substan al expenditures for sales and marke ng, general and administra ve and
research and development purposes. Our ability to achieve profitability in the future
will primarily depend on our ability to increase sales of our products. Stockholders’
equity improvement will also be dependent on our ability to increase sales which will
increase the value of our assets and decrease our liabili es. Future profitability is also
dependent on our ability to reduce manufacturing costs and successfully introduce
new products or new versions of our exis ng products into the marketplace. There
can be no assurance that we will be able to increase our revenues at a rate that equals
or exceeds expenditures. Our failure to increase sales while controlling sales and
marke ng, general and administra ve, and research and development costs (rela ve
to sales) would result in addi onal losses.
We may need addi onal funding for our exis ng and future opera ons.
Our financial statements for Fiscal 2018 were prepared assuming we will con nue as a
going concern. If sales do not improve, our current cash balances and cash generated
from future opera ons may not be suﬃcient to fund opera ons through April 2020.
Future events, including the expenses and diﬃcul es which may be encountered in
maintaining a market for our products could make cash on hand and cash available
under our line of credit facility insuﬃcient to fund opera ons. If this happens, we may
be required to sell addi onal equity or debt securi es or obtain addi onal credit
facili es. Any equity financing would result in further dilu on to exis ng shareholders.
There can be no assurance that any of these financings will be available or that we will
be able to complete such financing on sa sfactory terms.
Poten al issuance and exercise of new op ons and warrants and exercise of
outstanding op ons and warrants, could adversely aﬀect the value of our securi es.
We currently have two non‐statutory stock op on plans, the Fiscal 2001 Non‐statutory
Stock Op on Plan (the “2001 Plan”) and the 2013 Equity Compensa on Plan (the
“2013 Plan”). Both plans have been adopted by our Board of Directors and approved
by our shareholders. The common shares underlying the exercise of the stock op ons
under the 2001 Plan have been registered with the United States Securi es and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”); however the common shares underlying the
exercise of the stock op ons under the 2013 Plan have not been registered with the
SEC.
Both the 2001 Plan and the 2013 Plan have op ons available for future issuance. As of
December 31, 2018, there were 2,222,000 op ons issued and outstanding under the
2001 Plan. There were no op ons issued under the 2013 Plan, making the total issued
and outstanding op ons 2,222,000 as of December 31, 2018. Of the total op ons
issued and outstanding, 2,142,000 are fully vested as of December 31, 2018. As of
December 31, 2018, there were 1,495,000 op ons available for issuance under the
2001 Plan and 4,000,000 op ons available for issuance under the 2013 Plan. We also
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exceed $2 million, and our average revenue for the last three years was only
$4,798,000, so our securi es do not currently qualify for exclusion from the “penny
stock” defini ons. Therefore, our common shares are subject to “penny stock” rules.
For any transac on involving a “penny stock,” unless exempt, the rules impose
addi onal sales prac ce requirements on broker‐dealers, subject to certain
excep ons. For these reasons, a broker‐dealer may find it more diﬃcult to trade our
common stock and an investor may find it more diﬃcult to acquire or dispose of our
common stock on the secondary market. Therefore, broker‐dealers may be less willing
or able to sell or make a market in our securi es because of the penny stock disclosure
rules. Not maintaining a lis ng on a major stock market may result in a decrease in the
trading price of our securi es due to a decrease in liquidity and less interest by
ins tu ons and individuals in inves ng in our securi es, and could also make it more
diﬃcult for us to raise capital in the future. Furthermore, lis ng on OTC Market Group
may make it more diﬃcult to retain and a ract market makers. In the event that
market makers cease to func on as such, public trading of our securi es will be
adversely aﬀected or may cease en rely.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
We own our property in Kinderhook, New York. The property currently consists of a
30,000 square foot facility with approximately 22 surrounding acres. Our Kinderhook
facility houses administra on, customer service, inside sales, assembly and packaging,
shipping and our warehouse. We lease (under a non‐cancellable lease through
December 31, 2019) 5,200 square feet of space in Logan Township, New Jersey that
houses our bulk test strip manufacturing and research and development. Both
facili es are currently adequate and meet the needs of all areas of the Company. We
expect to renew the lease related to our New Jersey facility for a period of 1‐2 more
years.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
ABMC v. Todd Bailey
The Company has ongoing li ga on in the Northern District of New York against
Premier Biotech Inc., and its principal, Todd Bailey (“Bailey”) (together the
“Defendants”) that was filed in February 2017. Bailey formerly served as the
Company’s Vice President of Sales and Marke ng and as a sales consultant un l
December 23, 2016. The complaint seeks damages related to any profits and revenues
that results from ac on taken by the Defendants related to Company customers.
In early 2017, the Company became aware of ac ons taken by the Defendants,
including but not limited to, ac on taken specifically related to a Company contract
with a state agency (held by the Company in excess of 10 years). The Company
believes that the Defendants ac ons related to this customer and a RFP that was
issued by the state agency resulted in the loss of the contract award to the Company
and the award of the contract to Peckham Voca onal Industries, Inc. (a then vendor of
the Company) and Premier Biotech, Inc. in July 2017. This contract historically
accounted for 10‐15% of the Company’s annual revenue. The Company did protest
the award of the contract to Peckham and Premier Biotech, and the state agency
advised the Company on July 26, 2017 that they denied the Company’s protest of the
award. The Company con nued to hold a contract with the agency through
September 30, 2017.
A er the award of the contract, the Company amended its complaint against the
Defendants to show actual damages caused by the Defendants and to show
proprietary and confiden al informa on (belonging to the Company) used by the
Defendants in their response to the RFP. This confiden al informa on belonging to
the Company enabled the Defendants to comply with specifica ons of the RFP and
undercut the Company’s pricing. The Defendants filed a response to the court
opposing the Company’s supplemental mo on and the Company filed reply papers to
the Defendants response on November 2, 2017.
In January 2018, the court ruled on the mo on to dismiss (that was filed by the
Defendants in 2017). The court found that there was jurisdic on over the Defendants.
The court did not rule on the other mo ons before them. In February 2018, the
Company filed a mo on for reconsidera on and for leave to serve a supplemental/
amended complaint. The new filing addressed (among other things) the Company’s
intent to further supplement its complaint based on addi onal (subsequent) damage

alleged by the Company on the part of the Defendants. In September 2018, the court
ruled on the mo ons filed in February 2018. The court granted in part and denied in
part our mo ons for reconsidera on. More specifically, our mo ons supplemen ng
claims of the Bailey’s breach of contract and damages related to the same, and Bailey’s
misappropria on of the Company’s trade secrets were granted. The Company’s
mo ons related to unjust enrichment and tor ous interference were not granted.
Defendants’ mo on to dismiss was once again denied. The Company filed its
supplemental mo ons as required on October 12, 2018. On November 1, 2018, the
Defendants filed their response to our supplemental mo ons. In January 2019, an
ini al conference was held to discuss the case management plan and exchange
mandatory disclosures. On January 31, 2019, the court referred the case for
par cipa on in the Mandatory Media on Program. The deadline for comple on of
media on was set for May 31, 2019.
In January 2019, Bailey’s complaint previously filed in Minnesota was transferred as a
counter‐claim in the Company’s complaint against Bailey. Bailey is seeking deferred
commissions of $164,000 he alleges are owed to him by the Company. These
amounts were originally deferred under a deferred compensa on program ini ated in
2013; a program in which Bailey was one of the par cipants. The Company has
responded to the Bailey counterclaim and believes these amounts are not due to
Bailey given the ac ons indicated in the Company’s li ga on. Given the stage of the
li ga on, management is not yet able to opine on the outcome of its complaint or the
counterclaim.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Not Applicable.
PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLD‐
ER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Informa on
Our common shares are currently trading on the OTC Markets Group under their OTC
Pink® Open Market under the symbol “ABMC”.
The following table sets forth the high and low closing bid prices of our securi es as
reported by the OTC Pink Open Market in Fiscal 2018 and Fiscal 2017. The prices
quoted reflect inter‐dealer prices, without retail mark‐up, markdown, or commission
and may not necessarily represent actual transac ons.
Year ended December 31, 2018

High

Low

Quarter ended December 31, 2018

$0.12

$0.07

Quarter ended September 30, 2018

$0.12

$0.06

Quarter ended June 30, 2018

$0.12

$0.09

Quarter ended March 31, 2018

$0.20

$0.10

Year ended December 31, 2017

High

Low

Quarter ended December 31, 2017

$0.14

$0.10

Quarter ended September 30, 2017

$0.16

$0.10

Quarter ended June 30, 2017

$0.15

$0.10

Quarter ended March 31, 2017

$0.15

$0.10

Holders
Based upon the number of record holders and individual par cipants in security
posi on lis ngs, as of April 16, 2019, there were approximately 1,800 holders of our
securi es. As of April 15, 2019, there were 32,479,368 common shares outstanding.
Dividends
We have not declared any dividends on our common shares and do not expect to do
so in the foreseeable future. Future earnings, if any, will be retained for use in our
business.
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Securi es authorized for issuance under equity compensa on plans previously ap‐
proved by security holders
We currently have 2 Non‐statutory Stock Op on Plans (the 2001 Plan and the 2013
Plan, collec vely the “Plans”) that have been adopted by our Board of Directors and
subsequently approved by our shareholders. The Plans provide for the gran ng of
op ons to employees, directors, and consultants (see Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factor tled,
“Poten al issuance and exercise…”).
Securi es authorized for issuance under equity compensa on plans not previously
approved by security holders
None.
The following table summarizes informa on as of December 31, 2018, with respect to
compensa on plans (including individual compensa on arrangements) under which
our common stock is authorized for issuance:
Plan Category

but not limited to, any risks detailed herein, including the “Risk Factors” sec on
contained in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10‐K, or detailed in our most recent reports on
Form 10‐Q and Form 8‐K and from me to me in our other filings with the SEC and
amendments thereto. Any forward‐looking statement speaks only as of the date on
which such statement is made, and we are not undertaking any obliga on to publicly
update any forward‐looking statements. Readers should not place undue reliance on
these forward‐looking statements.
Overview and Plan of Opera ons
Sales declined in Fiscal 2018 when compared Fiscal 2017. The primary reason for the
decline was the loss of an account in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2017 and the
expira on of another government account in the second quarter of Fiscal 2018. The
account lost in Fiscal 2017 is a subject of li ga on we ini ated against a former Vice
President, Sales & Marke ng/Sales Consultant (See Note D – Li ga on/Legal Ma ers).
Along with these losses, products manufactured outside of the United States con nue
to dominate our markets; especially those markets where cost is the driving factor.
In Fiscal 2018, we brought on new products and service oﬀerings to diversify our
revenue stream through third party rela onships. These new products and services
include products for the detec on of alcohol and alterna ve sample op ons for drug
tes ng (such as lab based oral fluid tes ng and hair tes ng). We are also now oﬀering
customers lower‐cost alterna ves for onsite drug tes ng. Sales of other products and
services in Fiscal 2018 were not a significant por on of our sales; however, sales of the
lower cost product alterna ve in Fiscal 2018 were approximately $276,000.
We are focusing our eﬀorts on 1) further penetra on of the clinical markets with new
products, 2) drug tes ng with oral fluid in the workplace and 3) contract
manufacturing. We are hopeful that our OTC marke ng clearance for our Rapid TOX
Cup® II product line, lower cost product alterna ves and addi onal diagnos c
products will enable us to increase sales in the clinical markets. In addi on, we are
currently working with our laboratory alliance in eﬀorts to increase sales under our
current contract. A change in the regulatory environment (due to certain exemp ons
set forth by the U.S. Food and Drug Administra on related to workplace and insurance
drug tes ng) has resulted in new eﬀorts to re‐enter the workplace market with oral
fluid drug tes ng op ons. And finally, we are currently discussing a number of contract
manufacturing opportuni es with other en es; one of which started to generate
sales in the first quarter of the year ending December 31, 2019.
Opera ng expenses con nued to decline when comparing Fiscal 2018 with Fiscal
2017. This is a result of our con nued eﬀorts to ensure that expenses are in line with
revenue. In Fiscal 2018, we consolidated job responsibili es in certain areas of the
Company as a result of employee re rement and other departures; this consolida on
enabled us to implement personnel reduc ons. We also con nued to maintain a
salary deferral program for our sole execu ve oﬃcer and another member of senior
management throughout Fiscal 2018. The salary deferral program consisted of a 20%
salary deferral for our Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer/Principal Financial Oﬃcer Melissa
Waterhouse and our non‐execu ve VP Opera ons through September 30, 2018. In
the fourth quarter Fiscal 2018, the salary deferral level was reduced to 10% given the
length of me the deferral has been in place and the increasing balances on the
deferred compensa on. As of December 31, 2018, we had total deferred
compensa on owed to these two individuals in the amount of $167,000. As cash flow
from opera ons allows, we intend to repay por ons of the deferred compensa on,
however we did not make any payments on deferred compensa on in Fiscal 2018. In
Fiscal 2017, we made payments in the amount of $27,000. We expect the salary
deferral program will con nue for up to another 12 months.
Our con nued existence is dependent upon several factors, including our ability to: 1)
raise revenue levels even though we have lost significant accounts and the market
con nues to be infiltrated by product manufactured outside of the United States, 2)
control opera onal costs to generate posi ve cash flows, 3) maintain our current
credit facili es or refinance our current credit facili es if necessary, and 4) if needed,
our ability to obtain working capital by selling addi onal shares of our common stock.
Cri cal Accoun ng Policies and Es mates
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condi on and results of opera ons are
based upon our financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with
accoun ng principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or “U.S.
GAAP”. Part IV, Item 15, Note A to our financial statements describes the significant

Number of
Weighted‐
Number of
securi es to be
average
securi es
issued upon exercise price of
remaining
exercise of
outstanding available for future issuance
outstanding
op ons,
under equity compensa on
op ons,
warrants and plans (excluding securi es
warrants and
rights
reflected in
rights
(b)
column (a))
(a)
(c)

Equity
Compensa on Plans
approved by security
holders

2,222,000

$0.13

5,495,000

Equity
Compensa on Plans
not approved by
security holders*

2,000,000

$0.18

NA

*All securi es are related to individual compensa on arrangements.
Performance Graph
As a smaller repor ng company, we are not required to provide the informa on
required under this item.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securi es; Use of Proceeds from Registered Securi es,
Purchases of equity securi es by the issuer and aﬃliated purchasers
None that have not been previously reported in Quarterly Report(s) on Form 10‐Q or
Current Report(s) on Form 8‐K.
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
As a smaller repor ng company, we are not required to provide the informa on
required under this item.
IITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis provides informa on, which we believe is
relevant to an assessment and understanding of our financial condi on and results of
opera ons. The discussion should be read in conjunc on with the financial statements
and the notes to the financial statement contained within this Annual Report on Form
10‐K. Certain statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10‐K, including,
without limita on, statements containing the words “believes”, “an cipates”,
“es mates”, “expects”, “intends”, “projects”, and words of similar import, are forward‐
looking as that term is defined by the Private Securi es Li ga on Reform Act of 1995
(“1995 Act”), and in releases issued by the United States Securi es and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”). These statements are being made pursuant to the provisions of
the 1995 Act and with the inten on of obtaining the benefits of the “Safe Harbor”
provisions of the 1995 Act. We cau on that any forward‐looking statements made
within this Annual Report on Form 10‐K are not guarantees of future performance and
in fact, actual results may diﬀer materially from those results discussed in such forward‐
looking statements. This material diﬀerence can be a result of various factors, including,
7
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compe ve. And finally, we added more raw materials to our slow moving inventory
reserve primarily as a result of decreased usage of materials resul ng from decreased
sales. We have taken ac ons to adjust our produc on schedules to mi gate future
ineﬃciencies and, we closely examine our gross profit margins on our manufactured
products.
Opera ng Expenses: Opera ng expenses for Fiscal 2018 decreased $258,000, or
11.2%, when compared to opera ng expenses in Fiscal 2017. Expenses in all
opera ons areas of the Company decreased. More specifically:
Research and development (“R&D”)
R&D expenses for Fiscal 2018 decreased 20.5% when compared to R&D expenses
incurred in Fiscal 2017. The primary reason for the decline in R&D expense is
decreased FDA compliance costs (due to ming of ac ons taken to submit and receive
our OTC marke ng clearance from FDA). This reduc on was par ally oﬀset by an
increase in salaries in Fiscal 2018 (due to an extended leave of one of our R&D
employees in Fiscal 2017). All other expense remained rela vely consistent. In Fiscal
2018, our R&D department primarily focused their eﬀorts on the evalua on and
development of poten al contract manufacturing opportuni es and the
enhancement of our current products.
Selling and marke ng
Selling and marke ng expenses for Fiscal 2018 decreased by 19.9% when compared
to selling and marke ng expense in Fiscal 2017. Decreased costs related to
employment taxes and benefits (due to a decreased number of employees), travel
expense, postage/shipping expense, telephone costs (due to change in vendor) and
marke ng salaries (due to transi oning from an employee based approach to internet
marke ng to the use of a consul ng firm) were nominally oﬀset by increased costs
related to marke ng consul ng (due to the same transi on discussed regarding
marke ng salaries).
In Fiscal 2018, we promoted addi onal products (through rela onships with third
par es) for the detec on of alcohol, alterna ve sample op ons for drug tes ng (such
as lab based oral fluid tes ng and hair tes ng) and lower‐cost alterna ves for onsite
drug tes ng. The addi on of these oﬀerings did not result in increased selling and
marke ng expenses. In Fiscal 2018, we refocused our eﬀorts on further penetra on of
the clinical markets, took eﬀorts to re‐enter the workplace market with oral fluid drug
tes ng op ons and increase our contract manufacturing business. We are con nuing
these eﬀorts in the year ending December 31, 2019. However, we will take all steps
necessary to ensure selling and marke ng expenditures are in line with sales.
General and administra ve (“G&A”)
G&A expenses for Fiscal 2018 decreased 6.6% when compared to G&A expenses in
Fiscal 2017. Decreased costs related to investor rela ons (due to lower service costs),
quality assurance salaries (due to re rement of an employee), purchasing salaries
(due to consolida on of posi ons) consul ng fees, legal fees (due to ming of ac ons
required in the ABMC v. Bailey li ga on), bad debt expense (due to a decrease in our
reserve) and share based payment expense (due to less stock op on amor za on in
Fiscal 2018) were par ally oﬀset by other increased expenses. Those increases were in
warehouse salaries (due to transfer of employee), accoun ng fees, outside service
fees (due to 2018 being a re‐cer fica on year for our ISO cer fica on), u lity costs
and bank service fees (as a result of the receipt of waivers related to our non‐
compliance with the TNW covenant for our line of credit).
Given our li ga on is ongoing; we do expect legal fees to remain at or above their
current levels for the year ending December 31, 2019. We are con nuously examining
all G&A expenses to look for lower cost alterna ves to our current services/products
being used. This examina on has resulted in decreased G&A expenses throughout
most of the expense areas of the Company. Apart from the increases previously
discussed, we do not expect significant increase in G&A expense.
Other income and expense: Other expense in Fiscal 2018 consisted of interest
income, interest expense associated with our credit facili es (our line of credit and
equipment loan with Crestmark Bank, and our loan and security agreement and term
loan with Cherokee Financial, LLC) par ally oﬀset by other income related to gains on
certain liabili es. Other expense in Fiscal 2017 consisted of interest expense
associated with our credit facili es (our line of credit and equipment loan with
Crestmark Bank, and our loan and security agreement with Cherokee Financial, LLC)
par ally oﬀset by other income related to gains on certain liabili es.

accoun ng policies and methods used in the prepara on of our financial statements.
The accoun ng policies that we believe are most cri cal to aid in fully understanding
and evalua ng the financial statements include the following:
Inventory and Allowance for Slow Moving and Obsolete Inventory: We maintain an
allowance for slow moving and obsolete inventory. If necessary, actual write‐downs to
inventory are made for es mated obsolescence or unmarketable inventory equal to
the diﬀerence between the cost of inventory and the net realizable value based upon
assump ons about future demand and market condi ons. If actual market condi ons
are less favorable than those projected by management, addi onal inventory
allowances or write‐downs may be required.
Valua on of Receivables: We es mate an allowance for doub ul accounts based on
facts, circumstances and judgments regarding each receivable. Customer payment
history and pa erns, length of rela onship with the customer, historical losses,
economic and poli cal condi ons, trends and individual circumstances are among the
items considered when evalua ng the collectability of the receivables. Accounts are
reviewed regularly for collectability and those deemed uncollec ble are wri en oﬀ. If
our customers’ economic condi on changes, we may need to increase our allowance
for doub ul accounts.
Es mates of the fair value of stock op ons and warrants at date of grant: The fair
value of stock op ons and warrants issued to employees, members of our Board of
Directors, and consultants in connec on with debt financings is es mated (on the
date of grant) based on the Black‐Scholes op ons‐pricing model u lizing certain as‐
sump ons for a risk free interest rate; vola lity; and expected remaining lives of the
awards. The assump ons used in calcula ng the fair value of share‐based payment
awards represent management's best es mates, but these es mates involve inherent
uncertain es and the applica on of management judgment. If factors change and we
use diﬀerent assump ons, our equity‐based compensa on expense could be
materially diﬀerent in the future. In addi on, we are required to es mate the
expected forfeiture rate and only recognize expense for those shares expected to vest.
In es ma ng our forfeiture rate, we analyzed our historical forfeiture rate, the
remaining lives of unvested op ons, and the amount of vested op ons as
a percentage of total op ons outstanding. If our actual forfeiture rate is materially
diﬀerent from its es mate, or if we reevaluate the forfeiture rate in the future, the
equity‐based compensa on expense could be significantly diﬀerent from what we
have recorded in the current period.
Use of Es mates: We make es mates and assump ons that aﬀect the reported
amounts of assets and liabili es and disclosures of con ngent assets and liabili es at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the
repor ng period. Actual results could diﬀer from those es mates.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR FISCAL 2018 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2017
Net Sales: Net sales decreased 21.2%, or $1,042,000, to $3,872,000 in Fiscal 2018
from $4,914,000 in Fiscal 2017. The primary cause of the decline in sales is the loss of
two government accounts. One of the accounts is a subject of ongoing li ga on
against a former Vice President Sales & Marke ng/Sales Consultant (Todd Bailey); we
believe the ac ons of Bailey resulted in our loss of the account star ng in the fourth
quarter of Fiscal 2017. Through the first nine months of Fiscal 2017 there was
$718,000 in sales to this customer; compared to no sales in Fiscal 2018. The other
government account expired in the early part of Fiscal 2018 and accounted for
$142,000 of the lost sales. And finally, the expected downturn in contract
manufacturing as a result of the expira on of one of our contract manufacturing
agreements in early 2018 contributed to $76,000 of the lost sales. Other sales declined
overall but, were par ally oﬀset by improvements in clinical sales and interna onal
sales (outside of La n/South America).
Gross profit: Gross profit decreased to 33.3% of net sales in Fiscal 2018 from 40.6% of
net sales in Fiscal 2017. The decline in gross profit stems primarily from the fact that
decreased sales resulted in a decrease in the number of tes ng strips made in Fiscal
2018, when compared to Fiscal 2017. The majority of our labor and overhead costs
are fixed. When revenues decline (especially at the level indicated in the previous
paragraph), fewer tes ng strips are produced; this results in a manufacturing
ineﬃciency (i.e. less fixed overhead cost absorp on and a higher amount being
expensed through cost of goods). In addi on, the low product prices from foreign
manufacturers have required us to decrease pricing of our own products to be more
8
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have a material adverse eﬀect on our business. There is no assurance that such
financing will be available or that we will be able to complete financing on sa sfactory
terms, if at all.
As of December 31, 2018, we had the following debt/credit facili es:

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018
Our cash requirements depend on numerous factors, including but not limited to
manufacturing costs (such as raw materials, equipment, etc.), selling and marke ng
ini a ves, product development ac vi es, regulatory costs, legal costs associated with
current li ga on, and eﬀec ve management of inventory levels and produc on levels
in response to sales history and forecasts. We also are required to make a $75,000
principal reduc on payment to Cherokee Financial, LLC in February 2019 (see Note J –
Subsequent Event). We expect to devote capital resources related to selling and
marke ng ini a ves and we expect that we will incur increased legal costs due to
ongoing li ga on in the year ending December 31, 2019. We are examining other
growth opportuni es including strategic alliances. Given our current and historical cash
posi on, such ac vi es would need to be funded from the issuance of addi onal
equity or addi onal credit borrowings, subject to market and other condi ons. Our
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 were prepared assuming
we will con nue as a going concern.
On December 20, 2018, we entered into a Securi es Purchase Agreement (the
“Purchase Agreement”) with Chaim Davis (the Chairman of our Board of Directors)
and certain other accredited investors (altogether the “Investors”), under which we
issued and sold to the Investors in a private placement (the “Private Placement”)
2,000,000 units (the “Units”). We closed on the Private Placement on December 24,
2018. Each Unit consists of one (1) share of the Company’s common stock, par value
$0.01 per share (“Common Share”), at a price per Unit of $0.10 (the “Purchase Price”)
for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $200,000. Our net proceeds were
$200,000 as expenses related to the Private Placement were minimal. We did not
u lize a placement agent for the Private Placement. The net proceeds were to be used
for working capital and general corporate purposes.
Our financial statements for Fiscal 2018 have been prepared assuming we will
con nue as a going concern, which assumes the realiza on of assets and the
sa sfac on of liabili es in the normal course of business. For Fiscal 2018, we had a net
loss of $1,028,000 and net cash used in opera ng ac vi es of $220,000, compared to
a net loss of $545,000, and net cash provided by opera ng ac vi es of $181,000 in
Fiscal 2017. The Company’s cash posi on increased by $77,000 in Fiscal 2018 and
decreased by $120,000 in Fiscal 2017.
Our current cash balances, together with cash generated from future opera ons and
amounts available under our credit facili es may not be suﬃcient to fund opera ons
through April 2020. At December 31, 2018, we have nega ve Stockholders’ Equity of
$146,000. Our loan and security agreement with Cherokee Financial, LLC expires on
February 15, 2020 (See Note J ‐Subsequent Event) and our line of credit expires on
June 22, 2020. Our term loan with Cherokee Financial LLC expired on February 15,
2019 (See Note J – Subsequent Event). Although our line of credit has a maximum
availability of $1,500,000, the amount available under our line of credit is much lower
as it is based upon the balance of our accounts receivable and inventory. As of
December 31, 2018, based on our availability calcula on, there were no addi onal
amounts available under our line of credit because we draw any balance available on a
daily basis. If sales levels con nue to decline, we will have reduced availability on our
line of credit due to decreased accounts receivable balances. In addi on, we would
expect our inventory levels to con nue to decrease if sales levels decline further, which
would result in further reduced availability on our line of credit. In addi on to
decreased inventory value, as a result of an amendment executed on June 25, 2018,
the amount available under the inventory component of the line of credit was
changed to 40% of eligible inventory plus up to 10% of Eligible Generic Packaging
Components not to exceed the lesser of $250,000 (“Inventory Sub‐Cap Limit”) or
100% of Eligible Accounts Receivable. In addi on, star ng July 1, 2018, the Inventory
Sub‐Cap Limit is being permanently reduced by $10,000 per month on the first day of
each month un l the Inventory Sub‐Cap Limit is reduced to $0. Although this
“staggered” reduc on did not have a material immediate impact on our availability
under the line of credit, it will eventually result in no availability under the line of credit
related to inventory and the line of credit will be an accounts receivable based line
only.
If availability under our line of credit is not suﬃcient to sa sfy our working capital and
capital expenditure requirements, we will be required to obtain addi onal credit
facili es or sell addi onal equity securi es, or delay capital expenditures which could

Facility

Debtor

Balance as of
December 31,
2018

Loan and Security Cherokee Financial, LLC
Agreement

$ 975,000

Revolving Line of
Credit

Crestmark Bank

$ 502,000

Equipment Loan

Crestmark Bank

$

Term Loan

Cherokee Financial, LLC

$ 150,000

Total Debt

Due Date

February 15, 2020
June 22, 2020
19,000

June 22, 2020
February 15, 2019

$ 1,646,000

Working Capital
At the end of Fiscal 2018, we are opera ng at a working capital deficit of $212,000.
This compares to working capital of $477,000 at the end of Fiscal 2017. This decrease
in working capital is a result of decreased sales which has resulted in lower inventory
values. Decreased sales have resulted in lower inventory levels and lower prepaid
assets and increased debt, par ally oﬀset by an increased cash posi on (as a result of a
private placement we closed in December 2018). We have historically sa sfied net
working capital requirements through cash from opera ons, bank debt and equity
sales.
Dividends
We have never paid any dividends on our common shares and we an cipate that all
future earnings, if any, will be retained for use in our business.
Cash Flow, Outlook/Risk
We have taken steps (and will con nue to take steps) to ensure that opera ng
expenses and manufacturing costs remain in line with sales levels, however, we are
incurring increased costs related to li ga on, our line of credit (due to covenant non‐
compliance that has been waived by our lender) and other administra ve
requirements. In early 2018, we started making an investment in sales to further
penetrate the rehabilita on/drug treatment, pain management and other clinical
markets. To oﬀset these investments, we consolidated job responsibili es in other
areas of the Company and this enabled us to implement personnel reduc ons. In
other eﬀorts to reduce cash requirements, we have issued shares of restricted stock in
lieu of cash. More specifically, in Fiscal 2018, we issued (1) 150,000 restricted shares of
common stock to Cherokee Financial, LLC in connec on with our Term Loan; (2)
277,778 restricted shares of common stock to Landmark Pegasus, Inc. in connec on
with an extension of our Financial Advisory Agreement, and (3) 68,820 restricted
shares of common stock to our Chairman of the Board for his a endance at two
mee ngs of our Board of Directors in 2018. In addi on, in December 2018, we closed
on a private placement of 2,000,000 shares of our common stock resul ng in net
proceeds of $200,000.We expect to issue addi onal restricted shares of common
stock for a endance at mee ngs of the Board of Directors if a director (or directors)
choose(s) payment in shares in lieu of cash as their form of payment. See Note J –
Subsequent Event regarding addi onal shares issued in the first quarter of the year
ending December 31, 2019.
At December 31, 2018 our cash balance was higher (due to the closing of a private
placement of securi es in late December 2018) and our line of credit balance was
higher (due to increased customer balances at December 31, 2018). However,
throughout Fiscal 2018, the decline in sales resulted in lower than average cash
balances and lower availability on our line of credit at mes. Two large government
accounts (one of which was in the year ended December 31, 2017 and the other in the
year ended December 31, 2016) were lost due to alleged ac ons on the part of a
former Vice President Sales and Marke ng/Sales Consultant (Todd Bailey) and are the
subject of ongoing li ga on. These two accounts represented approximately
9
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over financial repor ng as defined in Rules 13a‐15(f) and 15d‐15(f) under the
Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial repor ng is designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial repor ng and the
prepara on of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accoun ng principles. Our internal control over financial repor ng includes
those policies and procedures that:
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and
fairly reflect the transac ons and disposi ons of our assets;
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transac ons are recorded as necessary to
permit prepara on of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accoun ng principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being
made only in accordance with authoriza on of Management; and
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding preven on or mely detec on of
unauthorized acquisi on, use or disposi on of our assets that could have a material
eﬀect on the financial statements.
Because of inherent limita ons, internal control over financial repor ng may not
prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projec ons of any evalua on of eﬀec veness
to future periods are subject to risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in condi ons, or the degree of compliance may deteriorate.
Management assessed the eﬀec veness of our internal control over financial
repor ng as of December 31, 2018. In making this assessment, management used the
criteria set forth by the Commi ee of Sponsoring Organiza on of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control‐Integrated Framework. Based on that
assessment, Management has concluded that our internal control over financial
repor ng was eﬀec ve as of December 31, 2018.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repor ng
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial repor ng during the
last quarterly period covered by this report that have materially aﬀected, or are
reasonably likely to materially aﬀect, our internal control over financial repor ng.
A esta on Report of Independent Registered Public Accoun ng Firm
This annual report does not include an a esta on report of our independent
registered public accoun ng firm regarding internal control over financial repor ng.
Management's report was not subject to a esta on by our independent registered
public accoun ng firm pursuant to rules of the SEC that exempt smaller repor ng
companies from this requirement.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The informa on required by this item is contained in our defini ve Proxy Statement
with respect to our Annual Mee ng of Shareholders for Fiscal 2018under the cap ons
“Discussion of Proposal Recommended by Board”, “Directors that are not Nominees”,
“Addi onal Execu ve Oﬃcers and Senior Management”, “Sec on 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Repor ng Compliance”, “Code of Ethics”, “Nomina ng Commi ee”,
“Audit Commi ee” and “Audit Commi ee Financial Expert” and is incorporated
herein by reference.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The informa on required by this item is contained in our defini ve Proxy Statement
with respect to our Annual Mee ng of Shareholders for Fiscal 2018 under the cap ons
“Execu ve Compensa on”, “Compensa on of Directors”, “Compensa on Commi ee
Interlocks and Insider Par cipa on”, and “Compensa on Commi ee Report”, and is
incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The informa on required by this item is contained within Part II, Item 5. Market for
Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholders Ma ers and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securi es earlier in this Annual Report on Form 10‐K and in our defini ve Proxy
Statement with respect to the Annual Mee ng of Shareholders for Fiscal 2018 under
the cap on “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management”
and is incorporated herein by reference.

$1,000,000 in annual sales to the Company (of which $718,000 impacted sales
revenues in Fiscal, 2018; when compared to Fiscal 2017). Also, in the early part of Fiscal
2018, we had another government contract expire and this also contributed to the
sales decline in Fiscal 2018 (when compared to Fiscal 2017). To address the declines,
we are promo ng new products and service oﬀerings to diversify our revenue stream.
These new products and services (through rela onships with third par es) include
products for the detec on of alcohol, alterna ve sample op ons for drug tes ng (such
as lab based oral fluid tes ng and hair tes ng) and lower‐cost alterna ves for onsite
drug tes ng. Also, a change in the regulatory environment (due to certain exemp ons
set forth by the U.S. Food and Drug Administra on related to workplace and insurance
drug tes ng) has resulted in new eﬀorts to re‐enter the workplace market with oral
fluid drug tes ng op ons. And finally, we are currently discussing a number of contract
manufacturing opportuni es with other en es; one of which started to generate
sales in the first quarter of the year ending December 31, 2019.
Our ability to be in compliance with our obliga ons under our current credit facili es
will depend on our ability to replace lost sales and further increase sales. Our ability to
repay our current debt may also be aﬀected by general economic, financial,
compe ve, regulatory, legal, business and other factors beyond our control, including
those discussed herein. If we are unable to meet our credit facility obliga ons, we
would be required to raise money through new equity and/or debt financing(s) and,
there is no assurance that we would be able to find new financing, or that any new
financing would be at favorable terms.
We were not in compliance with the TNW covenant under our Crestmark LOC as of
December 31, 2018. The Company has received a waiver from Crestmark related to its
non‐compliance with the TNW covenant. The Company will be charged a fee of
$5,000 for this waiver. A failure to comply with the TNW covenant under our
Crestmark LOC (a failure that is not waived by Crestmark) could result in an event of
default, which, if not cured, could result in the Company being required to pay much
higher costs associated with the indebtedness. If we are forced to refinance our debt
on less favorable terms, our results of opera ons and financial condi on could be
adversely aﬀected by increased costs and rates. There is also no assurance that we
could obtain alterna ve debt facili es. We may also be forced to pursue one or more
alterna ve strategies, such as restructuring, selling assets, reducing or delaying capital
expenditures or seeking addi onal equity capital. There can be no assurances that any
of these strategies could be implemented on sa sfactory terms, if at all.
Our term loan with Cherokee Financial, LLC matured on February 15, 2019. On this
same date, another principal reduc on payment was due in the amount of $75,000
on our Loan and Security Agreement with Cherokee; for a total of $225,000. See Note
J – Subsequent Event.
If events and circumstances occur such that 1) we do not meet our current opera ng
plans to increase sales, 2) we are unable to raise suﬃcient addi onal equity or debt
financing, 3), we are unable to u lize equity as a form of payment in lieu of cash, or 4)
our credit facili es are insuﬃcient or not available, we may be required to further
reduce expenses or take other steps which could have a material adverse eﬀect on our
future performance.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
As a smaller repor ng company, we are not required to provide the informa on
required under this item.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Our Financial Statements are set forth beginning on page F‐1.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evalua on of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Management has reviewed the eﬀec veness of our “disclosure controls and
procedures” (as defined in the Exchange Act Rules 13a‐15(e) and 15d‐15(e)) as of the
end of the period covered by this report and have concluded that the disclosure
controls and procedures are eﬀec ve to ensure that material informa on rela ng to
the Company is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported in a mely manner.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repor ng
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
10
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND
DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The informa on required by this item is contained in our defini ve Proxy Statement
with respect to the Annual Mee ng of Shareholders for Fiscal 2018 under the cap ons
“Certain Rela onships and Related Transac ons” and “Independent Directors”, and is
incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
The informa on required by this item is contained in our defini ve Proxy Statement
with respect to the Annual Mee ng of Shareholders for Fiscal 2018 under the cap on
“Independent Public Accountants”, and is incorporated herein by reference.
PART IV.
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10‐K:
(1) Our financial statements

No.

F‐1

Balance Sheets

F‐2

Statements of Opera ons

F‐3

Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

F‐3

Statements of Cash Flows

F‐4

Notes to Financial Statements

F‐5

Rule 13a‐14(a)/15d‐14(a) Cer fica on of the Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer/
Chief Financial Oﬃcer

32.1 &
32.2

Sec on 1350 Cer fica on of the Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer/Chief Financial
Oﬃcer

101

The following materials from our Annual Report on Form 10‐K for the
year ended December 31, 2018, forma ed in XBRL (Extensible Business
Repor ng Language): (i) Balance Sheet, (ii) Statements of Income (iii)
Statements of Cash Flows, (iv) Statements of Changes in Stockholders’
Equity and (v) Notes to Financial Statements.

Indicates an employee benefits plan, management contract or compensatory plan
or arrangement in which a named execu ve oﬃcer par cipates.
(1) Filed as the exhibit number listed to the Company’s Form 10‐KSB filed on April 15,
2002 and incorporated herein by reference.
(2) Filed as the exhibit number listed to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8‐K
filed on October 18, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference.
(3) Filed as the exhibit number listed to the Company’s Form 10‐KSB filed on August
11, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference.
(4) Filed as the exhibit number listed to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8‐K
filed with the Commission on June 24, 2014.
(5) Filed as the exhibit number listed to the Company’s Form 10‐K filed on March 31,
2015 and incorporated herein by reference.
(6) Filed as the exhibit number listed to the Company’s Form 10‐K filed on March 30,
2016 and incorporated herein by reference.
(7) Filed as the exhibit number listed to the Company’s Form 10‐K filed on April 12,
2018 and incorporated herein by reference.
(8) Filed as the exhibit number listed to the Company’ Current Report on Form 8‐K filed
on December 26, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.
(c) Not applicable.
SIGNATURES
In accordance with Sec on 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the registrant caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

(2) Financial Statement Schedule
As a smaller repor ng company, we are only required to provide financial
statements required by Ar cle 8 of Regula on S‐X in lieu of financial statements
that may be required under Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10‐K,
and these financial statements are noted under Item 15(a)(1).
(3) See Item 15(b) of this Annual Report on Form 10‐K.
(b) Exhibits
No.

31.1 &
31.2

(a)

PAGE
Report of Independent Registered Public Accoun ng Firm — UHY, LLP

Descrip on of Exhibits (con nued )
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Descrip on of Exhibits

3.5

Amended and Restated Bylaws(2)

3.51

Amended and Restated Bylaws(3)

3.7

Sixth amendment to the Cer ficate of Incorpora on(2)

4.17

Fiscal 2001 Nonstatutory Stock Op on Plan (filed as part of the Company’s
Proxy Statement for its Fiscal 2002 Annual Mee ng and incorporated herein
by reference(a)

4.25

2013 Equity Compensa on Plan (filed as Appendix A to the Company’s
Proxy Statement for its fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 and
a)
incorporated herein by reference)(

4.26

Securi es Purchase Agreement

10.8

Lease dated August 1, 1999/New Jersey facility(

By /s/ Melissa A. Waterhouse
Melissa A. Waterhouse
Chief Financial Oﬃcer (Principal Execu ve Oﬃcer)
Principal Financial Oﬃcer
Principal Accoun ng Oﬃcer
Date: April 16, 2019
In accordance with the Exchange Act, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capaci es indicated on April
16, 2019:

8)

10.40 Employment Contract between the Company and Melissa A Waterhouse(10)
10.41 Amendment No. 9 to New Jersey facility lease, dated December 15, 2014(11)
10.42 Amendment No. 10 to New Jersey facility lease, dated December 21, 2015(12)
10.43 Amendment No. 11 to New Jersey facility lease, dated November 20, 2017(12)
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/s/ Melissa A. Waterhouse
Melissa A. Waterhouse

Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer (Principal Execu ve Oﬃcer)
Principal Execu ve Oﬃcer
Principal Financial Oﬃcer

/s/ Chaim Davis
Chaim Davis

Chairman of the Board

/s/ Peter Jerome
Carl A. Florio

Director

/s/ Jean Neﬀ
Jean Neﬀ

Director and Corporate Secretary

/s/ Diane J. Generous
Diane J. Generous

Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of American Bio Medica Corpora on
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of American Bio Medica Corpora on (the Company) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and
the related statements of opera ons, changes in stockholders’ (deficit)/equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two‐year period ended
December 31, 2018, and the related notes (collec vely referred to as the financial statements). In our opinion, the financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial posi on of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its opera ons and its
cash flows for each of the years in the two‐year period ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with accoun ng principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.
Substan al Doubt about the Company’s Ability to Con nue as a Going Concern
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that American Bio Medica Corpora on will con nue as a going concern. As
discussed in Note A to the financial statements, the Company has incurred recurring opera ng losses and its current cash posi on and lack of
access to capital raise substan al doubt about the Company’s ability to con nue as a going concern. Management’s evalua on of the events and
condi ons and management’s plans regarding those ma ers also are described in Note A. The financial statements do not include any
adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Our opinion is not modified with respect to that ma er.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accoun ng firm registered with the Public Company Accoun ng Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securi es laws and the
applicable rules and regula ons of the Securi es and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is
not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial repor ng. As part of our audits, we are
required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial repor ng, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
eﬀec veness of the Company’s internal control over financial repor ng. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evalua ng the accoun ng principles used and significant es mates made by
management, as well as evalua ng the overall presenta on of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion.
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2015.
/s/ UHY LLP
Albany, New York
April 16, 2019
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S H E E T S
December 31,

December 31,

2018

2017

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub ul accounts of $36,000 at December 31, 2018 and
$52,000 at December 31, 2017
Inventory, net of allowance of $268,000 at December 31, 2018 and $500,000 at December 31, 2017

$

113,000

$

36,000

452,000
1,019,000

348,000
1,473,000

29,000
1,613,000

97,000
1,954,000

Property, plant and equipment, net

718,000

792,000

Patents, net

123,000

109,000

Other assets

21,000

21,000

0

15,000

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

Deferred finance costs, line of credit, net
Total assets

$

2,475,000

$

2,891,000

$

359,000

$

374,000

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabili es
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabili es

449,000

311,000

Wages payable

278,000

259,000

Line of credit

502,000

446,000

Current por on of long‐term debt

237,000

87,000

1,825,000

1,477,000

7,000

19,000

789,000

772,000

2,621,000

2,268,000

323,000
21,404,000
(21,873,000)

298,000
21,170,000
(20,845,000)

(146,000)

623,000

Total current liabili es
Other liabili es/debt
Long‐term debt, net of current por on and deferred finance costs
Total liabili es
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock; par value $.01 per share; 5,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017
Common stock; par value $.01 per share; 50,000,000 shares authorized; 32,279,368 issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 29,782,770 issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2017
Addi onal paid‐in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
$

Total liabili es and stockholders’ equity
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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For the Year Ended
December 31, 2018

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Opera ng expenses:
Research and development
Selling and marke ng
General and administra ve

$

Opera ng loss
Other income / (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income, net

3,872,000
2,584,000
1,288,000

0
(272,000)
38,000

$

(234,000)
(545,000)
0
(545,000)

$

(0.02)

Basic and diluted loss per common share

$

(0.03)

C H A N G E S

4,914,000
2,917,000
1,997,000

1,000
(284,000)
19,000

$

O F

$

117,000
680,000
1,511,000
2,308,000
(311,000)

(264,000)
(1,026,000)
(2,000)
(1,028,000)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding ‐ basic & diluted
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2017

93,000
545,000
1,412,000
2,050,000
(762,000)

Net loss before tax
Income tax expense
Net loss
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30,115,063

I N

29,211,454

S T O C K H O L D E R S ’

E Q U I T Y

Common Stock
Shares
Balance—December 31, 2016
Shares issued in connec on with Landmark
consul ng agreement extensions

Amount

Addi onal Paid‐in
Capital

Total

28,842,788

$ 288,000

$ 21,037,000

$ (20,300,000)

$ 1,025,000

939,982

10,000

90,000

0

100,000

Share based payment expense

43,000

43,000
(545,000)

Net Loss
Balance—December 31, 2017

Accumulated
Deficit

29,782,770

$ 298,000

$ 21,170,000

Shares issued in connec on with Landmark
consul ng agreement extensions

277,778

3,000

22,000

25,000

Shares issued to Cherokee in connec on with loan

150,000

1,000

16,000

17,000

68,820

1,000

6,000

7,000

2,000,000

20,000

180,000

200,000

10,000

10,000

Shares issued for board mee ng a endance in lieu
of cash
Shares issued under December 2018 Private
Placement
Share based payment expense
Net loss
Balance—December 31, 2018

32,279,368

$ 323,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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F L O W S
Year Ended
December 31, 2018

Year Ended
December 31, 2017

Cash flows from opera ng ac vi es:
Net loss

$

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by opera ng ac vi es:
Deprecia on and amor za on
Amor za on of debt issuance costs
Provision for bad debts
Provision for slow moving and obsolete inventory
Share‐based payment expense
Changes in:

(1,028,000)

$

(545,000)

$

Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabili es
Wages payable
Net cash (used in) / provided by opera ng ac vi es

81,000
126,000
(16,000)
134,000
10,000

80,000
126,000
3,000
51,000
43,000

(88,000)

205,000

320,000
93,000
(15,000)
138,000
19,000

58,000
96,000
70,000
34,000
(40,000)

(220,000)

181,000

0
(22,000)

(44,000)
(20,000)

(22,000)

(64,000)

63,000
200,000
4,216,000
(4,160,000)

(44,000)
0
5,832,000
(6,025,000)

Cash flows from inves ng ac vi es:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Patent applica on costs
Net cash used in inves ng ac vi es
Cash flows from financing ac vi es:
Proceeds (payments on) debt financings, net
Proceeds from private placement
Proceeds from lines of credit
Payments on lines of credit
Net cash provided by / (used in) financing ac vi es
Net increase in / (decrease in) cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents – end of period

319,000

(237,000)

77,000
36,000

(120,000)
156,000

$

113,000

$

36,000

Consul ng expense paid with restricted stock

$

25,000

$

71,000

Debt issuance cost paid with restricted stock

$

19,000

$

0

Director fee paid with restricted stock

$

6,000

$

0

Patent applica on costs

$

22,000

$

20,000

Cash paid during the year for interest

$

157,000

$

146,000

Cash paid for taxes

$

2,000

$

0

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informa on:
Non‐Cash transac ons:

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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sales. The Company’s ability to repay its current debt may also be aﬀected by general
economic, financial, compe ve, regulatory, business and other factors beyond its
control, including those discussed herein. If the Company is unable to meet its credit
facility obliga ons, the Company would be required to raise money through new
equity and/or debt financing(s) and, there is no assurance that the Company would be
able to find new financing, or that any new financing would be at favorable terms.
The Company was not in compliance with the TNW covenant as of December 31,
2018; however, the Company received a waiver from Crestmark Bank. The Company
will be charged a fee of $5,000 for this waiver. A failure to comply with the TNW
covenant under our Crestmark LOC (a failure that is not waived by Crestmark) could
result in an event of default, which, if not cured, could result in the Company being
required to pay much higher costs associated with the indebtedness. If we are forced
to refinance our debt on less favorable terms, our results of opera ons and financial
condi on could be adversely aﬀected by increased costs and rates. There is also no
assurance that we could obtain alterna ve debt facili es. We may also be forced to
pursue one or more alterna ve strategies, such as restructuring, selling assets, reducing
or delaying capital expenditures or seeking addi onal equity capital. There can be no
assurances that any of these strategies could be implemented on sa sfactory terms, if
at all.
The Company’s term loan with Cherokee Financial, LLC matures on February 15, 2019.
On this same date, another principal reduc on payment will be due in the amount of
$75,000 on our Loan and Security Agreement with Cherokee Financial, LLC; for a total
of $225,000. See Note J – Subsequent Event.
The Company’s history of limited cash flow and/or opera ng cash flow deficits, its
current cash posi on and lack of access to capital raise doubt about its ability to
con nue as a going concern and its con nued existence is dependent upon several
factors, including its ability to raise revenue levels and control costs to generate posi ve
cash flows, to sell addi onal shares of the Company’s common stock to fund
opera ons and obtain addi onal credit facili es. Selling addi onal shares of the
Company’s common stock and obtaining addi onal credit facili es may be more
diﬃcult as a result of limited access to equity markets and the ghtening of credit
markets. If events and circumstances occur such that 1) the Company does not meet its
current opera ng plans to increase sales, 2) the Company is unable to raise suﬃcient
addi onal equity or debt financing, or 3) the Company is unable to u lize equity as a
form of payment in lieu of cash, or 4) the Company’s credit facili es are insuﬃcient or
not available, the Company may be required to further reduce expenses or take other
steps which could have a material adverse eﬀect on our future performance. The
financial statements do not include any adjustments rela ng to the recoverability and
classifica on of recorded asset amounts or the amount of or classifica on of liabili es
that might be necessary as a result of this uncertainty.
Significant Accoun ng Policies:
[1]
Cash equivalents: The Company considers all highly liquid financial
instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
[2]
Accounts Receivable: Accounts receivable consists of mainly trade
receivables due from customers for the sale of our products. Payment terms vary on a
customer‐by‐customer basis, and currently range from cash on delivery to net 60
days. Receivables are considered past due when they have exceeded their payment
terms. Accounts receivable have been reduced by an es mated allowance for doub ul
accounts. The Company es mates its allowance for doub ul accounts based on facts,
circumstances and judgments regarding each receivable. Customer payment history
and pa erns, length of rela onship with the customer, historical losses, economic and
poli cal condi ons, trends and individual circumstances are among the items
considered when evalua ng the collectability of the receivables. Accounts are reviewed
regularly for collectability and those deemed uncollec ble are wri en oﬀ. At December
31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Company had an allowance for doub ul
accounts of $36,000 and $52,000, respec vely.
[3]
Inventory: Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value.
Work in process and finished goods are comprised of labor, overhead and raw material
costs. Labor and overhead costs are determined on a rolling average cost basis and raw

NOTE A ‐ THE COMPANY AND ITS SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Company:
American Bio Medica Corpora on (the “Company”) is in the business of developing,
manufacturing, and marke ng point of collec on tes ng products for drugs of abuse,
as well as performing contract manufacturing services for third par es.
Going Concern:
The Company’s financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will
con nue as a going concern, which assumes the realiza on of assets and the
sa sfac on of liabili es in the normal course of business. For the year ended December
31, 2018 (“Fiscal 2018”), the Company had a net loss of $1,028,000 and net cash used
in opera ng ac vi es of $220,000, compared to a net loss of $545,000, and net cash
provided by opera ng ac vi es of $181,000 in the year ended December 31, 2017
(“Fiscal 2017”). The Company’s cash posi on increased by $77,000 in Fiscal 2018 and
decreased by $120,000 in Fiscal 2017.
As of December 31, 2018, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $21,873,000.
Over the course of the last several fiscal years, the Company has implemented a
number of expense and personnel cuts, implemented a salary and commission deferral
program, consolidated certain manufacturing opera ons of the Company, and
refinanced debt. The salary deferral program consisted of a 20% salary deferral for the
Company’s Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer/Principal Financial Oﬃcer Melissa Waterhouse and
its non‐execu ve VP Opera ons through September 30, 2018. In the fourth quarter
Fiscal 2018, the salary deferral level was reduced to 10% given the length of me the
deferral has been in place and the increasing balances on the deferred compensa on.
As of December 31, 2018, the Company owed these two individuals total deferred
compensa on of $167,000. The Company did not make any deferral payments in Fiscal
2018 and made payment of $27,000 in payments in Fiscal 2017. As cash flow from
opera ons allows, the Company intends to make payments related to the salary
deferral program, however the deferral program is con nuing and the Company
expects it will con nue for up to another 12 months.
The Company’s current cash balances, together with cash generated from future
opera ons and amounts available under its credit facili es may not be suﬃcient to
fund opera ons through April 2020. The Company’s current line of credit expires on
June 22, 2020 and has a maximum availability of $1,500,000. However, the amount
available under the line of credit is based upon the balance of the Company’s accounts
receivable and inventory so the maximum amount is not available to borrow. As of
December 31, 2018, based on the Company’s availability calcula on, there were no
addi onal amounts available under the line of credit because the Company draws any
balance available on a daily basis. If sales levels con nue to decline, the Company will
have reduced availability on the line of credit due to decreased accounts receivable
balances. The Company would also expect its inventory levels to decrease if sales levels
decline further, which would result in further reduced availability on the line of credit. In
addi on to decreased inventory value, as a result of an amendment executed on June
25, 2018, the amount available under the inventory component of the line of credit
was changed to 40% of eligible inventory plus up to 10% of Eligible Generic Packaging
Components not to exceed the lesser of $250,000 (“Inventory Sub‐Cap Limit”) or 100%
of Eligible Accounts Receivable. In addi on, star ng July 1, 2018, the Inventory Sub‐Cap
Limit is being permanently reduced by $10,000 per month on the first day of each
month un l the Inventory Sub‐Cap Limit is reduced to $0. Although this “staggered”
reduc on did not have a material immediate impact on our availability under the line
of credit, it will eventually result in no availability under the line of credit related to
inventory and the line of credit will be an accounts receivable based line only.
If availability under the line of credit is not suﬃcient to sa sfy the Company’s working
capital and capital expenditure requirements, the Company will be required to obtain
addi onal credit facili es or sell addi onal equity securi es, or delay capital
expenditures which could have a material adverse eﬀect on its business. There is no
assurance that such financing will be available or that the Company will be able to
complete financing on sa sfactory terms, if at all.
The Company’s ability to remain compliant with obliga ons under its current credit
facili es will depend on the Company’s ability to replace lost sales and further increase
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materials are determined on an average cost basis. At December 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, the Company established an allowance for slow moving and
obsolete inventory of $268,000 and $500,000, respec vely.
[4]
Income taxes: The Company follows ASC 740 “Income Taxes” (“ASC 740”)
which prescribes the asset and liability method whereby deferred tax assets and
liabili es are determined based on diﬀerences between financial repor ng and tax
bases of assets and liabili es, and are measured using the enacted laws and tax rates
that will be in eﬀect when the diﬀerences are expected to reverse. The measurement
of deferred tax assets is reduced, if necessary, by a valua on allowance for any tax
benefits that are not expected to be realized. The eﬀect on deferred tax assets and
liabili es of a change in tax rates is recognized in the period that such tax rate changes
are enacted. Under ASC 740, tax benefits are recorded only for tax posi ons that are
more likely than not to be sustained upon examina on by tax authori es. The amount
recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent
likely to be realized upon ul mate se lement. Unrecognized tax benefits are tax
benefits claimed in the Company’s tax returns that do not meet these recogni on and
measurement standards.
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Reform Act was signed into law. Among the provisions,
the Tax Reform ACT reduces the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate from a
maximum of 35% to a flat 21% eﬀec ve January 1, 2018, requires companies to pay a
one‐ me transi on tax on deemed repatriated earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries
that were previously tax deferred, and creates new taxes on certain foreign sourced
earnings. At December 31, 2018 we have completed our accoun ng for the tax eﬀects
of the enactment of the Tax Reform Act. We have finalized the tax eﬀects on our
exis ng deferred tax balances and the one‐ me transi on tax under Staﬀ Accoun ng
Bulle n No. 118 ("SAB 118"). We have also included current year impacts of the Tax
Reform Act in our tax provision.
In Fiscal 2017, the Company recognized the provisional tax impact related to the
revalua on of deferred tax assets and liabili es and included these amounts in its
financial statements for Fiscal 2017. Deferred income tax assets and liabili es are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary diﬀerences are expected to reverse. As a result of the
reduc on in the U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% under the Tax
Reform Act, the Company revalued its net U.S. deferred income tax assets and liabili es
at December 31, 2017 from $5,400,000 to $3,600,000, a decrease of $1,800,000. In
addi on, the deferred income tax asset valua on allowance increased by 1,800,000 as
a result of the reduc on in the corporate income tax rate.
[5]
Deprecia on and amor za on: Property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on the straight‐line method over their es mated useful lives; generally 3‐5
years for equipment and 30 years for buildings. Leasehold improvements and
capitalized lease assets are amor zed by the straight‐line method over the shorter of
their es mated useful lives or the term of the lease. Intangible assets include the cost of
patent applica ons, which are deferred and charged to opera ons over 19 years. The
accumulated amor za on of patents is $182,000 at December 31, 2018 and $175,000
at December 31, 2017. Annual amor za on expense of such intangible assets is
expected to be $7,000 per year for the next 5 years.
[6]
Revenue recogni on: The Company adopted ASU 2014‐09, “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” in the first quarter of Fiscal 2018.The Company's revenues
result from the sale of goods and reflect the considera on to which the Company
expects to be en tled. The Company records revenues based on a five‐step model in
accordance with ASU 2014‐09. The Company has defined purchase orders as contracts
in accordance with ASU 2014‐09. For its customer contracts, the Company’s
performance obliga ons are iden fied; which is delivering goods at a determined
transac on price, alloca on of the contract transac on price with performance
obliga ons (when applicable), and recogni on of revenue when (or as) the
performance obliga on is transferred to the customer. Goods are transferred when
the customer obtains control of the goods (which is upon shipment to the customer).
The Company's revenues are recorded at a point in me from the sale of tangible
products. Revenues are recognized when products are shipped.
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In Fiscal 2018, the Company elected the Modified Retrospec ve Method (the
"Cumulate Eﬀect Method") to comply with ASU 2014‐09. The Cumula ve Eﬀect
Method does not aﬀect the amounts for the prior periods, but requires that the current
period be reported in accordance with ASU 2014‐09. ASU 2014‐09 was adopted on
January 1, 2018 which was the first day of the Company's 2018 fiscal year. There was
no material impact on the Company’s financial posi on or results of opera ons.
Product returns, discounts and allowances are variable considera on and are recorded
as a reduc on of revenue in the same period that the related sale is recorded. The
Company has reviewed the overall sales transac ons for variable considera on and has
determined that these costs are not significant. The Company has not experienced any
impairment losses, has no future performance obliga ons and does not capitalize costs
to obtain or fulfill contracts.
[7]
Shipping and handling: Shipping and handling fees charged to customers
are included in net sales, and shipping and handling costs incurred by the Company, to
the extent of those costs charged to customers, are included in cost of sales.
[8]
Research and development: Research and development (“R&D”) costs are
charged to opera ons when incurred. These costs include salaries, benefits, travel,
costs associated with regulatory applica ons, supplies, deprecia on of R&D equipment
and other miscellaneous expenses.
[9]
Net loss per common share: Basic loss per common share is calculated by
dividing net loss by the weighted average number of outstanding common shares
during the period.
Poten al common shares outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2017:
December 31, 2018

December 31, 2017

Warrants

2,000,000

2,060,000

Op ons

2,222,000

2,147,000

Total

4,222,000

4,207,000

For Fiscal 2018 and Fiscal 2017, the number of securi es not included in the diluted loss
per share was 4,222,000 and 4,207,000, respec vely, as their eﬀect was an ‐dilu ve
due to net loss in each year.
[10]
Use of es mates: The prepara on of financial statements in conformity
with accoun ng principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make es mates and assump ons that aﬀect the reported amounts of
assets and liabili es and disclosure of con ngent assets and liabili es at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
repor ng period. Our management believes the major es mates and assump ons
impac ng our financial statements are the following:
·

es mates of the fair value of stock op ons and warrants at date of grant; and

.

es mates of accounts receivable reserves; and

·

es mates of the inventory reserves; and

·

es mates of accruals and liabili es; and

.

deferred tax valua on.

The fair value of stock op ons and warrants issued to employees, members of our
Board of Directors, and consultants in connec on with debt financings is es mated on
the date of grant based on the Black‐Scholes op ons‐pricing model u lizing certain
assump ons for a risk free interest rate; vola lity; and expected remaining lives of the
awards. The assump ons used in calcula ng the fair value of share‐based payment
awards represent management's best es mates, but these es mates involve inherent
uncertain es and the applica on of management judgment.
As a result, if factors change and the Company uses diﬀerent assump ons, the
Company's equity‐based compensa on expense could be materially diﬀerent in the
future. In addi on, the Company is required to es mate the expected forfeiture rate
and only recognize expense for those shares expected to vest. In es ma ng the
Company's forfeiture rate, the Company analyzed its historical forfeiture rate, the
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carried at fair value with any changes in fair value recorded in the results of opera ons.
The weighted average fair value of warrants issued and outstanding was $0.18 in both
Fiscal 2018 and Fiscal 2017. (See Note H [3] – Stockholders’ Equity)

If the Company's actual forfeiture rate is materially diﬀerent from its es mate, or if the
Company reevaluates the forfeiture rate in the future, the equity‐based compensa on
expense could be significantly diﬀerent from what we have recorded in the current
period.

[14]
Concentra on of credit risk: The Company sells products primarily to
United States customers and distributors. Credit is extended based on an evalua on of
the customer’s financial condi on.

[11]
Impairment of long‐lived assets: The Company records impairment losses
on long‐lived assets used in opera ons when events and circumstances indicate that
the assets might be impaired and the undiscounted cash flows es mated to be
generated by those assets are less than the carrying amounts of those assets.

At December 31, 2018, one customer accounted for 56.5% of the Company’s net
accounts receivable. A substan al por on of this balance was collected in the first
quarter of the year ending December 31, 2019. Due to the long standing nature of the
Company’s rela onship with this customer and contractual obliga ons, the Company is
confident it will recover these amounts.

[12]
Financial Instruments: The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabili es
approximate their fair value based on the short term nature of those items.

At December 31, 2017, one customer accounted for 38.4% of the Company’s net
accounts receivable. A substan al por on of this balance was collected in the first
quarter of the year ending December 31, 2018.

Es mated fair value of financial instruments is determined using available market
informa on. In evalua ng the fair value informa on, considerable judgment is required
to interpret the market data used to develop the es mates. The use of diﬀerent
market assump ons and/or diﬀerent valua on techniques may have a material eﬀect
on the es mated fair value amounts.

The Company has established an allowance for doub ul accounts of $36,000 and
$52,000 at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respec vely, based on factors
surrounding the credit risk of our customers and other informa on.

Actual results may diﬀer from es mates and assump ons of future events.

One of the Company’s customers accounted for 44% of net sales in Fiscal 2018. Two of
the Company’s customers accounted for 35.1% and 14.6% of net sales of the Company
in Fiscal 2017. The loss of an account in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2017 is the reason
why there is only one major customer in Fiscal 2018. The account lost in Fiscal 2017 is a
subject of li ga on we ini ated against a former Vice President, Sales & Marke ng/
Sales Consultant (See Note D – Li ga on/Legal Ma ers).

Accordingly, the es mates of fair value presented herein may not be indica ve of the
amounts that could be realized in a current market exchange.
ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” (“ASC Topic 820”)
establishes a hierarchy for ranking the quality and reliability of the informa on used to
determine fair values. ASC Topic 820 requires that assets and liabili es carried at fair
value be classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:

The Company maintains certain cash balances at financial ins tu ons that are federally
insured and at mes the balances have exceeded federally insured limits.
[15]
Repor ng comprehensive income: The Company reports comprehensive
income in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 220, “Repor ng Comprehensive
Income” (“ASC Topic 220”). The provisions of ASC Topic 220 require the Company to
report the change in the Company's equity during the period from transac ons and
events other than those resul ng from investments by, and distribu ons to, the
shareholders. For Fiscal 2018 and Fiscal 2017, comprehensive income was the same as
net income.

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted market prices in ac ve markets for iden cal assets or
liabili es.
Level 2: Unadjusted quoted prices in ac ve markets for similar assets or liabili es,
unadjusted quoted prices for iden cal or similar assets or liabili es in markets that
are not ac ve, or inputs other than quoted prices are observable for the asset or
liability.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

[16]
Reclassifica ons: Certain items have been reclassified from the prior years
to conform to the current year presenta on.

The Company endeavors to u lize the best available informa on in measuring fair
value. Financial assets and liabili es are classified based on the lowest level of input that
is significant to the fair value measurement. The following methods and assump ons
were used by the Company in es ma ng its fair value disclosures for financial
instruments:

[17]

New accoun ng pronouncements:

In the year ended December 31, 2018, we adopted the following accoun ng
standards set forth by the Financial Accoun ng Standards Board (“FASB”):
ASU 2014‐09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, issued in May 2014, provides
guidance for revenue recogni on. The core principle of ASU 2014‐09 is that a company
will recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the considera on to which the company expects to be en tled in
exchange for those goods or services. In doing so, companies will need to use more
judgment and make more es mates than under current guidance. Examples of the use
of judgments and es mates may include iden fying performance obliga ons in the
contract, es ma ng the amount of variable considera on to include in the transac on
price and alloca ng the transac on price to each separate performance obliga on. The
update also requires more detailed disclosures to enable users of financial statements
to understand the nature, amount, ming, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
arising from contracts with customers. ASU 2014‐09 provides for two transi on
methods to the new guidance: a retrospec ve approach and a modified retrospec ve
approach. In August 2015, ASU 2015‐14, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers:
Deferral of the Eﬀec ve Date” was issued as a revision to ASU 2014‐09. ASU 2015‐14
revised the eﬀec ve date to fiscal years, and interim periods within those years,
beginning a er December 15, 2017. Subsequently, addi onal updates were issued
related to this topic, ASU 2016‐08, ASU 2016‐10, ASU 2016‐12 and ASU 2016‐20. Early
adop on of ASU 2014‐09 is permi ed but not prior to periods beginning a er
December 15, 2016 (i.e. the original adop on date per ASU No. 2014‐09).

Cash and Cash Equivalents—The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet
for cash and cash equivalents approximates its fair value due to the short‐term
maturity of these instruments.
Line of Credit and Long‐Term Debt—The carrying amounts of the Company’s
borrowings under its line of credit agreement and other long‐term debt
approximates fair value, based upon current interest rates, some of which are
variable interest rates.
[13]
Accoun ng for share‐based payments and stock warrants: In accordance
with the provisions of ASC Topic 718, “Accoun ng for Stock Based Compensa on”, the
Company recognizes share‐based payment expense for stock op ons and warrants.
The weighted average fair value of op ons issued and outstanding in Fiscal 2018 and
Fiscal 2017 was $0.13 in each year. (See Note H [2] – Stockholders’ Equity)
In Fiscal 2018, the Company accounted for deriva ve instruments in accordance with
ASC Topic 815 “Deriva ves and Hedging” (“ASC Topic 815”). The guidance within ASC
Topic 815 requires the Company to recognize all deriva ves as either assets or liabili es
on the statement of financial posi on unless the contract, including common stock
warrants, se les in the Company’s own stock and qualifies as an equity instrument. A
contract designated as an equity instrument is included in equity at its fair value, with
no further fair value adjustments required; and if designated as an asset or liability is
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The Company's revenues result from the sale of goods and reflect the considera on to
which the Company expects to be en tled. The Company records revenues based on a
five‐step model in accordance with ASU 2014‐09. The Company has defined purchase
orders as contracts in accordance with ASU 2014‐09. For its customer contracts, the
Company’s performance obliga ons are iden fied; which is delivering goods at a
determined transac on price, alloca on of the contract transac on price with
performance obliga ons (when applicable), and recogni on of revenue when (or as)
the performance obliga on is transferred to the customer. Goods are transferred
when the customer obtains control of the goods (which is upon shipment to the
customer). The Company's revenues are recorded at a point in me from the sale of
tangible products. Revenues are recognized when products are shipped.
The Company has elected the Modified Retrospec ve Method (the "Cumulate Eﬀect
Method") to comply with ASU 2014‐09. The Cumula ve Eﬀect Method does not aﬀect
the amounts for the prior periods, but requires that the current period be reported in
accordance with ASU 2014‐09. ASU 2014‐09 was adopted on January 1, 2018 which
was the first day of the Company's 2018 fiscal year. There was no material impact on
the Company’s financial posi on or results of opera ons.
Product returns, discounts and allowances are variable considera on and are recorded
as a reduc on of revenue in the same period that the related sale is recorded. The
Company has reviewed the overall sales transac ons for variable considera on and has
determined that these costs are not significant. The Company has not experienced any
impairment losses, has no future performance obliga ons and does not capitalize costs
to obtain or fulfill contracts.
The following accoun ng standards have been issued prior to the end of Fiscal 2018
but, did not require adop on as of Fiscal 2018:
ASU 2016‐02, “Leases”, issued in February 2016, requires a lessee to recognize a lease
liability and a right‐of‐use asset on its balance sheet for all leases, including opera ng
leases, with a term greater than 12 months. Lease classifica on will determine whether
a lease is reported as a financing transac on in the income statement and statement of
cash flows. ASU 2016‐02 does not substan ally change lessor accoun ng, but it does
make certain changes related to leases for which collectability of the lease payments is
uncertain or there are significant variable payments. Addi onally, ASU 2016‐02 makes
several other targeted amendments including a) revising the defini on of lease
payments to include fixed payments by the lessee to cover lessor costs related to
ownership of the underlying asset such as for property taxes or insurance; b) narrowing
the defini on of ini al direct costs which an en ty is permi ed to capitalize to include
only those incremental costs of a lease that would not have been incurred if the lease
had not been obtained; c) requiring seller‐lessees in a sale‐leaseback transac on to
recognize the en re gain from the sale of the underlying asset at the me of sale rather
than over the leaseback term; and d) expanding disclosures to provide quan ta ve and
qualita ve informa on about lease transac ons. ASU 2016‐02 is eﬀec ve for all annual
and interim periods beginning January 1, 2019, and is required to be applied
retrospec vely to the earliest period presented at the date of ini al applica on, with
early adop on permi ed.
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linked financial instruments (or embedded features) with down round features. When
determining whether certain financial instruments should be classified as liabili es or
equity instruments, a down round feature will no longer preclude equity classifica on
when assessing whether the instrument is indexed to an en ty’s own stock. The
amendments also clarify exis ng disclosure requirements for equity‐classified
instruments. As a result, a freestanding equity‐linked financial instrument (or embed‐
ded conversion op on) would not be accounted for as a deriva ve liability at fair value
as a result of the existence of a down round feature. For freestanding equity classified
financial instruments, the amendments require en es that present earnings per share
(EPS) in accordance with Topic 260 to recognize the eﬀect of the down round feature
when it is triggered. That eﬀect is treated as a dividend and as a reduc on of income
available to common shareholders in basic EPS. Conver ble instruments with
embedded conversion op ons that have down round features are now subject to the
specialized guidance for con ngent beneficial conversion features (in Subtopic 470‐20,
Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Op ons), including related EPS guidance (in
Topic 260). ASU 2017‐11 is eﬀec ve for fiscal years, and interim periods within those
fiscal years, beginning a er December 15, 2018. Early adop on is permi ed. The
Company will adopt ASU 2017‐11 in the first quarter of the year ending December 31,
2019 and does not expect such adop on to have an impact on its financial posi on or
results of opera ons.
ASU 2018‐07, “Compensa on ‐ Stock Compensa on/Improvements to Nonemployee
Share‐Based Payment Accoun ng”, issued in June 2018, expands the scope of Topic
718 to include share‐based payment transac ons for acquiring goods and services
from nonemployees. The requirements of Topic 718 must be applied to nonemployee
awards except for certain exemp ons specified in the amendment. ASU 2018‐07 is
eﬀec ve for fiscal years beginning a er December 15, 2018, including interim
repor ng periods within that fiscal year. Early adop on is permi ed, but no earlier than
an en ty’s adop on date of Topic 606. The Company will adopt ASU 2018‐07 in the
first quarter of the year ending December 31, 2019 and does not expect such adop on
to have a material impact, if any impact, on its financial posi on or results of
opera ons.
ASU 2018‐13, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework ‐ Changes
to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement”, issued in August 2018,
adds, modifies and removes several disclosure requirements rela ve to the three levels
of inputs used to measure fair value in accordance with Topic 820, “Fair Value
Measurement.” ASU 2018‐13 is eﬀec ve for fiscal years beginning a er December 15,
2019, including interim periods within that fiscal year. Early adop on is permi ed. The
Company is evalua ng the impact of ASU 2018‐13.
Any other new accoun ng pronouncements recently issued, but not yet eﬀec ve, have
been reviewed and determined to be not applicable or were related to technical
amendments or codifica on. As a result, the adop on of such new accoun ng
pronouncements, when eﬀec ve, is not expected to have a material eﬀect on the
Company’s financial posi on or results of opera ons.
NOTE B ‐ INVENTORY

ASU 2018‐11, “Leases (Topic 842); Targeted Improvements”, issued in July 2018,
provides a transi on elec on to not restate compara ve periods for the eﬀects of
applying the new standard. This transi on elec on permits en es to change the date
of ini al applica on to the beginning of the year of adop on and to recognize the
eﬀects of applying the new standard as a cumula ve‐eﬀect adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings.

Inventory is comprised of the following:

ASU 2018‐20, “Leases (Topic 842”), issued in December 2018, clarifies that lessor costs
paid directly to a third‐party by a lessee on behalf of the lessor, are no longer required
to be recognized in the lessor's financial statements.
The Company will adopt ASU 2016‐02, ASU 2018‐11 and ASU 2018‐20 in the first
quarter of the year ending December 31, 2019 and does not expect such adop on to
have a material impact on its financial posi on or results of opera ons.

3 1 ,

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Raw Materials

$ 778,000

$1,023,000

Work in Process

184,000

403,000

Finished Goods

325,000

547,000

(268,000)

(500,000)

$1,019,000

$1,473,000

Allowance for slow moving
and obsolete inventory

ASU 2017‐11, “Earnings Per Share, Dis nguishing Liabili es from Equity, Deriva ves
and Hedging”, issued in July 2017, changes the classifica on analysis of certain equity‐
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Table con nued from previous column:

NOTE C ‐ PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment, at cost, are as follows:

Land
Buildings and improvements
Manufacturing and warehouse equipment
Oﬃce equipment (incl. furniture and fixtures)

December 31,
2018
$
102,000
1,352,000
2,108,000
412,000

Less accumulated deprecia on

December 31,
2017
$ 102,000
1,352,000
2,108,000
412,000

3,974,000

3,974,000

(3,256,000)

(3,182,000)

$

718,000

$

Crestmark Equipment Term Loan: 38 month
equipment loan related to the purchase of
manufacturing equipment, at an interest rate of WSJ
Prime Rate plus 3%; or 8.50% as of the date of this
report.
Term Loan with Cherokee Financial, LLC: 1 year
note at an annual fixed interest rate of 12% paid
quarterly in arrears with first interest payment being
made on May 15, 2018 and a balloon payment
being due on February 15, 2019.

792,000

Less debt discount & debt issuance costs (Cherokee
Financial, LLC loan)
Total debt, net

Deprecia on expense was $74,000 and $76,000 in Fiscal 2018 and Fiscal 2017,
respec vely.
NOTE D ‐ ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accrued expenses and other current liabili es consisted of the following:

Accoun ng fees
Interest payable
Accounts receivable credit balances
Sales tax payable
Deferred compensa on
Customer deposits
Other current liabili es

2 0 1 8

December 31,
2018
$ 75,000
13,000
34,000
115,000
167,000
25,000
20,000

December 31,
2017
$ 75,000
11,000
11,000
89,000
113,000
0
12,000

$ 449,000

$ 311,000

Current por on
Long‐term por on, net of current por on

Loan and Security Agreement with Cherokee
Financial, LLC: 5 year note at an annual interest rate of
8% plus a 1% annual oversight fee, interest only and
oversight fee paid quarterly with first payment being
made on May 15, 2015, annual principal reduc on
payment of $75,000 due each year beginning on
February 15, 2016, with a final balloon payment being
due on February 15, 2020. Loan is collateralized by a
first security interest in building, land and property
Crestmark Line of Credit: 3 year line of credit maturing
on June 22, 2020 with interest payable at a variable
rate based on WSJ Prime plus 3% with a floor of
5.25%; loan fee of 0.5% annually & monthly
maintenance fee of 0.3% on actual loan balance from
prior month. Early termina on fee of 2% if terminated
prior to natural expira on. Loan is collateralized by first
security interest in receivables and inventory and the
all‐in interest rate as of the date of this report is
13.64%.

December
31, 2017

$ 975,000

$ 1,050,000

502,000

446,000

December
31, 2017

$

$

19,000

31,000

150,000
1,646,000

0
1,527,000

(111,000)
$1,535,000
$ 739,000
$ 796,000

(203,000)
$ 1,324,000
$ 533,000
$ 791,000

At December 31, 2018, the following are the debt maturi es for each of the next five
years:
2019
$
739,000(1)
2020
796,000
2021
0
2022
0
2023
0
$ 1,535,000
(1) Although the Crestmark Line of Credit does not mature un l June 22, 2020, the
balance on the line of credit ($502,000) is included in the debt maturity for 2019 given
the “demand” nature of the line of credit.
LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT WITH CHEROKEE FINANCIAL, LLC.
(“CHEROKEE”)
On March 26, 2015, the Company entered into a LSA with Cherokee (the “Cherokee
LSA”). The debt with Cherokee is collateralized by a first security interest in real
estate and machinery and equipment. Under the Cherokee LSA, the Company was
provided the sum of $1,200,000 in the form of a 5‐year Note at a fixed annual
interest rate of 8%. The Company is making interest only payments quarterly on the
Cherokee LSA, with the first interest payment paid on May 15, 2015. The Company is
also required to make an annual principal reduc on payment of $75,000 on each
anniversary of the date of the closing; with the first principal reduc on payment
being made on February 15, 2016 and the most recent principal reduc on payment
being made on February 15, 2019; par ally with proceeds received from a new,
larger term loan with Cherokee (See Note J – Subsequent Event). A final balloon
payment is due on March 26, 2020. In addi on to the 8% interest, the Company
pays Cherokee a 1% annual fee for oversight and administra on of the loan. This
oversight fee is paid in cash and is paid contemporaneously with the quarterly
interest payments. The Company can pay oﬀ the Cherokee loan at any me with no
penalty; except that a 1% administra on fee would be required to be paid to
Cherokee to close out all par cipa ons.
The Company received net proceeds of $80,000 a er $1,015,000 of debt payments,
and $105,000 in other expenses and fees. The expenses and fees (with the excep on
of the interest expense) are being deducted from the balance on the Cherokee LSA
and are being amor zed over the term of the debt (in accordance with ASU No.
2015‐03).
The Company recognized $173,000 in interest expense related to the Cherokee LSA
in Fiscal 2018 (of which $94,000 is debt issuance cost amor za on recorded as
interest expense) and $173,000 in interest expense related to the Cherokee LSA in

NOTE E ‐ DEBT AND LINE OF CREDIT
The Company’s Line of Credit and Debt consisted of the following as of December 31,
2018 and December 31, 2017:
December
31, 2018

December
31, 2018
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Fiscal 2017 (of which $94,000 is debt issuance cost amor za on recorded as interest
expense).
The Company had $13,000 in accrued interest expense at December 31, 2018 and,
$11,000 in accrued interest expense at December 31, 2017.
As of December 31, 2018, the balance on the Cherokee LSA was $975,000; however
the discounted balance was $866,000. As of December 31, 2017, the balance on the
Cherokee LSA was $1,050,000; however the discounted balance was $847,000.
LINE OF CREDIT WITH CRESTMARK BANK (“CRESTMARK”)
On June 29, 2015 (the “Closing Date”), the Company entered into a Loan and
Security Agreement (“LSA”) with Crestmark related to a revolving line of credit (the
“Crestmark LOC”). The Crestmark LOC is used for working capital and general
corporate purposes and expires on June 22, 2020.
The Crestmark LOC provides the Company with a revolving line of credit up to
$1,500,000 (“Maximum Amount”) with a minimum loan balance requirement of
$500,000. The Crestmark LOC is secured by a first security interest in the Company’s
inventory, and receivables and security interest in all other assets of the Company (in
accordance with permi ed prior encumbrances).
The Maximum Amount is subject to an Advance Formula comprised of: 1) 90% of
Eligible Accounts Receivables (excluding, receivables remaining unpaid for more than
90 days from the date of invoice and sales made to en es outside of the United
States), and 2) up to 40% of eligible inventory plus up to 10% of Eligible Generic
Packaging Components not to exceed the lesser of $350,000, or 100% of Eligible
Accounts Receivable. However, as a result of an amendment executed on June 25,
2018, the amount available under the inventory component of the line of credit was
changed to 40% of eligible inventory plus up to 10% of Eligible Generic Packaging
Components not to exceed the lesser of $250,000 (“Inventory Sub‐Cap Limit”) or
100% of Eligible Accounts Receivable. In addi on, the Inventory Sub‐Cap Limit is
being permanently reduced by $10,000 per month as of July 1, 2018 and therea er
on the first day of the month un l the Inventory Sub‐Cap Limit is reduced to $0.
So long as any obliga ons are due to Crestmark, the Company must comply with a
minimum Tangible Net Worth (“TNW”) Covenant. As a result of an amendment
executed on June 25, 2018, the TNW covenant was reduced from $650,000 to
$150,000 as of June 30, 2018. Addi onally, if a quarterly net income is reported, the
TNW covenant will increase by 50% of the reported net income. If a quarterly net
loss is reported, the TNW covenant will remain the same as the prior quarter’s
covenant amount. TNW is s ll defined as: Total Assets less Total Liabili es less the
sum of (i) the aggregate amount of non‐trade accounts receivables, including
accounts receivables from aﬃliated or related persons, (ii) prepaid expenses, (iii)
deposits, (iv) net lease hold improvements, (v) goodwill and (vi) any other asset that
would be treated as an intangible asset under GAAP; plus Subordinated Debt.
Subordinated Debt means any and all indebtedness presently or in the future
incurred by the Company to any creditor of the Company entering into a wri en
subordina on agreement with Crestmark. The Company has not complied with the
TNW covenant since the year ended December 31, 2017 but, has received waivers
from Crestmark. As considera on for the gran ng of the waiver for December 31,
2017, Crestmark increased the interest rate on the Crestmark LOC from Prime Rate
plus 2% to Prime Rate plus 3%. The increase in interest rate was eﬀec ve as of May
1, 2018. Therea er, the Company was charged a fee of $5,000 for each waiver. The
Company is not in compliance with the TNW covenant as of December 31, 2018,
however the Company has received a waiver from Crestmark related to its non‐
compliance with the TNW covenant. The Company will be charged a fee of $5,000
for this waiver.
If the Company terminates the LSA prior to June 22, 2020, an early exit fee of 2% of
the Maximum Amount (plus any addi onal amounts owed to Crestmark at the me
of termina on) would be due.
In the event of a default of the LSA, which includes but is not limited to, failure of the
Company to make any payment when due and non‐compliance with the TNW
covenant (that is not waived by Crestmark), Crestmark is permi ed to charge an
Extra Rate. The Extra Rate is the Company’s then current interest rate plus 12.75%
per annum. As of the date of this report, Crestmark has not elected to charge the
F‐10
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Extra Rate even though the Company is not in compliance with the TNW covenant
as of December 31, 2018.
Interest on the Crestmark LOC is at a variable rate based on the Prime Rate plus 3%
with a floor of 5.25%. As of December 31, 2018, the interest only rate on the
Crestmark LOC was 8.50%. As of December 31, 2018, with all fees considered (the
interest rate + an Annual Loan Fee of $7,500 + a monthly maintenance fee of 0.30%
of the actual average monthly balance from the prior month), the interest rate on
the Crestmark LOC was 13.64%.
The Company recognized $76,000 in interest expense related to the Crestmark LOC
in Fiscal 2018 (of which $15,000 is debt issuance cost amor za on recorded as
interest expense). The Company recognized $98,000 in interest expense related to
the Crestmark Line of Credit in Fiscal 2017 (of which $32,000 was debt issuance costs
related to interest expense).
Given the nature of the administra on of the Crestmark LOC, at December 31, 2018,
the Company had $0 in accrued interest expense related to the Crestmark LOC, and
there is $0 in addi onal availability under the Crestmark LOC.
As of December 31, 2018, the balance on the Crestmark LOC was $502,000, and as
of December 31, 2017, the balance on the Crestmark LOC was $446,000.
EQUIPMENT LOAN WITH CRESTMARK
On May 1, 2017, the Company entered into term loan with Crestmark in the amount
of $38,000 related to the purchase of manufacturing equipment. The equipment
loan is collateralized by a first security interest in a specific piece of manufacturing
equipment. The Company executed an amendment to its LSA and Promissory Note
with Crestmark. The amendments addressed the inclusion of the term loan into the
LSA and an extension of the Crestmark LOC. No terms of the Crestmark LOC were
changed in the amendment. The interest rate on the term loan is the WSJ Prime
Rate plus 3%; or 8.5% as of the date of this report. The Company incurred $2,000 in
interest expense in Fiscal 2018 related to the Equipment Loan and $1,000 in interest
expense related to the Equipment Loan in Fiscal 2017. The balance on the
equipment loan was $19,000 as of December 31, 2018, and $31,000 as of December
31, 2017.
TERM LOAN WITH CHEROKEE
On March 2, 2018, the Company entered into a one‐year Loan Agreement made as
of February 15, 2018 (the “Closing Date”) with Cherokee under which Cherokee
provided the Company with $150,000 (the “Cherokee Term Loan”). The proceeds
from the Cherokee Term Loan were used by the Company to pay a $75,000 principal
reduc on payment to Cherokee that was due on February 15, 2018 and $1,000 in
legal fees incurred by Cherokee. Net proceeds (to be used for working capital and
general business purposes) were $74,000.
The annual interest rate for the Cherokee Term Loan was 12% to be paid quarterly in
arrears with the first interest payment being made on May 15, 2018. The Cherokee
Term Loan is required to be paid in full on February 15, 2019 unless paid oﬀ earlier
(with no penalty) at the Company’s sole discre on. In connec on with the Cherokee
Term Loan, the Company issued 150,000 restricted shares of common stock to
Cherokee on March 8, 2018.
In the event of default, this includes, but is not limited to, the Company’s inability to
make any payments due under the Cherokee Term Loan, Cherokee has the right to
increase the interest rate on the Cherokee Term Loan to 18% and the Company
would be required to issue and addi onal 150,000 restricted shares of common
stock to Cherokee.
The Company recognized $33,000 in interest expense related to the Cherokee Term
Loan in Fiscal 2018 (of which $19,000 was debt issuance costs recorded as interest
expense) and $0 in interest expense in Fiscal 2017 (as the term loan was not yet in
place in Fiscal 2017). As of December 31, 2018, the balance on the Cherokee Term
Loan was $150,000; however, the discounted balance was $148,000. As of
December 31, 2017, the balance on the Cherokee Term loan was $0 (as the facility
was not in place at December 31, 2017).
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NOTE F – INCOME TAXES
The Company follows ASC 740 “Income Taxes” (“ASC 740”) which prescribes the asset
and liability method whereby deferred tax assets and liabili es are determined based
on diﬀerences between financial repor ng and tax bases of assets and liabili es, and
are measured using the enacted laws and tax rates that will be in eﬀect when the
diﬀerences are expected to reverse. The measurement of deferred tax assets is
reduced, if necessary, by a valua on allowance for any tax benefits that are not
expected to be realized. The eﬀect on deferred tax assets and liabili es of a change in
tax rates is recognized in the period that such tax rate changes are enacted. Under ASC
740, tax benefits are recorded only for tax posi ons that are more likely than not to be
sustained upon examina on by tax authori es. The amount recognized is measured as
the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely to be realized upon
ul mate se lement. Unrecognized tax benefits are tax benefits claimed in the
Company’s tax returns that do not meet these recogni on and measurement
standards.
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Reform Act was signed into law. Among the provisions,
the Tax Reform ACT reduces the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate from a
maximum of 35% to a flat 21% eﬀec ve January 1, 2018, requires companies to pay a
one‐ me transi on tax on deemed repatriated earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries
that were previously tax deferred, and creates new taxes on certain foreign sourced
earnings.
At December 31, 2018 we have completed our accoun ng for the tax eﬀects of the
Tax Reform Act. We have finalized the tax eﬀects on our exis ng deferred tax balances
and the one‐ me transi on tax under Staﬀ Accoun ng Bulle n No. 118 ("SAB 118").
We have also included current year impacts of the Tax Reform Act in our tax provision.
In Fiscal 2017, the Company recognized the provisional tax impact related to the
revalua on of deferred tax assets and liabili es and included these amounts in its
financial statements for Fiscal 2017. Deferred income tax assets and liabili es are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary diﬀerences are expected to reverse. As a result of the
reduc on in the U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% under the Tax
Reform Act, the Company revalued its net U.S. deferred income tax assets and liabili es
at December 31, 2017 from $5,400,000 to $3,600,000, a decrease of $1,800,000. In
addi on, the deferred income tax asset valua on allowance increased by 1,800,000 as
a result of the reduc on in the corporate income tax rate. The ul mate impact in Fiscal
2017 did not diﬀer materially from the provisional amounts.
A reconcilia on of the U.S. Federal statutory income tax rate to the eﬀec ve income
tax rate is as follows:
Year Ended
December 31,
2018
Tax expense at federal statutory rate
(21%)
State tax expense, net of federal tax eﬀect
0%
Permanent ming diﬀerences
0%
Deferred income tax asset valua on allowance
(21%)
Eﬀec ve change in tax rate due to Tax Reform Act
0%
Eﬀec ve income tax rate
0%

Year Ended
December 31,
2017
(34%)
0%
0%
(298%)
332%
0%
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred income tax assets are as follows:

Inventory
Inventory allowance
Allowance for doub ul accounts
Accrued compensa on
Stock based compensa on
Deferred wages payable
Deprecia on—Property, Plant & Equipment
Sales tax reserve
Net opera ng loss carry‐forward
Total gross deferred income tax assets
Less deferred income tax assets valua on allowance
Net deferred income tax assets

Year Ended
December
31, 2018
$9,000
70,000
9,000
22,000
168,000
43,000
(6,000)
0
3,569,000
3,884,000

Year Ended
December
31, 2017
$ 13,000
130,000
13,000
18,000
165,000
29,000
(10,000)
0
3,261,000
3,619,000

(3,884,000)
0

(3,619,000)
$
0

The valua on allowance for deferred income tax assets as of December 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017 was $3,884,000 and $3,619,000, respec vely. The net change in
the deferred income tax assets valua on allowance was $265,000 for Fiscal 2018. The
net change in the deferred income tax assets valua on allowance was $1,583,000 for
Fiscal 2017. The Company believes that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax
assets will not be realized.
As of December 31, 2018, the prior three years remain open for examina on by the
federal or state regulatory agencies for purposes of an audit for tax purposes.
At December 31, 2018, the Company had Federal net opera ng loss carry‐forwards for
income tax purposes of approximately $3,569,000. The Company’s net opera ng loss
carry‐forwards begin to expire in 2019 and con nue to expire through 2035. In
assessing the realizability of deferred income tax assets, management considers
whether or not it is more likely than not that some por on or all deferred income tax
assets will be realized. The ul mate realiza on of deferred income tax assets is
dependent upon the genera on of future taxable income during the periods in which
those temporary diﬀerences become deduc ble. Management considers the
projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment.
The Company’s ability to u lize the opera ng loss carry‐forwards may be subject to an
annual limita on in future periods pursuant to Sec on 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, if future changes in ownership occur.
The Company recognizes poten al interest and penal es related to income tax
posi ons as a component of the provision for income taxes on opera ons. The
Company does not an cipate that total unrecognized tax benefits will materially
change in the next twelve months.
NOTE G – OTHER INCOME / EXPENSE
Other expense in Fiscal 2018 consisted of interest income, interest expense associated
with our credit facili es (our line of credit and equipment loan with Crestmark Bank,
and our loan and security agreement and term loan with Cherokee Financial, LLC)
par ally oﬀset by other income related to gains on certain liabili es. Other expense in
Fiscal 2017 consisted of interest expense associated with our credit facili es (our line of
credit and equipment loan with Crestmark Bank, and our loan and security agreement
with Cherokee Financial, LLC) par ally oﬀset by other income related to gains on
certain liabili es.
NOTE H – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
[1]
Stock op on plans: The Company currently has two non‐statutory stock
op on plans, the Fiscal 2001 Non‐statutory Stock Op on Plan (the “2001 Plan”) and the
2013 Equity Compensa on Plan (the “2013 Plan”). Both plans have been adopted by
our Board of Directors and approved by our shareholders. Both the 2001 Plan and the
2013 Plan have op ons available for future issuance. Any common shares issued as a
result of the exercise of stock op ons would be new common shares issued from our
authorized issued shares.
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[2]
Stock op ons: During Fiscal 2018, the Company issued op ons to purchase 80,000 shares of common stock and during Fiscal 2017, the Company issued op ons to
purchase 40,000 shares of common stock. Op ons issued in Fiscal 2018 were all issued under the 2001 Plan and were issued to four non‐employee members of our board of
directors. Op ons issued in Fiscal 2017 were all issued under the 2001 Plan and were issued to two non‐employee members of our board of directors.
As of December 31, 2016, there were 2,222,000 op ons issued and outstanding under the 2001 Plan. There were no op ons issued under the 2013 Plan, making the total issued and
outstanding op ons 2,222,000 as of December 31, 2018. Of the total op ons issued and outstanding, 2,142,000 were fully vested as of December 31, 2018. As of December 31,
2018, there were 1,495,000 op ons available for issuance under the 2001 Plan and 4,000,000 op ons available under the 2013 Plan.
Stock op on ac vity for Fiscal 2018 and Fiscal 2017 is summarized as follows: (the figures contained within the tables below have been rounded to the nearest thousand)
Shares

Op ons outstanding at beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled/expired

Year Ended December 31, 2018
Weighted Average
Aggregate Intrinsic
Exercise Price
Value as of
December 31, 2017

Year Ended December 31, 2017
Weighted Average
Aggregate Intrinsic
Exercise Price
Value as of
December 31, 2016

Shares

2,147,000

$0.13

2,107,000

$0.13

80,000
0

$0.10
NA

40,000
0

$0.13
NA

0

NA

2,147,000

$0.13

1,647,000

$0.13

(5,000)

$0.26

Op ons outstanding at end of year

2,222,000

$0.13

Op ons exercisable at end of year

2,142,000

$0.13

$3,000

$10,000

The following table presents informa on rela ng to stock op ons outstanding as of December 31, 2018:

Range of Exercise Price
$0.07 ‐ $0.11
$0.12 ‐ $0.15
$0.16 ‐ $0.26
TOTAL

Shares
955,000
815,000
377,000
2,147,000

Op ons Outstanding
Weighted Average
Exercise Price
$0.10
$0.13
$0.19
$0.13

Weighted Average
Remaining Life in Years
6.97
6.78
4.30
6.43

Op ons Exercisable
Weighted Average
Shares
Exercise Price
580,000
$0.10
690,000
$0.13
377,000
$0.19
$0.13
1,647,000

The following table summarizes weighted‐average assump ons using the Black‐Scholes op on‐pricing model used on the date of the grants issued during Fiscal 2018 and Fiscal
2017:
Year Ended December 31
2018
2017
Vola lity
79%
81%
Expected term (years)
10 years
10 years
Risk‐free interest rate
2.90%
2.16%
Dividend yield
0%
0%
The Company recognized $10,000 in share based payment expense related to stock op ons in Fiscal 2018 and $43,000 in share based payment expense related to stock op ons in
Fiscal 2017. As of December 31, 2018, there was approximately $3,000 of total unrecognized share based payment expense related to stock op ons. This cost is expected to be
recognized over 5 months.
[3]
Warrants:
Warrant ac vity for Fiscal 2018 and Fiscal 2017 is summarized as follows. Any common shares issued as a result of the exercise of warrants would be new common shares issued
from our authorized issued shares.
Shares

Warrants outstanding at beginning of
year
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled/expired

Year Ended December 31, 2018
Weighted Average
Aggregate Intrinsic
Exercise Price
Value as of
December 31, 2017

Year Ended December 31, 2017
Weighted Average Aggregate Intrinsic
Exercise Price
Value as of
December 31, 2016

Shares

2,060,000

$0.18

2,060,000

$0.18

0
0
(60,000)

NA
NA
$0.18

0
0
0

NA
NA
NA

Warrants outstanding at end of year

2,000,000

$0.18

2,060,000

$0.18

Warrants exercisable at end of year

2,000,000

$0.18

2,060,000

$0.18

None

None

The Company recognized $0 in debt issuance and deferred finance costs related to the issuance of these warrants outstanding in Fiscal 2018 and Fiscal 2017. As of December 31,
2018, there was $0 of total unrecognized debt issuance costs associated with the issuance of the above warrants outstanding.
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NOTE I – COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND OTHER MATTERS
[1]
Opera ng leases: The Company leases oﬃce and R&D/produc on facili es
in New Jersey under a non‐cancellable opera ng lease through December 31, 2019.
The Company also leases oﬃce support equipment through July 2022. At December
31, 2018, the future minimum rental payments under these opera ng leases are as
follows:
$ 35,000
2019
2020

3,000

2021

3,000

2022

2,000

2023

0

Therea er

0
$ 43,000

Rent expense was $43,000 in Fiscal 2018 and $46,000 in Fiscal 2017.
[2]
Employment agreements: The Company has an employment agreement
in place with its Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer/Principal Financial Oﬃcer, Melissa Waterhouse.
The employment agreement with Ms. Waterhouse provides for a $160,000 annual
salary. It automa cally renews unless either party gives advance no ce of 60 days. The
employment agreement contains severance provisions; in the event the Company
terminates Ms. Waterhouse’s employment for any reason other than cause (which is
defined under the employment agreement), Ms. Waterhouse would receive
severance pay equal to 12 months of her base salary at the me of termina on, with
con nua on of all medical benefits during the twelve‐month period at the Company’s
expense. In addi on, Ms. Waterhouse may tender her resigna on and elect to exercise
the severance provision if she is required to relocate more than 50 miles from the
Company’s New York facility as a con nued condi on of employment, if there is a
substan al change in the responsibili es normally assumed by her posi on, or if she is
asked to commit or conceal an illegal act by an oﬃcer or member of the board of
directors of the Company. In the case of a change in control of the Company, Ms.
Waterhouse would be en tled to severance pay equal to two mes her base salary
under certain circumstances.
[3] Legal:
ABMC v. Todd Bailey
The Company has ongoing li ga on in the Northern District of New York against
Premier Biotech Inc., and its principal, Todd Bailey (“Bailey”) (together the
“Defendants”) that was filed in February 2017. Bailey formerly served as the
Company’s Vice President of Sales and Marke ng and as a sales consultant un l
December 23, 2016. The complaint seeks damages related to any profits and revenues
that results from ac on taken by the Defendants related to Company customers.
In early 2017, the Company became aware of ac ons taken by the Defendants,
including but not limited to, ac on taken specifically related to a Company contract
with a state agency (held by the Company in excess of 10 years). The Company
believes that the Defendants ac ons related to this customer and a RFP that was issued
by the state agency resulted in the loss of the contract award to the Company and the
award of the contract to Peckham Voca onal Industries, Inc. (a then vendor of the
Company) and Premier Biotech, Inc. in July 2017. This contract historically accounted
for 10‐15% of the Company’s annual revenue. The Company did protest the award of
the contract to Peckham and Premier Biotech, and the state agency advised the
Company on July 26, 2017 that they denied the Company’s protest of the award. The
Company con nued to hold a contract with the agency through September 30, 2017.
A er the award of the contract, the Company amended its complaint against the
Defendants to show actual damages caused by the Defendants and to show
proprietary and confiden al informa on (belonging to the Company) used by the
Defendants in their response to the RFP. This confiden al informa on belonging to the
Company enabled the Defendants to comply with specifica ons of the RFP and
undercut the Company’s pricing. The Defendants filed a response to the court
opposing the Company’s supplemental mo on and the Company filed reply papers to
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the Defendants response on November 2, 2017.
In January 2018, the court ruled on the mo on to dismiss (that was filed by the
Defendants in 2017). The court found that there was jurisdic on over the Defendants.
The court did not rule on the other mo ons before them. In February 2018, the
Company filed a mo on for reconsidera on and for leave to serve a supplemental/
amended complaint. The new filing addressed (among other things) the Company’s
intent to further supplement its complaint based on addi onal (subsequent) damage
alleged by the Company on the part of the Defendants. In September 2018, the court
ruled on the mo ons filed in February 2018. The court granted in part and denied in
part our mo ons for reconsidera on. More specifically, our mo ons supplemen ng
claims of the Bailey’s breach of contract and damages related to the same, and Bailey’s
misappropria on of the Company’s trade secrets were granted. The Company’s
mo ons related to unjust enrichment and tor ous interference were not granted.
Defendants’ mo on to dismiss was once again denied. The Company filed its
supplemental mo ons as required on October 12, 2018. On November 1, 2018, the
Defendants filed their response to our supplemental mo ons. In January 2019, an
ini al conference was held to discuss the case management plan and exchange
mandatory disclosures. On January 31, 2019, the court referred the case for
par cipa on in the Mandatory Media on Program. The deadline for comple on of
media on was set for May 31, 2019.
In January 2019, Bailey’s complaint previously filed in Minnesota was transferred as a
counter‐claim in the Company’s complaint against Bailey. Bailey is seeking deferred
commissions of $164,000 he alleges are owed to him by the Company. These amounts
were originally deferred under a deferred compensa on program ini ated in 2013; a
program in which Bailey was one of the par cipants. The Company has responded to
the Bailey counterclaim and believes these amounts are not due to Bailey given the
ac ons indicated in the Company’s li ga on. Given the stage of the li ga on,
management is not yet able to opine on the outcome of its complaint or the
counterclaim.
[4]
Financial Advisory Agreement: The Company entered into a Financial
Advisory Agreement with Landmark Pegasus, Inc. (‘Landmark”). Under the Financial
Advisory Agreement, Landmark provides certain financial advisory services to the
Company for a minimum period of 6 months (which period originally commenced on
January 17, 2014 and through a number of extensions and agreements, was extended
through December 31, 2018. As considera on for these services under the last
extension executed on August 1, 2018, the Company paid Landmark a retainer fee
consis ng of 277,778 restricted shares of common stock and the Company will pay
Landmark a “success fee” for the consumma on of each and any transac on closing
during the term of the Financial Advisory Agreement and for 24 months therea er,
inclusive of a sale or merger, between the Company and any party first introduced to
the Company by Landmark, or for any other transac on not originated by Landmark
but for which Landmark provides substan al support in comple ng during the term of
the Agreement. For certain transac ons, the success fee will be paid part upon
consumma on of a transac on and part paid over a term of not more than five years;
all other transac ons would be paid upon consumma on of the transac on.
As a result of the retainer fees being paid in restricted shares and the resul ng
percentage of common share ownership, Landmark filed a Schedule 13G in October
2016 related to its ownership of the Company’s common stock. Apart from his status
as a shareholder and with respect to the Agreement, there is no material rela onship
between the Company and Landmark.
NOTE J ‐ SUBSEQUENT EVENT
On February 25, 2019 (the “Closing Date”), the Company entered into an agreement
dated (and eﬀec ve) February 13, 2019 (the “Agreement”) with Cherokee under which
Cherokee is providing the Company with a loan in the amount of $200,000. The
Agreement extends the Company’s current Term Loan with Cherokee in the amount of
$150,000 and provides the Company with an addi onal $50,000 in gross proceeds;
$48,000 in net proceeds a er Cherokee’s legal fees in connec on with the financing.
The Company u lized the net proceeds to pay a por on of the $75,000 principal
reduc on payment under the Company’s Loan and Security Agreement with Cherokee
(with the remaining $27,000 being paid with cash on hand).
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NOTE J ‐ SUBSEQUENT EVENT (con nued)
The annual interest rate under the new term loan is 18% paid quarterly in arrears with
the first interest payment being due on May 15, 2019. The loan is required to be paid in
full on February 15, 2020 unless paid oﬀ earlier (with no penalty) at the Company’s sole
discre on. In connec on with the Loan Agreement, the Company issued 200,000
restricted shares of common stock to Cherokee in the first quarter of the year ending
December 31, 2019.
In the event of default, this includes, but is not limited to, the Company’s inability to
make any payments due under the Agreement, Cherokee has the right to increase the
interest rate on the financing to 20%, automa cally add a delinquent payment penalty
of $20,000 to the outstanding principal and the Company would be required to issue
an addi onal 200,000 shares of restricted common stock.
NOTE L‐ SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
The Company operates in one reportable segment.
Informa on concerning net sales by principal geographic loca on is as follows:
Year Ended
December 31,
2018
United States
North America (not domes c)
Europe
Asia/Pacific Rim
South America
Africa

$ 3,411,000
56,000
133,000
25,000
246,000
1,000
$ 3,872,000

Year Ended
December 31,
2017
$ 4,344,000
102,000
127,000
30,000
309,000
2,000
$ 4,914,000

▪

D E C E M B E R

3 1 ,

2 0 1 8
EXHIBIT 31.1/EXHIBIT 31.2

RULE 13a‐14(a)/15d‐14(a) CERTIFICATION
I, Melissa A. Waterhouse, cer fy that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10‐K of American Bio Medica
Corpora on;
2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial informa on
included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condi on, results of opera ons and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this annual report;
4. The registrant's other cer fying oﬃcers and I are responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a‐15(e) and 15d‐15(e)) and internal controls over financial repor ng (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a‐15(f) and 15d‐15(f)) for the small business issuer and have:
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure
controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material informa on rela ng to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those en es, par cularly during the period
in which this annual report is being prepared;
b) designed such internal control over financial repor ng, or caused such internal
control over financial repor ng to be designed under our supervision to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial repor ng and the
prepara on of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accoun ng principles; and
c) evaluated the eﬀec veness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures
and presented in this annual report our conclusions about the eﬀec veness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
annual report based on such evalua on; and
d) Disclosed in this annual report any change in the registrant’s internal control over
financial repor ng that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the small business issuer’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially aﬀected, or is reasonably likely to materially aﬀect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial repor ng; and
5. The registrant’s other cer fying oﬃcers and I have disclosed, based on our most
recent evalua on of internal control over financial repor ng, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit commi ee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent func ons):
a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or opera on of
internal control over financial repor ng which are reasonably likely to adversely
aﬀect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
informa on; and
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other
employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial repor ng.
/s/ Melissa A. Waterhouse
Melissa A. Waterhouse
Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer (Principal Execu ve Oﬃcer)
Principal Financial Oﬃcer
Principal Accoun ng Oﬃcer
Date: April 16, 2019
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EXHIBIT 32.1/EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES‐OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connec on with the Annual Report of American Bio Medica Corpora on (the
“Company”) on Form 10‐K for the period ending December 31, 2018 as filed with the
Securi es and Exchange Commission on April 16. 2019 (the “Report”), I, Melissa A.
Waterhouse, Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer and Principal Financial Oﬃcer of the Company,
cer fy, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350, as adopted pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes‐
Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of sec on 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securi es Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The informa on contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condi on and results of opera ons of the Company.
/s/ Melissa A. Waterhouse
Melissa A. Waterhouse
Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer (Principal Execu ve Oﬃcer)
Principal Financial Oﬃcer
Principal Accoun ng Oﬃcer
April 16, 2019
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AMERICAN BIO MEDICA CORPORATION

PROXY STATEMENT
Year Ended December 31, 2018

AMERICAN BIO MEDICA CORPORATION

122 Smith Road
Kinderhook, New York 12106

April 26, 2019
Dear Shareholder:
You are cordially invited to a end the 2019 Annual Mee ng of Shareholders of American Bio Medica
Corpora on (the “Company”) on Thursday, June 20, 2019, at 10:00 a.m. at the Company’s corporate oﬃces located
at 122 Smith Road, Kinderhook, New York 12106 (the “Annual Mee ng”).
In addi on to the formal items of business to be conducted at the Annual Mee ng, management will report
on the opera ons and ac vi es of the Company and you will have an opportunity to ask ques ons. Directors and
oﬃcers of the Company will be present to respond to any ques ons you may have.
This booklet includes the No ce of Annual Mee ng, No ce of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials and
Proxy Statement. The Proxy Statement describes the business we will conduct at the Annual Mee ng and provides
informa on about the Company that you should consider when you vote your shares.
It is important that your stock be represented at the mee ng. Whether or not you plan to a end the
mee ng in person, we hope that you will vote on ma ers to be considered. You may vote your proxy via the
Internet or by telephone. If you received a printed copy of your proxy materials, you may also vote by mail by
signing, da ng and returning your proxy card in the envelope provided.
On behalf of the Board of Directors and the employees of American Bio Medica Corpora on, I thank you for
your con nued support and look forward to seeing you at the Annual Mee ng.

Sincerely yours,

Melissa A. Waterhouse
Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer
Principal Financial Oﬃcer

AMERICAN BIO MEDICA CORPORATION

122 Smith Road
Kinderhook, New York 12106
NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS & NOTICE OF INTERNET AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS
Date:
Time:
Place:

June 20, 2019
10:00 a.m., Eastern Standard Time
Company’s Corporate Oﬃces
122 Smith Road
Kinderhook, New York 12106

At our 2019 Annual Mee ng, we will ask you to:
1. Elect One (1) “Class I” director for a three (3) year term commencing upon their elec on and un l their successor shall be elected and
duly qualified (the terms of oﬃce of the other directors do not expire un l 2020 or 2021). The following director is being nominated:
Chaim Davis
2. Ra fy the selec on by the Company’s Audit Commi ee of UHY, LLP as the Company’s independent registered public accoun ng firm for
the year ending December 31, 2019.
3. Approve a non‐binding advisory resolu on regarding the compensa on of the Company’s Named Execu ve Oﬃcer.
4. Transact any other business as may properly come before the Annual Mee ng.
You may vote at the Annual Mee ng if you were a shareholder of American Bio Medica Corpora on at the close of business on April 23,
2019 (the “Record Date”).
By Order of the Board of Directors

Kinderhook, New York

Melissa A. Waterhouse

April 26, 2019

Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer
Principal Financial Oﬃcer

You are cordially invited to a end the Annual Mee ng. Our Board strongly encourages you to exercise your right to vote. Your vote is
important. Vo ng early helps ensure that we receive a quorum of shares necessary to hold the annual mee ng. Please sign, date and
mark the enclosed proxy card promptly and return it in the enclosed envelope, or follow the instruc ons on the proxy card for internet
and telephone vo ng. Returning the proxy card will not prevent you from vo ng in person if you a end the Annual Mee ng.
IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR THE SHAREHOLDER MEETING TO BE HELD ON
JUNE 20, 2019
Our financial and other informa on is contained in our Annual Report on Form 10‐K for the year ended December 31, 2018. Pursuant to
rules promulgated by the United States Securi es and Exchange Commission, we have elected to provide access by no fying you of the
availability of our proxy materials on the Internet. This proxy statement and our Form 10‐K for the year ended December 31, 2018, are
available at our web site at h p://www.abmc.com/investor/proxy2019.html
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Directors. If any other ma ers are properly presented for considera on at the Annual
Mee ng, including, among other things, considera on of a mo on to adjourn the
Annual Mee ng to another me or place (including, without limita on, for the purpose
of solici ng addi onal proxies), the persons named in the enclosed proxy card and
ac ng thereunder generally will have discre on to vote on those ma ers in accordance
with their best judgment. The Company does not currently an cipate that any other
ma ers will be raised at the Annual Mee ng.

General
American Bio Medica Corpora on is a New York corpora on (the “Company”). The
term “Annual Mee ng”, as used in this Proxy Statement, includes any adjournment or
postponement of such mee ng.
We have sent you this Proxy Statement and enclosed proxy card because the Board
of Directors is solici ng your proxy to vote at the Annual Mee ng. This Proxy
Statement summarizes the informa on you will need to know to cast an informed vote
at the Annual Mee ng. You do not need to a end the Annual Mee ng to vote your
shares. You may simply complete, sign and return the enclosed proxy card to vote, or
you may cast your vote via telephone or the Internet. This process is described below in
the sec on tled “Vo ng”.

Submi ng Proxies Via the Internet or by Telephone. Many shareholders who hold their
shares through a broker or bank may have the op on to submit their proxies or vo ng
instruc ons via the Internet or by telephone. If your shares are held in “street name”,
you should check the vo ng instruc on card that has been provided to you by your
broker and follow the instruc ons that have been provided for Internet or telephone
vo ng on that card.

We began mailing this Proxy Statement, the No ce of Annual Mee ng and the
enclosed proxy card on or about May 10, 2019 to all shareholders en tled to vote. In
this mailing, we are also including our Annual Report on Form 10‐K for the year ended
December 31, 2018; however, the Annual Report is not part of the proxy solicita on
material.

You are invited to a end the mee ng; however, to ensure your representa on at the
mee ng, you are urged to vote via the Internet or telephone, or mark, sign, date and
return the enclosed proxy card as promptly as possible in the postage‐prepaid
envelope enclosed for that purpose. Any shareholder of record a ending the mee ng
may vote in person even if he or she has voted via the Internet or telephone, or
returned a proxy card. By vo ng in person, you automa cally revoke any prior proxy
given by Internet, telephone or proxy card.

Shareholders en tled to vote; Record Date
If you owned common stock of the Company at the close of business on April 23, 2019,
(the “Record Date”), you are en tled to vote at the Annual Mee ng, or any
adjournments thereof. On the Record Date, the Company had one class of vo ng
shares outstanding – common shares, $.01 par value per share (“common shares”) and
there were 32,518,361 shares of common stock outstanding and no shares of
preferred stock outstanding.

For the elec on of directors, the nominee who receives the most votes will be elected
to the one (1) available seat on the Board (i.e. by a plurality of votes cast). If you return a
signed proxy form indica ng your absten on or a end the Annual Mee ng but choose
to abstain from vo ng on any proposal (revoking your proxy), you will be considered
present at the Annual Mee ng and not vo ng in favor of the proposal. Since most
proposals pass only if they receive favorable votes from a majority of votes present at
the Annual Mee ng, the fact that you are abstaining and not vo ng in favor of a
proposal will have the same eﬀect as if you had voted against the proposal.

Procedure for Submi ng Shareholder Proposals
In order to be included in the Company’s proxy statement for the 2020 Annual
Mee ng, shareholder nomina ons for directors and/or shareholder proposals for the
next Annual Mee ng of Shareholders must be received (in wri ng) by the Company’s
Corporate Secretary at its Corporate Oﬃces located at 122 Smith Road, Kinderhook,
New York 12106, on or before December 21, 2019, must not exceed 500 words, and
must otherwise comply with the requirements of Rule 14a‐8 adopted pursuant to the
Securi es Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”).

Holders of common shares are not en tled to cumula ve vo ng rights.
Eﬀect of Broker Non‐Votes
Certain shareholder nominees (such as brokers, banks and other nominees) have the
discre on to vote on rou ne ma ers, such as the ra fica on of the selec on of our
independent registered public accoun ng firm, unless you instruct otherwise; but they
do not have authority to vote on non‐rou ne ma ers, such as the elec on of directors.

With respect to shareholder proposals and director nomina ons submi ed for the
2020 Annual Mee ng of Shareholders that are outside the process of Rule 14a‐8, these
proposals must be received by the Company at its Corporate Oﬃces no earlier than
January 20, 2020 and no later than March 6, 2020.

A “broker non‐vote” occurs when your broker submits a proxy for your shares but does
not indicate a vote for a par cular proposal because the broker does not have authority
to vote on that proposal and has not received vo ng instruc ons from you. “Broker
non‐votes” are not counted as votes for or against the proposal in ques on or as
absten ons, and are not counted to determine the number of votes present for the
par cular proposal.

Shareholder proposals received outside of these me frames will be considered
un mely for considera on at the 2020 Annual Mee ng.
The Company has not received any shareholder proposals or shareholder nomina ons
for directors for this Annual Mee ng.

If your broker holds shares in your name and delivers this proxy statement to you, the
broker is en tled to vote your shares on Proposal 2; Ra fica on of Independent
Registered Public Accoun ng Firm, even if the broker does not receive vo ng
instruc ons from you. Without your instruc ons, the broker is not en tled to vote your
shares on Proposal 1: Elec on of Directors or Proposal 3; Approval a non‐binding
advisory resolu on regarding the compensa on of the Company’s Named Execu ve
Oﬃcer. We encourage you to provide instruc ons to your broker, bank or other
nominee. This ensures your shares will be voted at the mee ng.

Vo ng
You are en tled to one vote at the Annual Mee ng for each common share of the
Company that you owned as of the Record Date. The number of shares you own (and
may vote) is listed on your proxy card. You can vote your shares using one of the
following methods:
Vo ng by a ending the mee ng. A shareholder may vote his or her shares in person at
the Annual Mee ng. A shareholder planning to a end the mee ng should bring proof
of iden fica on for entrance to the mee ng. If your shares are not registered in your
own name, you will need appropriate documenta on to confirm your ownership to
vote at the Annual Mee ng. Examples of such documenta on include a broker’s
statement, le er or other document that will confirm your ownership of shares of the
Company.

A broker non‐vote would have no eﬀect on the outcome of Proposal 1 because only a
plurality of votes cast is required to elect a director.
Quorum
A quorum of shareholders is necessary to hold a valid mee ng. If the holders of at least
a majority of the total number of the outstanding shares of common stock en tled to
vote are represented in person or by proxy at the Annual Mee ng, a quorum will exist.
Absten ons and broker non‐votes will be considered present for purposes of
determining the presence of a quorum.

Vo ng by proxy card. All shares en tled to vote and represented by properly executed
proxy cards received prior to the Annual Mee ng and not revoked, will be voted at the
Annual Mee ng in accordance with the instruc ons indicated on those proxy cards. If
no instruc ons are indicated on a properly executed proxy card, the shares
represented by that proxy card will be voted as recommended by the Board of
1
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The Board of Directors, upon the recommenda on of the Nomina ng Commi ee has
nominated Chaim Davis to serve as a director un l the 2022 Annual Mee ng of
Shareholders and un l his successor has been duly elected and qualified. It is the
inten on of the persons named as proxies in the accompanying proxy, unless
instructed otherwise, to vote for Chaim Davis. If Chaim Davis should become
unavailable to serve, the proxy may be voted for the elec on of a subs tute nominee
as may be designated by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors has no reason
to believe that Chaim Davis will be unable to serve if elected.

Revocability of Proxy/Dissenter’s Right of Appraisal
Any proxy card given pursuant to this solicita on may be revoked by the person giving
it at any me before it is voted. A proxy card may be revoked (1) by filing with the
Corporate Secretary of the Company, at or before the taking of the vote at the Annual
Mee ng, a wri en no ce of revoca on or a duly executed proxy card, in either case
dated no later than the prior proxy card rela ng to the same shares, or (2) by a ending
the Annual Mee ng and vo ng or abstaining in person (although a endance at the
Annual Mee ng will not of itself revoke a proxy). Any wri en no ce of revoca on or
subsequent proxy card must be received by the Corporate Secretary of the Company
prior to the taking of the vote at the Annual Mee ng. Such wri en no ce of revoca on
or subsequent proxy card should be hand delivered to the Corporate Secretary of the
Company or should be sent so as to be delivered to American Bio Medica Corpora on,
122 Smith Road, Kinderhook, New York 12106, A en on: Corporate Secretary.

Name
Chaim Davis

The Board is not proposing any ac on for which the laws of the State of New York, our
Cer ficate of Incorpora on and/or our Bylaws, as amended from me to me, provide
a right of a shareholder to obtain appraisal of or payment for such shareholder’s shares.

Age
41

Term
Expires
2019

Posi on(s) held
Director Since
Director and Chairman of
2017
the Board

The principal occupa on and business experience of Chaim Davis during at least the
last five (5) years is set forth below.
Chaim Davis was appointed to our Board of Director in June 2017 and was appointed
as Chairman of the Board of Directors in March 2018. Since July 2005, Mr. Davis has
been the Managing Member of Revach Group, LLC, the general partner of Revach Fund
L.P. (“Revach”), a sector‐specific life science fund focusing on micro to mid cap
companies, which he founded in 2005. He has also served as a consultant to other
hedge funds including Gem Partners, KOM Capital Management and Maot Group.
From 2010 to 2014, he served as a director and a member of the audit and
compensa on commi ees of AtheroNova Inc. (OTCBQ: AHRO). Since April 2013, Mr.
Davis has also served on the Board of Directors of Entera Bio, a clinical stage
biopharmaceu cal company. Mr. Davis received his B.A. from Columbia University.

Solicita on of Proxies
The Company will pay the costs of solici ng proxies from its shareholders. Directors,
oﬃcers or employees of the Company may solicit proxies by mail, telephone, and other
electronic forms of communica on or in person without addi onal compensa on.
The Company will also reimburse banks, brokers, nominees and other fiduciaries for
the expenses they incur in forwarding the proxy materials to you. Arrangements may
also be made with brokerage firms or other custodians, nominees or fiduciaries for the
forwarding of solici ng material to the beneficial owners of common shares of the
Company held of record by such persons; and the Company will reimburse such
respec ve banks, brokers, custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for the reasonable out‐
of‐pocket expenses incurred by them. Broadridge Financial Solu ons, Inc. has been
retained to assist in solici ng proxies at a fee of approximately $5,000 including
distribu on costs and other costs and expenses.

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends a vote “FOR” the nominee for
elec on as director.
INFORMATION ABOUT THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Householding of Proxy Materials

Directors that are not nominees

Some banks, brokers, and other intermediaries may par cipate in the prac ce of
“householding” proxy statements, annual reports and related no ces. This rule allows
us to send a single copy of this proxy statement to any household at which two (2) or
more of our shareholders reside, if we believe that the shareholders are members of
the same family. This rule benefits both the Company and its shareholders as it reduces
the volume of duplicate informa on received at a shareholder’s house and helps
reduce our expenses. Each shareholder, however, will con nue to receive individual
proxy cards or vo ng instruc ons forms. Shareholders that have previously received a
single set of disclosure documents may request their own copy by contac ng their
bank, broker or other intermediary. We will also deliver a separate copy of this proxy
statement to any shareholder upon wri en request to American Bio Medica
Corpora on, A n: Corporate Secretary, 122 Smith Road, Kinderhook, New York 12106.

The Company’s Board of Directors currently consists of five (5) members. One (1)
member is being nominated for elec on at this Annual Mee ng, and the principal
occupa on and business experience during at least the last five (5) years of the
nominee is presented above. The other four (4) members are:

DISCUSSION OF PROPOSALS RECOMMENDED BY BOARD

Term
Expires

Name
Jean Neﬀ

Age
76

Diane Generous

59

2020

Melissa A. Waterhouse

48

2021

Peter Jerome

50

2021

2020

Proposal No. 1
Elec on of Directors

Posi on(s) held
Director and Corporate
Secretary
Director

Director Since
2008

Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer,
Principal Financial
Oﬃcer and Director
Director

2014

2014

2018

General
The principal occupa on and business experience during at least the last (five) 5 years
of the other four (4) directors is set forth below.

The current bylaws of the Company allow for a classified or staggered board. The
Company’s Board of Directors is divided into three classes serving staggered terms.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors was
fixed at five (5) members.

Jean Neﬀ was appointed to our Board of Directors in February 2008 and, un l her
re rement in early 2014, she was the Sr. Vice President Mid‐Atlan c Region of
Solstas Lab Partners. She served as the Sr. Vice President of New Business
Development of the Occupa onal Tes ng Services division of Laboratory Corpora on
of America, from 1991 un l 2007. She received her B.S. in Biology from Mercer
University. Ms. Neﬀ provides decades of experience in administra on, sales and
management making her well qualified as a member of the Board.

The director with their term expiring at this Annual Mee ng is Chaim Davis, a Class I
director. As of the date of this report, the other members of the Board of Directors are
Jean Neﬀ and Diane J. Generous (both Class II directors with terms expiring in June
2020) and Melissa A. Waterhouse (our Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer/Principal Financial
Oﬃcer) and Peter Jerome; both Class III directors with terms expiring in June 2021. On
March 20, 2018, Mr. Davis was appointed as Chairman of the Board of Directors.
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Diane J. Generous was appointed to our Board of Directors in December 2014. Ms.
Generous is the daughter of Edmund Jaskiewicz, our President and Chairman Emeritus.
Ms. Generous is an a orney with over 25 years in strategic fundraising, development
and advocacy communica ons. She received her JD from George Washington
University and her BA in Economics from Duke University. Since January 2005, she has
been a principal of Generous Associates, a consul ng firm that provides poli cal and
non‐profit strategies and fundraising services.

1) Includes op ons exercisable within 60 days of April 20, 2018.
2) The op on grant issued to Mr. Davis was granted on April 26, 2013 (prior to his
appointment to the Board of Directors) in connec on with consul ng services provided
to the Company. The op on vested over 2 years in equal installments and was fully
vested as of April 26, 2015.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION(1)

Melissa A. Waterhouse joined the Company in 1997. Since that me she has held
various management posi ons in Investor Rela ons, Marke ng, Public Rela ons and
Corporate Compliance. She served as our Corporate Secretary from September 2003
un l her interim appointment as Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer and Chief Financial Oﬃcer in
October 2013. In June 2014, Ms. Waterhouse was appointed as Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer,
Principal Financial Oﬃcer and was appointed to the Board of Directors.

Edmund M. Jaskiewicz served as one of our directors from 1992 un l his resigna on in
December 2014 and he con nues to serve as President of our corpora on. Mr.
Jaskiewicz is a lawyer‐engineer. He has prac ced interna onal patent and corporate
law as a sole prac oner since 1963. He received his J.D. from George Washington
University Law School and his B.S. in Engineering from the University of Connec cut.

Name

(1)

Diane J.
Generous

Jean Neﬀ

Peter Jerome

Total
($)

Diane J. Generous $ 7,500(3)

$ 1,600(4)

$

0

$

0

$ 9,100

(5)

$ 1,600(4)

$

0

$

0

$ 5,350

(6)

$ 1,600(4)

$6,500(7)

$

0

$ 10,600

(3)

$ 1,600(4)

$

$

0

$ 9,100

Jean Neﬀ

$ 3,750

Chaim Davis

$ 2,500

Peter Jerome

$ 7,500

0

3) Includes fees actually paid for a endance of three (3) regularly scheduled, in
person mee ngs of the Board of Directors.
4) The aggregate grant date fair value of the op ons, computed in accordance with
Financial Accoun ng Standards Board (“FASB”) ASC Topic 718 was $0.08, and the
value of the op ons totaled $1,600. The fair value of the stock op on grant issued
was es mated u lizing the Black‐Scholes op on‐pricing model using the following
weighted average assump ons: dividend yield of 0%; risk‐free interest rate of 2.90%;
expected life of 10 years; and stock price vola lity of 79.2%.

Option
Expiration
Date

5) Includes fees actually paid for telephonic a endance of three (3) regularly
scheduled, in person mee ngs of the Board of Directors.
6) Includes fee for a endance of one (1) regularly scheduled, in person mee ng of
the Board of Directors. Mr. Davis received stock awards for his a endance at the
other two (2) mee ng held within the year ended December 31, 2018

20,000

0

$0.12

06/19/25

20,000

0

$0.15

06/24/26

20,000

0

$0.13

06/15/27

20,000

0

$0.10

06/21/28

20,000

0

$0.12

06/19/24

20,000

0

$0.12

06/19/25

20,000

0

$0.15

06/24/26

20,000

0

$0.13

06/15/27

20,000

0

$0.10

06/21/28

NOTE: Melissa A. Waterhouse does not receive any compensa on for her services
as a member of the Board of Directors, or her a endance at mee ngs of the Board
of Directors. Chairman Emeritus & President Edmund M. Jaskiewicz may a end
mee ngs at the invita on of the Board of Directors but does not receive any
compensa on for his a endance at board mee ngs and he is not reimbursed for
any out‐of‐pocket expenses related to his a endance at board mee ngs.

(2)

0

$0.18

04/23/23

Narra ve to Director Compensa on Table

20,000

0

$0.10

06/21/28

20,000

0

$0.10

06/21/28

Throughout the year ended December 31, 2018, directors who are not employees
(“Non‐Employee Directors”) of the Company received a fee of $2,500 per mee ng
for a ending mee ngs of the Board of Directors in person and were reimbursed for
out‐of‐pocket expenses submi ed in connec on with a ending such mee ngs.

50,000
Chaim Davis

Option
Exercise
Price ($)

All Other
Compen‐
sa on ($)

2) This figure does not include any reimbursed out‐of‐pocket expenses related to a
Director’s a endance at a mee ng of the Board of Directors or commi ee of the
Board of Directors.

Informa on Related to Non‐Employee Director Stock Op ons Outstanding as of
December 31, 2018
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)
Unexercisable

Stock
Awards
($)

1) There were no Non‐Equity Incen ve Plan Compensa on, or Non‐Qualified
Deferred Compensa on Earnings issued or earned by members of the Board of
Directors in the year ended December 31, 2018. These columns have been omi ed.

Chairman Emeritus

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Exercisable

Op on
Awards
($)

Name

Peter Jerome was appointed to our Board of Directors in January 2018. Since February
2016, Mr. Jerome has been the Senior Director, Finance of Taconic Biosciences, Inc., a
company that develops and produces animal research models for pharmaceu cal and
biotechnology companies worldwide. Prior to his posi on with Taconic Biosciences,
Inc., Mr. Jerome served as the Chief Financial Oﬃcer for CMP Pharma, Inc., a niche
pharmaceu cal company and Chief Financial Oﬃcer for Tyratech, Inc., a life science
company. Mr. Jerome received his B.S in accoun ng and computer informa on
systems from Manha an College and has been a cer fied public accountant since
1994.

Fees
Earned or
Paid in
Cash
($)(2)

7) Mr. Davis received his board mee ng a endance fees in shares of restricted
common stock in lieu of cash. See “Narra ve to Director Compensa on Table”. The
fair value of the restricted shares was computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic
718 as full value awards; therefore, the market value of the underlying stock on the
date of the grant was used to determine the value.
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hourly rate. As of the date of this report, we have been billed $63,000 in connec on
with the audit of the year ended December 31, 2018.

Members who a ended in person mee ngs of the Board of Directors telephonically
received 50% of this compensa on, or $1,250. Three (3) regular in‐person mee ngs
were held during the year ended December 31, 2018. However, the board informal‐
ly met telephonically several mes throughout the year ended December 31, 2018.

The fees for the review of interim financial informa on included in each of the
Company’s Form 10‐Q’s for the year ended December 31, 2018 (pursuant to our
engagement le er) were $27,000 which included 65 review hours. Any addi onal
me required to complete the reviews were billed at an agreed upon hourly rate. In
the year ended December 31, 2018, we were billed $37,000 in connec on with
UHY’s review of our quarterly financial informa on.

Non‐Employee board members are not paid for their a endance at Commi ee
mee ngs of the Board of Directors; however, Non‐Employee Directors are reim‐
bursed for any out of pocket expenses they may incur in a ending telephonic
mee ngs of the Board of Directors or mee ngs of the Commi ees of the Board of
Directors.

Year Ended December 31, 2017:

On March 22, 2018, the Non‐Employee Directors agreed, and the Board of Directors
therefore resolved, to oﬀer a director compensa on structure for a endance at
mee ngs of the Board of Directors that would consist of payment in cash only, re‐
stricted common shares of Company stock or a combina on of both; solely at the
op on of the Non‐Employee director. In the year ended December 31, 2018, only
one board member (Chaim Davis) chose payment in the form of restricted stock for
his a endance at two (2) of the mee ngs of the Board of Directors.

The audit engagement fee for the year ended December 31, 2017 (pursuant to our
engagement le er) was $66,000 which included up to 500 audit hours. Any
addi onal me required to complete the audit were billed at an agreed upon hourly
rate. The aggregate fees billed by UHY to the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2017 for the audit of financial statements was $78,000.
The fees for the review of interim financial informa on included in each of the
Company’s Form 10‐Q’s for the year ended December 31, 2017 (pursuant to our
engagement le er) were $18,000. In the year ended December 31, 2017, we were
billed $23,000 in connec on with UHY’s review of our quarterly financial
informa on. We were also billed $2,000 for the review of our Proxy Statement for
the year ended December 31, 2017 (in the year ended December 31, 2018).

No member of the Board of Directors has a compensa on arrangement that diﬀers
from those of other members of the Board of Directors.
Proposal No. 2
Ra fica on of Independent Registered Public Accoun ng Firm

Audit Related Fees

On January 6, 2016, the Company engaged UHY, LLP (“UHY”) as its independent
registered public accoun ng firm to perform audit services in connec on with the
Company’s year ended December 31, 2015, and UHY has con nued as the
Company’s independent registered public accoun ng firm since that engagement.
On December 31, 2018, the Company re‐engaged UHY, LLP (“UHY”) as its
independent registered public accoun ng firm to perform audit services for the year
ended December 31, 2018 and to conduct reviews of unaudited quarterly financial
informa on through the quarter ending September 30, 2019. The decision to
engage UHY was approved by the Audit Commi ee of the Board of Directors. Prior
to UHY’s engagement, the Company did not consult with UHY and receive either
wri en or oral advice from UHY that was an important factor considered by the
Company in reaching a decision as to the applica on of accoun ng principles to a
specific completed or contemplated transac on, or the type of audit opinion that
might be rendered on the Company’s financial statements. In addi on, the
Company had not consulted with UHY concerning any ma er that was the subject
of a disagreement or a reportable event, each as described in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) and
Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regula on S‐K.

There were no audit related fees billed by UHY to the Company in the year ended
December 31, 2018 or December 31, 2017.
Tax Fees
The tax engagement fee for the year ended December 31, 2018 and December 31,
2017 was $9,000 for each year.
All Other Fees
There were no other fees billed by UHY to the Company for the years ended
December 31, 2018 or December 31, 2017.
There were no other fees billed by UHY for services rendered to the Company other
than the services described herein and the Audit Commi ee has considered
whether the provision of these services is compa ble with maintaining the
independence of our public accountants.
Pursuant to SEC Rule 210.2‐01I(7)(i), the Company’s Audit Commi ee approved the
engagement of UHY prior to UHY rendering audit or non‐audit services. 100% of the
services performed by UHY were also approved.

The Company is asking its shareholders to ra fy the selec on of UHY, LLP as its
independent registered public accoun ng firm. Although ra fica on is not required
by the Company’s By‐laws or otherwise, the Company’s Board of Directors is
submi ng the Audit Commi ee’s selec on of UHY to our shareholders for
ra fica on as a ma er of good corporate prac ce. Even if the selec on is ra fied,
the Audit Commi ee, in its discre on, may select a diﬀerent principal registered
public accoun ng firm at any me during the year if it determines that such a
change would be in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. If the
appointment of UHY is not ra fied, the Audit Commi ee will evaluate the basis for
the shareholders’ vote when determining whether to con nue the firm’s
engagement.

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends a vote “FOR”
the ra fica on of our independent registered public accoun ng firm
for the year ending December 31, 2019.
Proposal No. 3
To approve, a non‐binding advisory resolu on, REGARDING the compensa on of
the company’s Named Execu ve Oﬃcer
The compensa on of our Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer/Principal Financial Oﬃcer Melissa A.
Waterhouse (“Named Execu ve Oﬃcer”) is described under the heading “Execu ve
Compensa on”. It is highly recommended that shareholders review the “Execu ve
Compensa on” as well as the “Narra ve Disclosure Related to Summary
Compensa on”, and the “Compensa on Commi ee Report”; all of which are set forth
later within this Proxy Statement. (Note: The “Narra ve Disclosure Related to
Summary Compensa on” includes informa on related to change in control and
severance provisions in the Named Execu ve Oﬃcer’s employment contracts).

Representa ves of UHY will a end the Annual Mee ng and will have an
opportunity to make a statement and/or to respond to appropriate ques ons from
shareholders.
Audit Fees
Year Ended December 31, 2018

In accordance with Sec on 951 of the Dodd‐Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protec on Act, and the adopted changes to Sec on 14A of the Securi es Exchange Act
of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), we are providing the Company’s shareholders with an
opportunity to vote on a non‐binding advisory resolu on to approve the

The audit engagement fee for the year ended December 31, 2018 (pursuant to our
engagement le er) was $66,000 which included up to 500 audit hours. Any
addi onal me required to complete the audit will be billed at an agreed upon
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compensa on of our Named Execu ve Oﬃcer. At the Company’s Annual Mee ng of
Shareholders held on June 20, 2013, it was approved by shareholder vote that this
Proposal with respect to an advisory vote on Named Execu ve Oﬃcer compensa on
be submi ed in the Proxy Statement for shareholder vote every three years.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The following table sets forth for the years ended December 31, 2018 and December
31, 2017, the compensa on paid by the Company to its principal execu ve oﬃcer
(“PEO”) and also the “Named Execu ve Oﬃcer”. Ms. Waterhouse was the sole
execu ve oﬃcer in both the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
There were no addi onal individuals for whom disclosure would have been provided
but for the fact that the individuals were not serving as execu ve oﬃcers of the
Company at year end December 31, 2018.

This proposal, commonly known as a “Say‐on‐Pay” proposal, gives you as a
shareholder the opportunity to provide an advisory vote on the Company's execu ve
compensa on as disclosed in this Proxy Statement through the following resolu on:
“RESOLVED, that the Shareholders of American Bio Medica Corpora on (the
“Company”) approve, on an advisory basis, the overall compensa on of the Company’s
Named Execu ve Oﬃcer, as described under the heading “Execu ve Compensa on”
set forth later in this Proxy Statement.”

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE(1)
Name and
principal
posi on

This advisory vote is non‐binding on the Company and our Board of Directors.
However, the Board of Directors values open dialogue with the Company’s
shareholders on the issue of execu ve compensa on and other corporate governance
issues. The Company and its Board of Directors encourages all shareholders to vote on
this ma er.

Melissa A.
Waterhouse
Chief Execu ve
Oﬃcer (PEO)
Principal
Financial
Oﬃcer

Required Vote: Approval of this resolu on requires the aﬃrma ve vote of a majority of
the votes cast at the 2019 Annual Mee ng. While this vote is required by law, it will not
be binding on the Company or our Board of Directors, nor will it create or imply any
changes in the fiduciary du es of, or impose any addi onal fiduciary du es on the
Company or our Board of Directors. The Compensa on Commi ee of the Board of
Directors will however, take into account the outcome of the vote when considering
future execu ve compensa on.

Execu ve Oﬃcer

In addi on to Ms. Waterhouse, the following table sets forth the names, ages,
posi ons/oﬃces held, the term of the posi ons/oﬃces held of addi onal senior
management.

Sco H. Hu on, Ph.D.

62

Vice President, Sales & Marke ng

2014

$138,000

$
$

0
0

(3)

$25,235

(5)

$22,3188

($)

$164,090
$160,318

4) Ms. Waterhouse’s salary in the year ended December 31, 2017 was $160,000 under
her employment contract; however in the year ended December 31, 2017, 20% of Ms.
Waterhouse’s salary was deferred under the Company’s salary deferral program. This
amount includes $10,000 in deferral paybacks made to Ms. Waterhouse in the year
ended December 31, 2017 (against previously deferred amounts). At December 31,
2017, the Company owed Ms. Waterhouse $54,813 in deferred compensa on.

Addi onal Senior Management

Since
2012

(4)

Total

3) Consists of $25,087 for health insurance premiums and $148 for premiums paid, by
the Company for Ms. Waterhouse’s benefit, for long‐term disability and life insurance,
both of which are provided to all employees of the Company.

As of the date of this report and throughout the year ended December 31, 2018, our
sole execu ve oﬃcer is Melissa A. Waterhouse. Although Mr. Jaskiewicz con nues to
serve as the President of the corpora on, he is not in charge of any principal business
unit, division or func on within the company, and he does not perform any policy
making func on. Ms. Waterhouse also serves as a member of our Board of Directors
and her biography can be found under “Informa on about our Board of Directors”.

Posi on(s) held
Vice President, Opera ons

12/31/17

(2)

$138,855

All Other
Compen‐
sa on
($)

2) Ms. Waterhouse’s salary in the year ended December 31, 2018 was $160,000 under
her employment contract; however in the year ended December 31, 2018, 20% of Ms.
Waterhouse’s salary was deferred through September 30, 2018 and 10% of her salary
was deferred from October 1, 2018 through December 31, 2018. As December 31,
2018, the Company owed Ms. Waterhouse $83,000 in deferred compensa on.

EXECUTIVES

Age
71

12/31/18

Op on
Awards
($)

Salary
($)

1) There were no amounts paid to the named execu ve oﬃcer related to Bonuses,
Stock Awards, Non‐Equity Incen ve Plan Compensa on or Nonqualified Deferred
Compensa on Earnings; therefore, these columns of the table have been omi ed.

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends a vote “FOR”
the resolu on set forth in Proposal No. 3. Unless otherwise instructed, validly
executed proxies will be voted “FOR” this resolu on.

Name
Douglas Casterlin

Year
Ended

5) Consists of $21,431 for health insurance premiums and $887 for premiums paid, by
the Company for Ms. Waterhouse’s benefit, for long‐term disability and life insurance,
both of which are provided to all employees of the Company.
Narra ve Disclosure Related to Summary Compensa on
Melissa A. Waterhouse, Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer (PEO)/Principal Financial Oﬃcer
Ms. Waterhouse entered into an employment agreement with the Company on June
19, 2014 providing for an annual salary of $160,000, health and dental benefits and
par cipa on in any management bonus program adopted by the Company. Ms.
Waterhouse’s employment agreement has severance and change in control
provisions. Under the agreement, termina on from the Company for any reason other
than cause results in severance being paid to Ms. Waterhouse. Such severance equals
twelve (12) months of Ms. Waterhouse’s base salary at the me of separa on, with
con nua on of all medical benefits during the twelve‐month period at the Company’s
expense. Addi onally, under the employment agreement, Ms. Waterhouse may resign
her posi on and elect to exercise the severance provision at her op on under the
following circumstances:

Douglas Casterlin has served as our Vice President, Opera ons since July 2012. Mr.
Casterlin originally joined the Company in 1997. He le the Company from 2004 un l
2008. Mr. Casterlin has over 30 years experience in manufacturing and produc on.
Sco D. Hu on, Ph.D. re‐joined us in 2014; however, he has over 10 years of service
with ABMC. He was appointed as Director of Sales & Marke ng in November 2014 and
as Vice President of Sales and Marke ng in November 2016. Dr. Hu on has 20 years of
experience in the drug tes ng industry, and has nego ated numerous state contracts
as well as contracts with Fortune 500 Companies. Prior to being in the drug tes ng
industry, Dr. Hu on had over 15 years of law enforcement and correc ons
management experience.

1) If she is required to relocate by the Company or its Board of Directors more than 50
miles from the Company’s New York corporate facility as a condi on of con nued
employment; or
5
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individual has the right to acquire within sixty (60) days a er April 23, 2019 through the
exercise of any stock op on, exchange of exchangeable shares or other right. Unless
otherwise indicated, each person has sole vo ng and investment power (or shares
such powers with his or her spouse) with respect to the shares shown as beneficially
owned. Unless otherwise noted, the address of each person is c/o American Bio
Medica Corpora on, 122 Smith Road, Kinderhook, New York 12106.

2) If there is a substan al change in the responsibili es normally assumed by a Chief
Execu ve Oﬃcer or Principal Financial Oﬃcer at the direc on of the Board of Directors.
In addi on, the Company provides Ms. Waterhouse with the same benefits oﬀered to
other employees, including long‐term disability and life insurance, at the Company’s
expense. Ms. Waterhouse’s employment agreement also contains change in control
provisions which gives Ms. Waterhouse the op on to resign and receive a lump sum
severance payment equal to two (2) mes her annual base salary at the me of the
change in control, which op on must be exercised within ten (10) days following the
change in control.

Title of
Class

Name and Address
of Beneficial Owner

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year‐End

Common

Chaim Davis

The following table sets forth informa on concerning the outstanding equity awards of
the Named Execu ve Oﬃcer at year‐end December 31, 2018:

Common

Melissa A. Waterhouse

Amount and Nature
of Beneficial
Ownership *
(1)

2,652,451

Percent of
Class
8.14%

(2)

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR-END
OPTION AWARDS(1)
Number of
Number of
Securities
Securities
Option
Option
Underlying
Underlying
Name
Exercise
ExpiraUnexercised
Unexercised
Price
tion Date
Options
Options
($)
(#)
(#)
(2)
Unexercisable
Exercisable
Melissa A.
Waterhouse
25,000
0
$0.09
12/31/20
Chief
25,000
0
$0.26
02/21/23
Executive
200,000
0
$0.14
06/25/23
Officer (PEO)
250,000
0
$0.12
06/29/25
Principal
750,000
0
$0.11
01/29/26
Financial
Officer

Common

Jean Neﬀ

Common

Diane J. Generous

Common

Peter Jerome

Common

Directors and Execu ve Oﬃcers
as a group (5 persons)

Common

MP Biomedicals LLC

Common

John J. Moroney

Common

Edmund M. Jaskiewicz

1,250,000

3.70%

(3)

**

(4)

**

20,000(5)

**

(5)

12.18%

(6)

14.57%

(7)

12.98%

(8)

10.45%

100,000
122,6000

4,145,051
4,378,601
4,481,628

3,433,420

* Unless otherwise noted, the number of shares noted for each individual is based
upon informa on obtained from their Sec on 16(a) or Rule 13d filings with the SEC.

1) No Stock Awards were outstanding for any of the Named Execu ve Oﬃcers in the
year ended December 31, 2018, and therefore the Stock Awards por on of the table
has been omi ed. Furthermore, because there were no Equity Incen ve Plan Awards
outstanding for the Named Execu ve Oﬃcer, this column was omi ed as well.

** Less than one percent (1%).
1) Includes 107,813 shares issued to Chaim Davis in connec on with his a endance at
two (2) mee ngs of our Board of Directors in the year ended December 31, 2018 and
one (1) mee ng of our Board of Directors in the year ending December 31, 2019, as
well as 2,449,915 shares in the name of Revach Fund, LP. (Chaim Davis is a managing
member of Revach Group, LLC which operates as the general partner of the Revach
Fund, LP). Also includes 24,723 shares held by Mr. Davis directly prior to his
appointment to our Board of Directors and 70,000 common shares subject to stock
op ons exercisable within 60 days of April 23, 2019.

2) Includes op ons that are exercisable within 60 days of April 23, 2019.
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
The Company, through its Board of Directors, a empts to review all related party
transac ons to ensure fairness to the Company and proper disclosure under SEC rules.
Addi onally, the Board of Directors conducts annual reviews of each director to
determine such director’s independence. We also require our execu ve oﬃcers and
directors to complete a ques onnaire that is intended to iden fy transac ons or
poten al transac ons that require disclosure under SEC rules or create a poten al
conflict of interest. Furthermore, our Code of Ethics contains provisions related to
actual or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and professional
rela onships. A copy of the Company’s Code of Ethics can be found on its website
located at www.abmc.com as noted under “Code of Ethics”.

2) Includes 1,250,000 common shares subject to stock op ons exercisable within 60
days of April 23, 2019.
3) Includes 100,000 common shares subject to stock op ons exercisable within 60
days of April 23, 2019.
4) Includes 80,000 common shares subject to stock op ons exercisable within 60 days
of April 23, 2019.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

5) Includes 20,000 common shares subject to stock op ons exercisable within 60 days
of April 23, 2019.

As of April 23, 2019 there were 32,518,361 common shares outstanding of which
32,518,361 common shares are en tled to vote at the Annual Mee ng. The following
table sets forth, as of April 23, 2019, the beneficial ownership of the Company's
common shares by (i) each director, (ii) each nominee for director, (iii) the Named
Execu ve Oﬃcer, (iv) all directors and execu ve oﬃcers of the Company as a group,
and (v) each shareholder, known to management of the Company, to beneficially own
more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding common shares.

6) Includes an aggregate of 1,520,000 common shares subject to stock op ons
exercisable within 60 days of April 23, 2019.
7) Informa on based on the last Sec on 16(a) filing made by MP Biomedicals LLC on
December 22, 2015. The address for MP Biomedical LLC is 3 Hu on Centre Drive, Suite
100, Santa Ana, California 92707.

The number and percentage of shares beneficially owned is determined under the
rules of the United States Securi es and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), and the
informa on is not necessarily indica ve of beneficial ownership for any other purpose.
Under such rules, beneficial ownership includes any shares as to which the individual
has sole or shared vo ng power or investment power and also any shares which the

8) Informa on based on last Sec on 16(a) filing made by John J. Moroney, a principal
of Landmark Pegasus, Inc. The address for Mr. Moroney is 118 Pegasus Drive, Jupiter,
FL 33477. Includes 2,000,000 common shares subject to warrants exercisable within 60
days of April 23, 2019.
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9) Mr. Jaskiewicz resigned from the Board of Director on December 17, 2014, however
he con nues to a end board mee ngs at the invita on of the Board of Directors as
Chairman Emeritus and is the President of the corpora on. Includes 330,000 common
shares subject to stock op ons exercisable within 60 days of April 23, 2019.

Standard and make their filings publicly. In our case, we are current in all of our
repor ng requirements. Although the OTC Pink Marketplace does not have
requirements related to director independence, we use NASDAQ’s lis ng standards
and SEC rules and regula ons to determine the independence of our directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

For a director to be independent under NASDAQ lis ng standards, the director must be
a person other than an execu ve oﬃcer or employee of the company or its
subsidiaries or any other individual having a rela onship, which, in the opinion of the
Company's Board of Directors, would interfere with the exercise of independent
judgment in carrying out the responsibili es of a director. Under NASDAQ’s lis ng
standards, a “Family Member” means a person’s spouse, parents, children and siblings,
whether by blood, marriage or adop on, or anyone residing in such person’s home.
The following persons cannot be considered independent:

General Informa on related to the Board of Directors & A endance at Mee ngs
The Board of Directors oversees our business and monitors the performance of our
management. The Board of Directors does not involve itself in the day‐to‐day
opera ons of the Company. Our execu ve oﬃcer and management oversee our day‐
to‐day opera ons. Our directors fulfill their du es and responsibili es by a ending
regular mee ngs of the Board, which are typically held on a quarterly basis. Special
mee ngs may be held from me to me to consider ma ers for which approval of the
Board of Directors is desirable or is required by law. Our directors also discuss business
and other ma ers with our key execu ve and our principal external advisors (legal
counsel, independent auditors, and other consultants) when necessary.



a director who is, or at any me during the past three (3) years was, employed by
the Company;



a director who accepted or who has a Family Member who accepted any
compensa on from the Company in excess of $120,000 during any period of
twelve (12) consecu ve months within the three (3) years preceding the
determina on of independence, other than the following: (i) compensa on for
board or board commi ee service; (ii) compensa on paid to a Family Member
who is an employee (other than an execu ve oﬃcer) of the Company; or (iii)
benefits under a tax‐qualified re rement plan, or non‐discre onary
compensa on.

The Board of Directors held three (3) regular mee ngs during the year ended
December 31, 2018. Each director a ended 100% of the mee ngs of the Board of
Directors in the year ended December 31, 2018.
Directors are expected to prepare themselves for and a end all mee ngs of the Board
of Directors, Annual Mee ngs of Shareholders and the mee ngs of the commi ees on
which they serve, with the understanding that on occasion a director may be unable to
a end a mee ng. Jean Neﬀ was unable to a end our Annual Mee ng of Shareholders
held in June 2018.
Board Leadership Structure and Role in Risk Oversight

In addi on to the requirements stated above, audit commi ee members are also
subject to addi onal, more stringent independence requirements under NASDAQ
lis ng standards and SEC rules, which disqualify:

Board Leadership Structure



a director who is a Family Member of an individual who is, or at any me during
the past three (3) years was, employed by the Company as an execu ve oﬃcer;



a director who is, or has a Family Member who is, a partner in, or a controlling
shareholder or an execu ve oﬃcer of, any organiza on to which the Company
made, or from which the Company received, payments for property or services in
the current or any of the past three (3) fiscal years that exceed 5% of the
recipient’s consolidated gross revenues for that year, or $200,000, whichever is
more, other than the following: (i) payments arising solely from investments in
the Company’s securi es; or (ii) payments under non‐discre onary charitable
contribu on matching programs;



a director of the Company who is, or has a Family Member who is, employed as
an execu ve oﬃcer of another en ty where at any me during the past three (3)
years any of the execu ve oﬃcers of the Company serve on the compensa on
commi ee of such other en ty; or



a director who is, or has a Family Member who is, a current partner of the
Company’s outside auditor, or was a partner or employee of the Company’s
outside auditor who worked on the Company’s audit at any me during any of
the past three (3) years.

Over the last several years, the Company has had diﬀerent individuals holding the
posi ons of Chairman of the Board and Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer. The Board of Directors
believes this structure is appropriate for the Company because it provides the Board of
Directors with capable leadership and allows the Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer to focus on the
day‐to‐day business of running the Company while the Chairman leads the Board of
Directors. The independent directors meet in execu ve sessions in connec on with
regular mee ngs of the Board of Directors. Melissa Waterhouse serves as our Chief
Execu ve Oﬃcer, and Chaim Davis serves as our Chairman of the Board.
Role in Risk Oversight
The role of our Board of Directors in our Company’s risk oversight process includes
receiving regular reports from management on areas of material risk to our Company,
including opera onal, financial, legal and regulatory, and strategic risks. The full Board
of Directors (or the appropriate commi ee in the case of risks that are under the
purview of a par cular commi ee) receives these reports from either the Chief
Execu ve Oﬃcer or from the member of management responsible for the func on
from which the risk arises so that it can understand and assess the Company’s ongoing
risk iden fica on, risk management and risk mi ga on strategies. When a commi ee
receives a report regarding a previously uniden fied risk, the chairman of the relevant
commi ee reports on the discussion to the full Board of Directors. This enables the
Board of Directors and its commi ees to coordinate the risk oversight role and
consult with management about implementa on of appropriate risk management
and mi ga on measures. Our Board of Directors also administers its risk oversight
func on through the required approval by the Board (or a commi ee of the Board) of
significant transac ons and other material decisions, and regular periodic reports from
the Company’s independent registered public accoun ng firm and other outside
consultants regarding various areas of poten al risk, including, among others, those
rela ng to our internal controls and financial repor ng.

Furthermore, in addi on to the independence requirements discussed above,
independent Audit Commi ee members may not, other than in their capacity as a
member of the Audit Commi ee, the Board of Directors or any other board
commi ee:


accept, directly or indirectly, any consul ng, advisory, or other compensatory fees
from the Company other than for services as a board member; or



be an aﬃliated person of the Company.

The Board of Directors has determined that Jean Neﬀ, Diane J. Generous, Chaim Davis
and Peter Jerome are independent directors under NASDAQ’s lis ng standards. As of
the date of this report, the majority of the Board of Directors is independent as there
are currently five (5) members on the Board of Directors.

Independent Directors
Our common shares are currently trading on the OTC Markets, Inc., under their OTC
Pink Open Marketplace. The OTC Pink Marketplace oﬀers trading in a wide range of
equi es through any broker. We are classified as an OTC Pink company with “current
informa on”. Companies with this designa on follow the Interna onal Repor ng
7
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compensate a third‐party search firm to help iden fy candidates, if it deems it
advisable to do so.

In accordance with NASDAQ’s lis ng standards, independent directors meet in
execu ve session when required in conjunc on with regularly scheduled mee ngs of
the Board of Directors, outside of the presence of non‐independent directors.

The Nomina ng Commi ee will consider nominees recommended by its
shareholders. Shareholders may submit nomina ons to the Nomina ng Commi ee in
care of Corporate Secretary, American Bio Medica Corpora on, 122 Smith Road,
Kinderhook, New York 12106. To be mely for considera on at our next Annual
Mee ng of Shareholders, the Corporate Secretary must receive a shareholder’s
nomina on no ce at the Company’s principal execu ve oﬃces, at the address set
forth above, no later than December 21, 2019. The Nomina ng Commi ee will
consider all candidates iden fied through the processes described above, whether
iden fied by the commi ee or by a shareholder, and will evaluate each of them on the
same basis. There have not been any material changes to the procedures by which
shareholders may recommend nominees to the Company’s board of directors since
our last disclosure related to this issue.

Code Of Ethics
The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to all employees, including but
not limited to the principal execu ve oﬃcer, principal financial oﬃcer, principal
accoun ng oﬃcer or controller, or person performing similar func ons. The Board of
Directors will review the Code of Ethics on a regular basis and propose or adopt
addi ons or amendments to the Code of Ethics as appropriate. A copy of the
Company’s Code of Ethics can be found on its website located at www.abmc.com,
under the sec on tle “Corporate” and the subsec on tled “Governance”. A copy of
the Code of Ethics may also be obtained free of charge by sending a wri en request to
American Bio Medica Corpora on, A en on: Corporate Secretary, 122 Smith Road,
Kinderhook, New York 12106.

The Nomina ng Commi ee met one (1) me in the year ended December 31, 2018
and the slate of Directors was determined upon the recommenda on of the Board’s
non‐management directors (other than the non‐management director that is one of
the nominees standing for re‐elec on). All members of the Nomina ng Commi ee
a ended this mee ng.

Commi ees of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors of the Company has established the following commi ees:
Nomina ng Commi ee
The Nomina ng Commi ee currently consists of three (3) members, all of which the
Board has determined are independent as defined by NASDAQ lis ng requirements
and SEC rules and regula ons. As of the date of this report, the Nomina ng Commi ee
consists of three (3) members, Jean Neﬀ, Diane J. Generous and Chaim Davis. Diane J.
Generous serves as the Chairman of this Commi ee.

Audit Commi ee
The OTC Pink Marketplace does not have requirements related to audit commi ee
composi on or audit commi ee charters. The Company’s Audit Commi ee was
comprised of four (4) members star ng in January 2018, all of which the Board
determined are independent directors, (as independence is defined in NASDAQ Rule
5605(a)(2) of the NASDAQ lis ng standards, as applicable). Peter Jerome was
appointed as Chairman of the Audit Commi ee in January 2018. As of the date of this
report, the Audit Commi ee consists of Jean Neﬀ, Diane J. Generous, Chaim Davis and
Peter Jerome.

The Nomina ng Commi ee is governed by a charter it has adopted. A copy of the
Nomina ng Commi ee charter can be found on the Company’s website at
www.abmc.com, under the sec on tle “Corporate” and the subsec on tled
“Governance”. A copy can also be obtained free of charge by sending a wri en request
to American Bio Medica Corpora on, A n: Corporate Secretary, 122 Smith Road,
Kinderhook, New York 12106. There have been no material changes to the
Nomina ng Commi ee Charter since it was last filed as an exhibit to the Company’s
Proxy Statement filed on May 12, 2004.

The Board of Directors has adopted an Audit Commi ee charter. A copy of the Audit
Commi ee Charter can be found on the Company’s website at www.abmc.com,
under the sec on tle “Corporate” and the subsec on tled “Governance”. A copy
can also be obtained free of charge by sending a wri en request to American Bio
Medica Corpora on, A n: Corporate Secretary, 122 Smith Road, Kinderhook, New
York 12106. There have been no material changes to the Audit Commi ee Charter
since it was last filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Proxy Statement filed on May 12,
2004.

The purpose of the Nomina ng Commi ee is to review, and make recommenda ons
related to, qualified candidates for elec on to the Board of Directors. In carrying out
these func ons, the Nomina ng Commi ee considers a candidate’s mix of skills,
experience, character, commitment and diversity of background, all in the context of
the requirements of the Board of Directors at that point in me. Each candidate should
be prepared to par cipate fully in ac vi es of the Board of Directors, including
a endance at, and ac ve par cipa on in, mee ngs of the Board of Directors, and not
have other personal or professional commitments that would, in the Nomina ng
Commi ee’s judgment, interfere with or limit such candidate’s ability to do so.

This Commi ee makes recommenda ons to the Board of Directors with respect to the
Company's financial statements and the appointment of independent auditors,
reviews significant audit and accoun ng policies and prac ces, meets with the
Company’s independent public accountants concerning, among other things, the
scope of audits and reports, and reviews the performance of the overall accoun ng
and financial controls of the Company. The Audit Commi ee formally met four (4)
mes and informally met several mes in the year ended December 31, 2018. The
Audit Commi ee charter requires four (4) Audit Commi ee mee ngs per year. In the
year ended December 31, 2018, Jean Neﬀ and Diane J. Generous each a ended 75%
of the formal mee ngs and Chaim Davis and Peter Jerome a ended 100% of the
formal mee ngs.

Addi onally, in determining whether to recommend a director for re‐elec on, the
Nomina ng Commi ee considers the director’s record of a endance at Board of
Directors and Commi ee mee ngs and par cipa on in and contribu ons to the
ac vi es of the Board of Directors. The Nomina ng Commi ee has no stated specific,
minimum qualifica ons that must be met by a candidate for a posi on on our Board of
Directors. The Nomina ng Commi ee does, however, believe it appropriate for at
least one (1) member of the Board to meet the criteria for an “Audit Commi ee
Financial Expert” as defined by SEC rules, and for a majority of the members of the
Board to meet the defini on of “independent director” within the meaning of
applicable NASDAQ lis ng standards, even though such criteria may not be required by
OTC Markets Group.

Audit Commi ee Financial Expert
At least one (1) member of the Audit Commi ee must be financially sophis cated, in
that he or she has past employment experience in finance or accoun ng, requisite
cer fica on in accoun ng, or other comparable experience or background which
results in the individual’s financial sophis ca on, including but not limited to being or
having been a chief execu ve oﬃcer, chief financial oﬃcer or other senior oﬃcer with
financial oversight responsibili es. The individual must have an understanding of
generally accepted accoun ng principles and financial statements, the ability to assess
the general applica on of such principles in connec on with the accoun ng for
es mates, accruals and reserves, experience in preparing, audi ng, analyzing or
evalua ng financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of

The Nomina ng Commi ee’s methods for iden fying candidates for elec on to the
Board of Directors (other than those proposed by the Company’s shareholders, as
discussed below) include the solicita on of ideas for possible candidates from a
number of sources, including: members of the Board of Directors, the Company’s
execu ves, individuals personally known to the members of the Board of Directors and
other research. The Nomina ng Commi ee also has authority to select and
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accoun ng issues comparable to those issues raised by the Company’s financial
statements, an understanding of internal control over financial repor ng, and an
understanding of audit commi ee func ons. Such a ributes would be acquired
through educa on and experience as a principal accoun ng or financial oﬃcer,
controller, public accountant or auditor or experience ac vely supervising such
posi ons, or experience overseeing or assessing the performance of companies or
public accountants with respect to the prepara on, audi ng, or evalua on of financial
statements. Peter Jerome was appointed to the Board of Directors and the Audit
Commi ee in January 2018 and he meets the requirements of a financial expert. Peter
Jerome serves as the Chairman of the Audit Commi ee as of the date of this report.

As of the date of this report, the Compensa on Commi ee consists of Jean Neﬀ,
Diane J. Generous and Chaim Davis. Jean Neﬀ serves as the Chairman of the
Compensa on Commi ee.
Compensa on Commi ee Interlocks and Insider Par cipa on
None of the members of the Compensa on Commi ee during the year ended
December 31, 2018 served as an oﬃcer or employee of the Company or had any
rela onship requiring disclosure by the Company (except that Diane J. Generous is the
daughter of the former Chairman of our Board of Directors and President of the
Corpora on, Edmund Jaskiewicz).

Audit Commi ee Report

Compensa on Commi ee Report

The Audit Commi ee reviews the Company’s financial repor ng process on behalf of
the Company’s Board of Directors. Management has the primary responsibility for the
Company’s financial statements and the repor ng process. The Company’s
independent registered public accountants are responsible for expressing an opinion
on the conformity of the Company’s audited financial statements to generally
accepted accoun ng principles upon comple on of their audit.

The compensa on of the Company’s sole execu ve oﬃcer; its chief financial oﬃcer/
principal financial oﬃcer, is recommended for determina on to the Board of Directors
by the Compensa on Commi ee. In addi on to recommending the execu ve salaries
and bonus arrangements, the Compensa on Commi ee recommends policies and
guidelines for the determina on of other benefits by the Board of Directors.
General. Compensa on of the Company’s execu ve oﬃcers is intended to a ract,
retain and reward persons who are essen al to the corporate enterprise. The
fundamental policy of the Company's execu ve compensa on program is to oﬀer
compe ve compensa on to execu ve oﬃcers that appropriately rewards the
individual execu ve oﬃcer’s contribu on to corporate performance. Compensa on is
determined primarily by reference to compensa on packages for similarly situated
execu ve oﬃcers of companies of similar size or in comparable lines of business with
which the Company expects to compete for execu ve oﬃcer talent and with reference
to the revenues, gross profits and other financial criteria of the Company. In
establishing base salaries, the Commi ee also assesses subjec ve qualita ve factors to
discern a par cular execu ve oﬃcer’s rela ve value to the corporate enterprise. The
Compensa on Commi ee u lizes subjec ve criteria for evalua on of individual
performance and relies substan ally on the execu ve oﬃcers in doing so. The
Commi ee focuses on two primary components of the Company’s execu ve oﬃcer
compensa on program, each of which is intended to reflect individual and corporate
performance: base salary compensa on and bonus program based upon profitability
of the Company.

In this context, the Audit Commi ee reviewed and discussed with management and
the independent public accountants the Company’s audited financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2018 (the “Audited Financial Statements”). The Audit
Commi ee has discussed with the independent registered public accountants the
ma ers required to be discussed by statement of Audi ng Standards No. 61, as
amended (AICPA, Professional Standards, Vol.1. AU sec on 380), as adopted by the
Public Company Accoun ng Oversight Board in Rule 3200T. In addi on, the Audit
Commi ee has received the wri en disclosures and the le er from the independent
registered public accountants required by applicable requirements of the Public
Company Accoun ng Oversight Board regarding the independent registered public
accountant’s communica ons with the audit commi ee concerning independence,
and has discussed with the independent registered public accountant the independent
registered public accountant’s independence.
Based on reviews and discussions with the independent registered public accountants,
the Audit Commi ee recommended to the Board of Directors that the Audited
Financial Statements be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10‐K for
the year ended December 31, 2018, for filing with the SEC.

Cash Compensa on. Execu ve oﬃcers’ base salaries are determined primarily by
reference to compensa on packages for similarly situated execu ve oﬃcers of
companies of similar size or in comparable lines of business with which the Company
expects to compete for execu ve oﬃcer talent and with reference to the revenues,
gross profits and other financial criteria of the Company. In accordance with these
criteria, the salary of the Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer/Principal Financial Oﬃcer was
established in her employment agreement. The employment agreement of the Chief
Execu ve Oﬃcer/Principal Financial Oﬃcer was filed as an exhibit to the Current
Report on Form 8‐K filed with the SEC on June 24, 2014.

The Audit Commi ee members do not serve as professional accountants or auditors
and their func ons are not intended to duplicate or to cer fy the ac vi es of
management and the independent auditors. The Commi ee serves a board‐level
oversight role where it receives informa on from, consults with and provides its views
and direc ons to, management and the independent public accountants on the basis
of the informa on it receives and the experience of its members in business, financial
and accoun ng ma ers.
The Audit Commi ee

Bonus Programs. The Company does not currently have any bonus programs in place.
In the past, the Company has implemented bonus programs in which execu ve
oﬃcers, senior management and certain mid‐level managers were eligible to
par cipate. There have not been bonuses paid to anyone in the Company under any
bonus plans, including the named execu ve oﬃcer for more than 10 years. The
Company con nues to evaluate addi onal bonus programs to compensate its
execu ve oﬃcers, senior management and mid‐level managers. Any future bonus
programs are expected to be based upon the Company’s sales and profitability and/or
the market value of the Company’s securi es. The Company may also adopt other ad
hoc bonus programs as appropriate to provide incen ves for par cular oﬃcers or
management employees to meet specific goals.

Peter Jerome, Chairman
Jean Neﬀ
Diane J. Generous
Chaim Davis
Compensa on and Op on Commi ees
The Compensa on Commi ee makes recommenda ons to the Board of Directors
rela ng to salaries, bonuses and other compensa on and benefits of execu ve
oﬃcers, and reviews and advises management regarding benefits and other terms and
condi ons of compensa on of management. The Compensa on Commi ee is also
responsible for reviewing the outcome of the shareholder advisory vote on execu ve
compensa on. The Company’s Op on Commi ee is a sub‐commi ee of the
Compensa on Commi ee and administers the Company's stock op on plans. The
Compensa on Commi ee does not have a charter. The Compensa on Commi ee
formally met one (1) me in the year ended December 31, 2018. All members
a ended the formal mee ng.

Stock Op ons. The Company does u lize stock op ons as a form of long‐term
incen ve compensa on. The Company has no plans to widely issue stock op ons but,
will reserve the issuance of stock op ons for special circumstances.
In reviewing and approving the Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer’s compensa on for the year
ended December 31, 2018, the Board did not retain a compensa on consultant. The
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Board of Directors considered the same criteria detailed herein with respect to
execu ve oﬃcers in general and determined Melissa A. Waterhouse’s compensa on.
The Compensa on Commi ee
Jean Neﬀ, Chair
Diane J. Generous
Chaim Davis
Communica ons with Directors and Commi ees
Shareholders may communicate with members of the Company’s Board of Directors
and its Commi ees by wri ng to American Bio Medica Corpora on, 122 Smith Road,
Kinderhook, New York 12106, A n: Corporate Secretary. The Corporate Secretary will
disseminate the communica on(s) to the appropriate individual(s).
Sec on 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Repor ng Compliance
Sec on 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the Company’s execu ve oﬃcers and
directors, and persons who own more than ten percent (10%) of a registered class of
the Company’s equity securi es (a lis ng of which can be found in the table above), to
file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the SEC. Execu ve oﬃcers,
directors and greater than ten percent (10%) shareholders are required by SEC
regula ons to furnish the Company with copies of all Sec on 16(a) forms they file.
Based solely on a review of the copies of such forms furnished to the Company as of
the date of this report, all execu ve oﬃcers and directors complied with all Sec on 16
(a) requirements during the year ended December 31, 2018. We are unable to confirm
that all ten percent (10%) beneficial holders complied with all Sec on 16(a)
requirements during the year ended December 31, 2018.
Other Ma ers
The Board of Directors is not aware of any ma er to be presented for ac on at the
Annual Mee ng other than the ma ers set forth herein. Should any other ma er
requiring a vote of shareholders arise, the proxies confer upon the person or persons
en tled to vote the shares represented by such proxies the authority to vote the
proxies in their discre on.

(LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY)

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Melissa A. Waterhouse
Chief Execu ve Oﬃcer
Principal Financial Oﬃcer
April 26, 2019
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